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To our stockholders:

Our progress during the
year included several
actions to help restore our
North American operations
to long-term profitability.
i

THROUGH OUR COMPANY-WIDE COST-CUTTING EFFORTS, INTRODUCTION OF INNOVATIVE TECHNOLOGY AND CONTINUED

GLOBAL EXPANSION, A. SCHULMAN iN FISCAL 2007 STRENGTHENED ITS POSITION TO SERVE A WIDE RANGE OF GROWING MARKETS.,

HIGHLIGHTS OF OUR PROGRESS DURING THE YEARINCLUDED SEVERAL ACTIONS TQ HELP RESTORE OUR NORTH AMERICAN OPERATIONS

TO LONG-TERM PROFITABILITY. WE REDUCED HEADCOUNT ACROSS OUR OPERATIONS, REDUCED HEALTH CARE COSTS AND QOTHER

EXPENSES, IMPROVED PURCHASING PROCESSES AND LOGISTICAL EFFICIENCIES, AND REORGANIZED OUR NORTH AMERICAN

OPERATIONS INTO THREE MAJOR BUSINESS UNITS THAT ARE BETTER ALIGNED WITH MARKET DEMANDS.

In addition, we confinued the roll-out of Invision®, a multi-
layered, extruded sheet alternative 10 o variety of plostic and film
materials thaot are painted. We began commercial manufaciuring
of this new product line at our Sharon Center, Ohio, facility and
started shipping product to customers in May 2007 for bumper
and grille components. We expect to begin production of Invision®
at our new Findlay, Ohio, plant during the 2008 calendar year to meet

the anticipated demand for this innovative product.

Interest in Invision® continues to grow from customers in the
automotive, recreational vehicle, lawn and garden equipment, and
appliance markets. Some of the applications being considered include
truck bumpers, truck and tractor fenders, rooffop carrier covers
and pentoon boat sidewalls. Results of our own festing, as well as
independent tests conducted by potential customers, show that
Invision® has clear advantages over painted plastic materials. These
advantages include greater cost efficiency, a simplified manufacturing
process, improved durability oand safety, and a less harmful impact
on the environment. The global oppertunities for this new product

are tfremendous.

Qur global expansion continued with the June 2007 acqui-
sifion of the Delta Plast Group, a European color masterbaich manu-

facturer with operations in Sweden and Belgium. This acquisition

was not a large investment for the Company, but it substantially
increased our offerings to include color concentrates for injection
molding and blow molding, two areas of the European market in
which we did not parlicipate previously. Delta Ptast enhances our
ability to provide customers throughout Europe a unigue mixture of both

large-volume and highly specialized small-volume masterbatches.

QUARTERLY RESULTS SHOW SEQUENTIAL IMPROVEMENT Although
ihe early months of fiscal 2007 were challenging, we were pleased by
our performance in the fourth quarter as our gross profit was up 7.4%
from the prior-year quarter. Margins improved sequentially throughout
the year for our North American operations, largely as a result of the
$8 million in savings we achieved from our restructuring program. Our
European operations, which include Asia, also ended the year on a
posifive note with stronger fourth-quarter sales and gross profit than

in recent years,

The fiscal year started very slowly because of weaknesses
in the automotive and construction markets. Lower margins in North
America, combined with a trend toward lower-margin products in

Europe, led to a decline in our grass profit for the year.
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LETTER TO STOCKHOLDERS continued
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While net sales for fiscal 2007 increased to $1.8 billion from
$1.6 billion for the prior year, net income declined to $22.6 million or
$0.82 per diluted share, compared with $32.7 million or $1.07 per diluted
share for fiscal 2006. The impact of unusual items resulted in a net
reduction of $1.1 million in fiscal 2007 net income, compared with
a net reduction of approximately $7.3 million in fiscal 2006. Charges
included accelerated depreciation of $1.1 million and restructuring
expense of $1.0 million related to our North American initiatives in
fiscal 2007, which were partially offset by other items. In addition, the
franslation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the euro, increased

net income by $3.8 miltion for the year.

Our strong cash-flow management resulted in an improve-
ment of cash flow from operations to $64.8 million in fiscal 2007
cornpared with $19.0 million for the prior year. This increase was primarily
due to our efforts that dramatically reduced inventory levels by 26% in
North America and 6.5% in Europe compared with the previous year.

Sales in our European operations were $1.3 billion, an
increose of $187 miliion or 16.7% from fiscal 2006. Gross profit was

$171.1 million, up from $163.8 million for the previous year.

2

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

In North America, sales were $477.1 million, down 3.4% from
fiscal 2006, Gross profit declined 1o $41.8 million compared with $56.1
million a year ago, due to the change in price and product mix reflecting

the market weakness that occurred primarily in the first half of the year.

. ' i In June
2007, we announced the recrganization of our North Americon
operations into three major business units; Engineered Compounds,
comprising our Flexible Compounds, Engineered Resins and Tolling
operafions; Polybaich, consisting of our Color Concentroles, Poly-
batch film and Mexico unils; and Resin Distribution, which includes

our Merchant, Rotomolding and Distribution operations.

Our prior cost-reduction initiatives laid the groundwork for
these new strategic business units, which are specifically targeted to
serve growing marke! segmenis where we are strongly positioned.
The new streamlined structure will enable our teams to focus on
applications that will benefit most from our value-odded services.
The business units are also more closely aligned with our European
organization, which will improve our ability to serve global customers

and leverage our fechnology on a worldwide basis.




We expect the reorganization to eliminate traditional silos. Al
disciplines that support o unique business unit - including marketing,
sales, supply chain, research and development (R&D) and finance —
will be located together. With cur new “Focused Speed” approach, our
goal is to deliver the right products to customers more quickly while
requiring less invenfory, which will better leverage our Company's
capacity and flexibility. The new alignment of our marketing, sales
and R&D teams will enable them to improve communications with
each other and with customers, to better anticipate the changing

needs of the marketplace and develop products more quickly.

GONTINUEDIPR O GRESSYEXREGTEDNINEEIS GAIST 00 SRT LT LR
result of our global operating and cost improvemenis, we expect net
income to exceed $36 million in fiscal 2008, a significant improvement
from fiscal 2007, Additionol benefits from our North American cost savings
programs should bring our total annual savings from these initiatives to
approximately $18 million beginning in fiscal 2008, almost half of which
was already realized during the second half of fiscal 2007, We also
anticipate improved conditions in our European and North American
markets, along with increasing contributions from new customer orders

for Invision®.

As partof our strategic focus to concentrate on growing, higher
value-added markets and maove our production closer to our customers,
our Board in October 2007 approved a $24 million investment in @ new
high-tech manufacturing facility for our Polybatch business unit that will
be adjacent to our new Invision® plant in Findlay, Ohio. This site will support
sales in the Company’s additive masterbatch product lines for customers
in the food and industrial packaging markets. The new plantis expectedto
reduce costs and is focated within 500 miles of most of our North American
film and packaging customers. Construction is scheduled to begin in

fiscal 2008 and is expected to take approximately one year fo complete.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For all of these reasons, | am convinced that A, Schulman
is positioned to continue to achieve great things. As previously
announced, | wilt retire from the Company by March 1, 2008, We are in
discussions with a highly qualified candidate who | am confident is the
right person to lead the Company to new levels of success.

The Company also has reached an agreement with o group
of investors ied by Barington Capital Group regarding the composition
of the Board; the formation of a special committee to consider strategic
alernatives including a strategic acquisition, merger or sale of the
Company; and Barington's ogreement to abide by cerlain standstill

provisions until the Annual Meeting for fiscal 2008.

In addition, the Board has increased to 5 million the number of
shares authorized to be repurchased under the Company’s current share
repurchase progrom. The Company intends to repurchase at least 2
million shares under this program during the fiscal year ending August 31,

2008, subject to market conditions and compliance with applicable laws.

During my 42-year career at A, Schulman, | have been honored
to work with many outstending people who have contributed to the
progress this Company has made. It has been a privilege to be part
of our worldwide team of talented employees, and to serve with the
outstanding and commitled directors an the Board. | sincerely thank
all of our employees, directors and stockholders for their continued
support of A, Schutman. We have established a solid foundation for the

future, end | am proud of all that we have accomplished.

Sincerely,

Terry L. Haines
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Novemnber 27, 2007

{in thousands except per share data and number of stockholders of record) NeodthdediAUgUSTIGTS
2007 2006} 12005]

]
Net soles ’ $ 1,787,056 $ 1,616,386 $ 1,433,196
Net income $ 22,619 ! 3 32,662 $ 32,093
Diluted earnings per share of common stock ' $ 0.82 ! $ 1.07 $ 1.03
Capital expenditures % 29,379 ! $ 29,239 $ 26,944
Long-term debt and othqr long-term liabilities ! $ 214,396 1 3 203,212 $ 136,871
Stockholders’ equity ; $ 42703 ‘f 3 403,492 $ 462,103
Book value per common share b 1539 $ U7 $ 1501
Number of stockholders of record i 566 554 606

!
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It takes a solid foundation to achieve great results. in a multi-year process,
culminating with the restructuring and reorganization of its businesses in fiscal 2007,
A. Schulman has rebuilt its North American operations to provide high-value solutions
more efficiently. These efforts, combined with its leading expertise in technology and product
development, as exemplified by the recent introduction of the innovative Invision® product

line, have positioned the Company for a return to long-term profitability in North America.




Progress

by design

IMPROVING PROFITABILITY THROUGH RESTRUCTURING
B Multi-phase restructuring plan announced in fiscal 2007 has improved operations in North

America, and is expected fo result in $18 million of annual savings beginning in fiscal 2008.

8 Pphase 1 of the plan reduced workforce at the Orange, Texas and Bellevue, Ohio plants.
Savings: $4 million annuaily.

Bl Phase 2 eliminated postlions, reduced health care costs, reduced selling and adminisirative
expenses, and improved purchasing processes and logistical efficiencies. Savings: $8 million in

fiscal 2007; $14 million annually thereafter,

REALIGNING BUSINESSES TO GENERATE GREATER VALUE

Bl The Company has reorganized s North American operations into three streamlined

business units: Engineered Compounds, Polybatch, and Resin Distribution.

Bl This new business structure will help strengthen A. Schulman’s position in growing market

segments and more closely align its North American and European operations,

B Objectives: Imprave speed of product and application development; shifi capacity closer to
customers; leverage global technicat capabilities in high-value applications; capiialize on global

producers’ shift to distribution; increase the Company’s purchasing power.

INTRODUCING INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS AND NEW TECHNOLOGY N q

[nvision' provides

[81 A Schulman is making steady progress with Invision®, an innovafive extruded sheet P e
product that simplifies manufacturing and provides a higher-performance and more s‘]q’[e_of_]‘he_gr[ color

environmentally friendly alternative to existing plastic and film materials that are painted. ] .
matching, improved

8] The new product line has significant long-term growth potential with applications in
the automotive, recreational vehicle, lown and garden equipment, and appliance markets. | cost eﬁiciency and

[Bl sShipping of Invision® product to cusiomers began in May 2007 with the start-up of production environmental
at the Sharon Center, Ohio facility, Construction is under way ot the new Findlay, Ohio facility, :
which will be dedicated solely to producing Invision®, with start-up expected to take place during odvam‘cges

the 2008 calendar year, C———o@
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Progress

through action

EXPANDING TO SERVE GROWING GLOBAL MARKETS

@ since 2000. A. Schulman has added approximately 176 million pounds of capacity in targeted growth

markets such as China, Germany, Indonesia, Italy, Mexico and Poland.

8 InJune 2007, the Company acquired the Delta Plast Group, a European color masterbatch manufacturer,

fo complement existing offerings and gain better access to growing markets in Europe.

@) Tonnage for A. Schulman's European operations has increased by 34% aver the past five years, due to
solid demand for the Company’s products, and despite recent cyclical volatility in markets and raw p

material costs. /

ACHIEVING GLOBAL SYNERGIES

[ A schulman has developed a culture focused on driving fop-line growth as well as controlling costs and

achieving savings by instituting best practices company-wide.

B Globelly dligned operations are positioned to take advantage of selling, manufacturing, and research and

development synergies, and to meet the requirements of key customers in all parts of the world.

SUPPLYING HIGH-VALUE EXPERTISE WORLDWIDE

[ with o successful track record as a global manufacturer for mare than 50 years, A. Schulman offers superior
expertise in color matching, plastics processing and product testing o cover a broad range of global markets and

manutacturing processes.

[# The Company’s worldwide manufacturing and distribution nefwork enables if to be a single-source provider serving

large global customers, as well as smaller regional customers wherever they do business.

B In virually every corner of the world, A. Schulman technology is used in critical applications for industrial and
automotive equipment, construction and home improvement products, film and packaging materials, medical

supplies, telecommunications products, lawn and garden equipment, toys, appliances and more. ———2OC

A. Schulman coordinates its product
development activities at facilities

located throughout the world

& << A.SCHULMAN, INC, 2007 ANNUAL REPORT
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Sometimes, only one path will take you where you need to go. More than 50
years ago, A. Schulman recognized that it needed global operations to realize
the vast opportunities available in the worldwide demand for its products.

Since that time, the Company has followed a strategic course enabling it _
to develop and deliver high-quality products that meet the needs ofa . ’
variety of global markets. it continues fo grow and refine its global

organization to best serve its customers throughout the world.
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Scaling new heights requires strength, vision and
commitment. As a result of the tireless efforts of its
people, A. Schulman is developing and marketing
innovative products, expanding gecgraphically,

reaping synergies from global operations, main-
taining tight control on costs, providing greater
value to customers and improving the long-term
prospects of the Company. Reaching this point
has not been easy, and more work still needs to
be done, but the Company remains dedicated

_ CC m mﬁrm e nﬂ, to achieving favorable long-term resuits for -

customers and stockholders.

VISION xS

4
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Progress

for the future

GAINING LONG-TERM BENEFITS

[ Continuing achievements in restructuring, product development
and global expansion have placed A. Schulman in o stronger
position 1o serve its farget markets, with increased annual savings

expected in fiscal 2008 and beyond.

8 Sirategic inifiofives have made the Company more efficient, more agile,

mare competifive and more responsive to glebal customer needs.

[ The new, globally aligned business structure will improve A. Schulman's ability
to direct its investments toward markets that offer the greatest long-term potential

growth and returns for the Company.

Management will continye taking aggressive

steps to maximize stockholder value

REALIZING THE POTENTIAL OF PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

B with o goal of enhancing customers’ profitability by introducing new technology,
applications and processes, A. Schulman's product development strategy is targeted toward

higher-margin globa! businesses with significant growth potential,

B Research activities are conducted at the Company’s technical centers and laborataries in North

America and Europe to develop new lechnologies and applications to address custorner needs,

[ invision®is a prime example of A. Schulman’s capabilities for innovation, and represents an outstanding
opportunity to develop a high-margin business with excellent global growth potential, based on unigue

technology developed through years of research.

CREATING SUSTAINABLE PROFITABILITY AND STOCKHOLDER VALUE

B A Schulmen, its management and its Board of Directors are dedicated to continuous impravement inthe challenging

and competitive business climate in which it operates.

[© The Company believes its strategic initiatives - which include improving efficiency, introducing new products and
technology, and expanding globally — will help maximize stockholder value. In addifion, the Board has formed o special

committee to consider all sirategic alternatives available to the Company. ——— D
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our Locations

FOREIGNIOEEICES!

Bormem, Belgium

A. Schulman Plastics BVBA
Pedro Colomalaan 25
Industriepark

2880 Bomem
32-3-890-4211

Progue, Czech Republic

A, Schulman Polska 5p. z.0.0.
organizacni slozka
Hybemska 1271/32

110 00, Praha T - Nove Mesto
Czech Republik
42-073-955-9357

Horsholm, Denmark

A. Schulman Plastics BVBA
Slotsmarken 181

DK-2970 Horsholm
45-45-17-4180

Givet, Fronte :
A. Schulman Holdings (Fronce} 5.AS.
Rue Alex Schulmen

G-08600 Givet

33-3-24-427161

Paris, France

A, Schulman S.AS.
Immeuble Dynasteur
1012 Rue Andras Beck
92366 Meuvdon-la-Forét
33-1-4107-7500

Kerpen, Germany
A. Schulmon GmbH
HittenstraBe 2H
50170 Kerpen
49-2273-5610

Wilrselen, Germany

A. Schulman Eurepe GmbH
Monnelstrosse 7

52146 Wirselen
49-2405-45270

Budapest, Hungory

A, Schulman Hungary Kft.
Bartok Béle u1105-113
M5 Budopest
36-1-371-2408

Gorla Moggiore, ttoly

A. Schulman Plastics, 5.p.A.
Via Baragicks 6

21050 Gorla Maggiore VA)
39-03-31-60741

10 4%

Seoul, Korea

A Schulman

at Cenfer RM 1208

232 Yanglee-Dong, Seocho-Gu
Seoui 137-787, Korea
82-2-6300-2412

Luxembourg

A Schulman 5.4.r. et Cie S.C5.

5, Rue Guillaume Kroti :
L-1882 Luxembourg :

tuxembourg

A. Schulman S.a.1.l.

5, Rue Guillaume Kroll
L-1882 Luxembourg

Luxembourg

A Schulman Hokdings S.6.r.l.
5, Rue Guilloume Krolt
L-1882 Luxernbeurg

Warsaw, Polond !
A, Schulman Polska Sp. z.0.0.
ul. Pulawska 424 :
02-884 Warsow :
48-22-323-2000

Barcelona, Spain

A Schulman S

BCIN - Pol. Ind Les Guixetes s/n

08915 Barcelono/Badatona :
34-93-464-8043 X

Zurich, Switzerlond
A. Schufman AG
Kemsirale 10

8004 Zurich
41-1-241-6030

Istanbul, Turkey
A Schuiman Plostik Sanayi

ve Ticaret AS.
Bara Yolu Cad. Burak Sk
Yerd Comlica Mah, Yukari Dudulu
Darende IS Mrk no: 17 K:06 D:13
34779 Umraniye - istanbul
90-216-456-9050

Crumiin, South Wales [U.K.)

A. Schulman inc. Limited
Croespenmaen Industrial Estate
Crumlin, Newport

Gwent NP1 4AG
44-1495-244090

Mississauga, Ontario, Cenada
L5R 3G3

A, Schukmen Conada Lid.

5770 Hurontario Street, Suite 602
{905] 568-8470

Mexico City, Mexico

A, Schulman de Mexico,

SA deCV

Manuel E. lzaguirre 13

Despacho 304 ~ Ciudad Satélite
Naucalpan, Edo. de Mexico 53100
52-555-393-7246

Monterrey, Mexico

A. Schulman de Mexico,

S.A. de CV.

Avenida Lazoro Cardenas 2400 PTE
Condominio los Soles

Office P8 -17

Colenia Reas 5an Agustin

San Pedro Garza Gareig,

N.L Mexico 66220
52-818-363-5072

San Luis Potosi, Mexico

A. Schuiman de Mexico,
SA deCV

Avenida CFE, 730

Enfre Eje 134 y Eje 136

Zona Industrial del Potosi
San Luis Potosi, 5.L.P. 78090
52-444-824-0708

PLANTS)

Bornem, Belgium

A. Schulman Plostics BYBA
Pedro Colomalaon 25
Industriepark

2880 Bornem
32-3-890-4211

Opglabbeek, Belgium
Delta Piast N.V.
Nijverheidslaan 1520
BE-34660 Opglabbeek
32.8-986-9490

Guongdong Province, Chino

A. Schulman Plostics

{Dongguan) Lid.

Qiaoxin Industrial Park

Qiaotou Township/Dongguan City
B6-769-342-2777

Givet, France

A, Schulman Plastics 5.A.5.
Rue Alex Schulman

08600 Givet
33-3.24-427161

Kerpen, Germony
A, Schulman GmbH
Hottenstralle 211
50170 Kerpen
49-2273-5610

East Javo, indonesia

PT A. Schulman Plastics

Desa Ngerong K 39, Gempol
67155 Pasuruan
62-343-854240

Gorla Maggiore, Italy

A. Schulman Plastics S.p.A.
Via Baragicla 6

21050 Gorla Maggiore {VA}
39-03-31-60741

Nowa Biala, Poland

A. Schuiman Polska 5p.2.0.0.
Nowa Biala 37

09-411 Bigto-Plock
48-24-364-0012

Astrop, Sweden
Detto Plast AB
Box 31

SE-265 21 Astrop
46-42-37-7500

Crumdin, South Wales (UK.

A. Schulmaon inc. Limited
Croespenmaen Industrial Estate
Crumlin, Newport

Gwent NP1 4AG
44-1495-244090

Bellevue, Ohio 4481
350 North Buckeye 5Street
(419} 483-2931

Nashvilla, Tennessee 37211-3333
481 Allied Drive
(615) 333-3453

Orange, Texas 77632
6522 Interstate Highway 10 West
{409) 883-4331

Sharon Centar, Ohio 44274
A. Schulman Invision Inc.
1475 Woll Creek Trail

{330} 239-0101

5t. Themas, Ontario, Conada
N5P 375

A. Schulman Canada Ud.
400 $. Edgeware Road

(519} 633-345]

San Luis Potosi, Mexico

A Schulman de Mexico,
SA deCV

Avenido CFE, 730

Enfre Eje 134 y Eje 136

Zona Industriat del Potosi
San Luis Polesi, S.LP. 78090
52-444-824-0708
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PART 1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

A. Schulman, Inc. ithe “Company*] was organized as an Ohio corporation in 1928 and changed its state of incorporation
to Delaware in 1969,

The Company is engaged in the sale of plastic resins in various forms, which are used as raw malerials by ils customers. To
identify reportable segments, the Company considered its operating structure and the fypes of information subject to regular
review by its President and Chief Executive Officer, who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker. On this basis, the Company
operates primarily in two geographic segments, North America and Europe, including Asia ("Europe”).

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Company combines bosic resins purchased from plastic resin producers and, through mixing and extrusion
processes, infroduces additives that provide color, stabilizers, flame retardants or other enhancements that may be required
by a customer. These compounds are formulated in the Company’s laborateries and technical centers and are manufadured in
the Company's 17 plastics compounding plants in its North American and European segments. Customers for the Company’s
plastic compounds include manufacturers, custom molders, processors and extruders of a wide variety of plastic products and
parts. The Company generally produces compounds on the basis of customer commitments and expectations.

The Company’s products are sold to manufacturers and suppliers in various markels such as packaging, automotive,
consumer producis, electrical/electronics, office equipment and agriculture. The compounds produced by the Company in
these various markets are used in o variety of consumer and commercial products.

The Company also functions as a merchant, buying prime and off-grade plastic resins and reselling these commodities,
without further processing, to a variety of users. The plastic resins generally are purchased from major producers. In addition to
prime resins, the Company purchases supplies of off-grade plastic resins resulling from overruns, changes in customers’
specifications and faifure to meet rigid prime specifications. Historically, these materigls have been in continuous supply,
generally in proportion 1o the total industry production of plastic resins. The Company atso acts as a distributor for several major
resin producers.

in fiscal 2006, the Company introduced its new Invision® sheet product and formed A. Schulmen Invision, Inc., a wholly
owned subsidiary. Invision® is a revolutionary product based on cutiing-edge technology that is expected to provide high
growth cpportunities in many markets around the world. Invision®is a multi-layered, extruded sheet product that reduces costs
and simplifies the manufaduring process for the Company’s customers, while providing a higher-performing and more
environmentally friendly alternative to existing plastic and film materials that are painted or colored. The Company expects
Invision® fo appeal to customers in a variety of markets, both automotive and non-automotive. The Company is focusing on
automolive applications fo capitalize on the Company’s market presence and recognized capabilities. The initial production line
was completed in fiscal 2007 af the Company's Sharon Center facility and began shipping some of is first full orders in the last
quarter of the fiscal year. In addition, the Company has purchased land and is constructing o dedicated Invision® plant site in
Findlay, Ohio. While Invision® did not produce operating income in fiscal 2007, the Company believes this is a very large market
that could have significant sales and earnings in the years ahead.

During fiscal 2007, the Company announced multiple phases of a restructuring plan to restore its North American segment
to profitability. The initiatives targeted reducing expenses and improving efficiencies at all locafions in the North American
segment. The Company has already started to realize some of the cost savings as a result of the initiglives put in place,
although weakness in the marketploce has masked some of those savings.

During the tourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the Company acquired the Delta Plast Group, a European color masterbatch
manufacturer with operations in Sweden and Belgium. The Company organized the two operational locations as two separate
wholly owned subsidiaries of A. Schulman Plastics, BVBA in its European segment, Deltaplast NV for the Belgium company and
Deltaplast AB for the Sweden operations. The results of operations and financial position for the acquired companies are
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The acquisition is expecied to expand the Company's
offerings of color masterbatches in the European segment. The earnings from the acquisition had a minimal effect on
consolidated eamings for fiscal 2007.




The Company’s manufacturing in each of its geographic business segments can be classified inte five major product
families: color and additive concentrates; engineered compounds; polyolefins; polyvinyl chloride (PVC); and tolling.

Color and Additive Concentrates

The Company’s color and additive concentrates business consists of the compounding of resins that provide plastic with
specific color and/or physical properties, such as conductivity, flexibility, viscosity and textures. A color concentrate is a clear or
notural plastic resin into which a substantial amount of color pigment is incorporated or dispersed. The Company manutaciures
its concentrates using its formulae and purchased natural resins, These concentrates are sold to manufacturers of plastic
products, such as film for pockaging, household goods, toys, autometive parts, mechanical goods and other plastic items.

The Company’s concentrates are sold under varicus trade names, including the following:

Polybatch®, which is an additive or color concentrate used for modifying various plastic resins and which provides
various physical properties required by customers;

Papermatch®, which is a plostic alternative to poper used for packaging, menus, maps and other products.
Papermatch® is printable and resistant o tearing, meisture and chemicals;

Aqua-Sol®, which is a polymer that is biodegradable and dissclves in waler, making it more environmentally friendly for
uses such as medical packaging, labels, barrier and embroidery films, and cther applications; and

Polyblak®, which is a line of black concentrates that are resistant o weather and suniight and are used in the production
of plostic pipe, black film and other black plastic items. This line of products is manufactured by third parties for the
Company.

Engineered Compounds

The Company's engineered compounds are products designed to hove and maintain characteristics such as chemical
resistance, electrical conductivity, heat resistance and/or high strength-to-weight ratios. The engineered compounds man-
ufactured by the Company include the following:

Polyflam®, which is a lame retardant compound vused in applications such as telephone systems, terminal blocks, parts
for color felevisions, electrical cornponents and housings for household appliances and outdoor products.

Schulamid®, which is a nylon compound that can be unfilled, reinforced or impact-modified. Schulamid® is used in
applications that require good impact strength and resistance to high temperatures and chericals. Typical applications
include under-the-hood automotive components and various building and consumer products.

Formion®, which is a specialized compound that has good impact strength, is resistant to abrasion ond has
performance characteristics that do not decrease in low temperatures. Formion® is sold principally to the transportation
industry for use in bumper blocks and protective rub strips.

Polypur®, which is a reinforced and alloyed thermoplastic polyurethane that has impact resistance and molding
properties for automotive applications such as exterior side moldings, grilles, body side moldings and other painted
parts.

Clarix®, which is a thermoplastic ionomer resin offering scratch resistance, barrier properties, chemical resisiance and
superior clarity. Clarix® is ideal for many diverse applications including packaging, automotive paintless parts, textile
and metal coatings, footwear components, sporting goods and polymer modifiers.

Polyolefins

The Companys polyolefin business consists of numerous polypropylene and polyethylene resins and compounds.
Polyolefins are used for interior trim, fascias and bumper covers in automotive applications; for toys, small appliances, sporting
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goods, and agricultural and watercraft products in roto-molding applications; and for office supplies in industrial/commercial
applications, The polyolefin products manufactured by the Company include the following:

= Polytrope®, which is a thermoplastic elastomer that has high resiliency and good impact resistance. Presently, the
principal market for this product is the domestic automotive industry and typical applications include valance panels,
body side moldings, grilles and bumper rub strips. Parts molded from Polytrope® weigh less than equivalent metal
parts, are impad-resistant and may be painted to match adjoining exterior body parts.

» Polyfort®, which is a reinforced polypropylene compound for applications that require stiffness and resistance to heat
distortion, such as coffee maokers, interior trim and under-the-hood products for automobiles.

» Schulink®, which is a crosslink polyethylene-based compound, is used in rotational molding applications requiring high
strength ond chemical resistance, such as industrial doors and commercial waste containers.

¢ Invision®, which is a thermoplastic elostomer, is a PVC dllernative that can be injection molded, blow molded or
extruded. It is a polyolefin compound with properties similar to PVC. It can be used in automotive inleriors, trim for
furniture, appliances and industrial components. ‘

= Polyaxis®, which is a polyethylene resin compound used for rotationally molded applicafions such as canoes, kayaks
and agricultural tanks.

Polyvinyl Chioride

The Company's PVC business, under the name Polyvin®, involves the formulation of compounds and elastomers to
introduce a variety of product attributes, including weatherability, consistency, ease of processing, material flexibility, and high-
gloss or low-gloss finish. The Company’s thermoplastic PVC compounds are available in blow molding, injeciion molding and
extrusion grades for application in the manufacture of automolive, fumiture, architectural and consumer produdts. The
Company’s Sunprene® compound serves as a replacement for rubber and other thermoplastic elastomers in automotive
applications. The Company's PVC business is mainly supporied by The Sunprene Company, in which the Company owns a 70%
partnership interest. The partnership is discussed befow in Joint Ventures.

Tolling

The Company provides tolling services as a fee for processing of material provided and owned by customers. On some
occasions, the Company is required to provide certain amounts of its materials, such as cdditives or packaging. These
materials are charged to the customer as an addition to the tolling fees. The Company recognizes revenues from tolling
services and related materials when such services are performed. The only amounts recorded as revenue related to tolling are
the processing fees and the charges related to materials provided by the Company.

The approximate amount and percentage of net consolidated sales for each of the Company’s preduct families for the
three fiscal years ended August 31, 2007 are as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Product Family Amount X Amount % Amount %
- T {inthousands, except for X's) o
Color and additive concentrates. . ... ... ... .. ... ... $ 627,268 35 % 579.825 36 $ 501,159 a5
Polyolefins . . ... ... ... ... . ... 543,870 30 495,163 K 424,066 30
Engineered compounds . . . ... ... ... . ... ... ... ... .. 426,382 24 393,312 24 377,008 26
Polyvinyl chloride (PVCh. . . . .. . ... .. ... .. ... ... 64,658 4 64,174 4 54,952
Toling . . e 21,450 1 16,482 1 16,117 1
Oher .ottt 1034286 6 67430 4 59894 4
100 $1,616386 100 $1,433,196 m

$1,787.056

Information regarding the amount of sales, operating income and identifiable assets attributable to each of the Compeny's
geographic business segments for the last three years is sel forth in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company appearing in ITEM 8 of this Report.



The Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows;

A. Schulman Plastics, BVBA, a subsidiary located in Bornem, Belgium, manufactures color and additive concentrates
and compounds. These preducts principally are sold in Germany, France, the Benelux countries, Italy and Asia.

A. Schulman International Services N.V.,, another subsidiary located in Bornem, Belgium, provides financing and
administrative services to the Company's European operations.

A. Schulman, Inc., Limited, a subsidiary located in Crumlin, South Wales (U.K), primarily manufactures color and
additive plastic concentrates, which are sold in the United Kingdom and to various A. Schulman European locations.

A. Schulman GmbH, o subsidiary located in Kerpen, Germany, manufactures engineered and flame-retardant
plastic compounds. In addition, this subsidiary purchases and sells prime and off-grade plastic resins from major
European producers. This subsidiary also distributes plastic resins and compounds for companies, including several large
resin producers.

A. Schulman Canada Lid., o subsidiary located in St. Thomas, Ontario, Canada, manufaciures engineered and
various other plastic compounds. This subsidiary also acts as a distributor for major resin producers for injection molding.
This subsidiory’s products are used primarily for automotive applications.

A. Schulman AG, a subsidiary located in Zurich, Switzerland, sells plastic compounds and concentrates manufac-
tured by other European subsidiaries of the Company and alse acts as a merchant of plastic resins.

A. Schulman, S.A.S., a French subsidiary, has sales offices in Paris, France and is a distibutor in France for Total
Petrochemicals and other large suppliers. A. Schulman, S.AS. also acts as a merchant of plastic resins and sells
compounds manufactured by the Company’s subsidiaries in Belgium, Germany and France.

A. Schulman Plastics, S.A.S., another French subsidiary, is located in Givet, France. This subsidiary produces plastic
concentrates for the Company's European markel.

A. Schulman de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., a subsidiary located in San Luis Polosi, Mexico, manufactures concentrates for
the packaging industry and compounds for the automotive, construction, appliance and consumer products markets. This
subsidiary has sales offices in Monlerrey and Mexico City, Mexico.

A. Schulman Polska Sp. z 0.0., is @ subsidiary located in Poland with offices in Warsaw, Poland and Progue, Czech
Republic. In addition, this subsidiary has a plant in Nowa Biala, Poland. The subsidiary primarily sells producis
manufactured by other subsidiaries of the Company and acts as a distributor and merchant of plastic resins and
compounds in Poland.

A. Schulman Plastics SpA is a subsidiary located in Gorla Maggiore, Italy. This subsidiary manufactures and sells
engineered compounds and concentrales to the italian market. It sells products manufactured by A. Schulman Plastics,
BVBA, A. Schulman Plastics, S.A.S., A. Schulman GmbH and A. Schulman, Inc., Limited and acts as a merchant of plastic
resins in Italy.

A. Schulman Plastics S.L., a subsidiary located in Barcelona, Spain, is primarily a distributor of plastic resins to the
Spanish market. This subsidiary aiso engages in merchant activities in Spain and sells cerfain products manufaciured by A.
Schulman GmbH, and A. Schulman Plastics, BVBA.

A. Schulman Hungary Kit., a subsidiary located in Budapest, Hungary, sells engineered compounds manufaciured
by A. Schulman GmbH and concentrates manufactured by A. Schulman Plastics, BVBA, A. Schulman Plastics, S.AS., and A,
Schulman, Inc., Limited. i also acts as @ merchant of plastic resins in Hungary.

A. Schulman Plastics (Dongguani Lid., a subsidiary located in Guangdong Province, China, manufactures concen-
trates for sale in the local Chinese markets. This subsidiary produces material for customers in the packaging markets and
for the Company's engineered compounds product family.

A. Schulman Europe GmbH, a subsidiary with offices in Wurselen, Germany provides support in the areas of sales,
procurement, logistics and financing for the European operations.

&. Schulman S.4r.l. et Cie SCS, A. Schulman S.arl. and A. Schulman Holdings S.4r.l. are Luxembourg subsidiaries that
provide financing and other corporate services for the European group.
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A. Schulman invision, Inc. is a subsidiary located in Sharon Cenfer, Ohio. The subsidiary manufactures Invision®, a
mulfi-layered, extruded sheet product for sale in both the automotive and non-automotive markets.

Deliaplost AB, a subsidiary located in Astrop, Sweden, was acquired in fiscal 2007. This subsidiary produces
specialized color masterbatches. Deltaplast NV, a subsidiary located in Opglabbeek, Belgium, was also acquired in fiscal
2007 ond also produces color masterbatches.

A. Schulman Plastik Sanayi Ve Ticaret, a subsidiary located in Istanbul, Turkey, was established in fiscal 2007. This
subsidiary is primarily a distributor of plastic resins in the Turkish market.

JOINT VENTURES

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary ASl investments Holding Co., owns a 70% partnership inferest in The
Sunprene Company, which manufactures a line of PVC thermoplastic elastomers and compounds primarily for the North
American automotive market. The other partner is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Co., one of
the largest chemical companies in Japan, This partnership has two manufacturing lines at the Company's Bellevue, Ohio
facility. The Company's partner provides technical and manufacturing expertise.

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary A. Schulman International, Inc., owns a 65% interest in PT. A. Schulman
Plastics, Indonesia, an Indonesian joint venture. This joint venture has a manufacturing facility with two produdion lines in
Surabaya, Indonesia. PT. Prima Polycon indah owns the remaining 35% interest in this joint venture.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As of August 31, 2007, the Company had 980 employees in its North American segment and 1,491 employees in its
European segmenl. Approximately 80% of the Company’s hourly production employees are represented by various unions
under collective bargaining agreements. None of these agreements which are expiring next yeor represent a significant portion
of these employees.

The Company has icboratory facilities at a majority of its plants staffed by 292 technical personnel. The Company’s plastic
compounding business is, to a degree, dependent on its ability to hire and retain qualified technical personnel. These
personnel are involved in activities relating to the testing and sampling of material for conformity with product specifications
and the development of new compounds. The Company has generally been successful in hiring or retaining such personnel.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

A large part of the Company's technical activities relate to the continuous refinement of compounds for specific
applications of custorners. Activities relating to the research and development of new products and the improvement of
existing products are important 1o the Company. These activities are conducted at the Company’s various technical centers and
laboratories. Research and development expenditures were approximately $7.8 million, $5.5 million and $4.8 million in fiscal
years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase in these adlivities is primarily reloted to the new Invision® sheet product
and to support new consumer packaging and automotive applications.

COMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations on and ownership of reat property are subject to extensive environmental, health and safety
lows and regulations at the national, state and local govemmental levels. The nature of the Company’s business exposes it to
risks of liability under these laws and regulations due to the production, storage, transportation, recycling or dispesal and/or
sale of materials that can cause contamination or personal injury if they are released into the environment or workplace.
Environmentat laws may have a significant effect on the costs of these adlivities involving raw materials, finished preducts and
wasles. The Company may incur substantial costs, including fines, damages, criminal or civil sanctions, remediation costs, or
experience interruptions in its operations for violations of these faws.

Also, national and state environmental statutes impose stridl, and under some circumstances, joint and several liability for
the cost of investigations and remediat actions on any company that generated the waste, arranged for disposal of the waste,
transported the waste to the disposal sile or selected the disposal site, as well as on the owners and operators of these siles.
Any or all of the responsible parties may be required to bear all of the costs of clean up, regardless of fault or fegality of the

7




waste disposal or ownership of the site, and may also be subject to liability for natural resource damages. It is possible that the
Company could be identified as a potentia!l responsible parly at various sites in the future, which could result in the Company
being assessed substantial investigation or clean-up cosls.

Manogement believes that compliance with national, state and local provisions regulating the discharge of materials inlo
the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, does not currently have a material effect upon the
capita! expenditures, financial pesition, earings or competitive position of the Company.

DEPENDENCE ON CUSTOMERS

During the year ended August 31, 2007, the Company's five largest customers accounted in the aggregate for less than
10% of total sales. In management's opinion, the Company is not dependent upon any single customer and the loss of any one
customer would not have a malerially adverse effect on the Company’s business,

AVAILABILITY OF RAW MATERIALS

The raw materials required by the Company are readily available from major plastic resin producers or other suppliers. The
principal types of plastic resins used in the manufacture of the Company’s proprietary plastic compounds are polypropylene,
PVC {polyvinyl chloride), polyethylene, polystyrene, nylon, ABS {acrylonitrile butadiene styrenel and polyurethane. For additional
information on the availability of raw materials, see ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS, Price increases in raw materials and energy cosls
could adversely affect operating results and financial condition, in this Report.

WORKING CAPITAL PRACTICES

The Company is generdlly not subject to unusual working capital practices. The nature of the Company’s business does
not require significant amounis of inventories to be held 1o meet rapid delivery requirements of its products or services or assure
the Company of a continuous allotment of goods from suppliers. The Company's manufacturing processes are generally
performed with a short turnaround time. The Company does not generally offer extended payment terms fo its customers. The
Company generally allows its customers to return merchandise for failure to meet pre-agreed quality standards or speci-
fications; however, the Company employs quality assurance practices that minimize customer returns,

COMPETITION

The Company’s business is highly competitive. The Company competes with producers of basic plasfic resins, many of
which also operate compounding plants, as well as other independent plastic compounders. The producers of basic plasfic
resins generally are large producers of petroleum and chemicals, which are much larger than the Company and have greater
financial resources, Some of these producers compete with the Company principally in such competitors’ own respective locol
market areas, while other producers compete with the Company on a global basis.

The Company also competes with other merchants and distributors of plastic resins and other products. No accurate
information is availabie to the Company as to the extent of its competitors” sales and earnings in respect of these activities, but
management believes that the Company has only a small fraction of the total market.

The principal methods of competifion in plastics manufacturing are innovation, price, availability of inventory, quality and
service, The principal methods of competition in respect of merchant and distribution aclivities are price, availability of inventory
and service. Management believes it has strong financial capabilities, excellent supplier relationships and the ability to provide
quality plastic compounds at compelitive prices.

TRADEMARKS AND TRADE NAMES

The Company uses various tradernarks and trade names in its business. These trademarks and frade names protect
names of cerain of the Company’s products and are significant to the extent they provide a certain amount of goodwill and
narme recognition in the industry. The Company also holds patents in various parts of the world for certain of its products. These
tradernarks, trade nomes and patents, including those which are pending, contribute to profitability, however the Company
does not consider its business to be dependent on such trademarks and trade names, except in the case of its new Invision®
preduct line.




AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Company’s annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K, tegether
with any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934, will be made avallable free of charge on the Company’s web site, www.aschulman.com, as soon as reasonably
practicable after they ore electronically filed with or furnished to the Securifies and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS

The following are certain risk factors that could affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition, These risk factors should be considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking statements conlained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K because these factors could cause our actual results or financial condition to differ materially
from those projected in forward-looking statements. Before you invest in us, you should know that making such an investment
involves some risks, including the risks we describe below. The risks that are discussed below are not the only ones we face. If
any of the following risks occur, our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition could be negatively
affected.

If we fail to develop and commercialize new products, our business
eperations wauvld be adversely affected.

A significant portion of our anticipated growth is dependent upon the successful development and commercialization of
new producdts, such as our Invision® product line. The development and commercialization of new products, including Invision®,
requires significant investments in research and development, production, and marketing costs. The successful production and
commercialization of these products is uncertain as is the acceptance of the new products in the marketplace. If we fail to
successfully develop and commercialize new producis, or if customers decline to purchase the new products, we will not be
able 1o recover our development invesiment and the growth prospecis for our products will be adversely affected.

If we are unable to retain key personnel or attract new skilled
personnel, it could have an adverse effect on our business.

The unanticipated departure of any key member of our management team could have an adverse effect on our business.
In addition, because of the specialized and technical nature of our business, our fulure performance is dependent on the
continued service of, and on our ability to attract and retain, qualified management, scientific, technical, marketing and support
personnel. Competition for such personnel is infense, and we may be unable to continue to attract or retain such personnel.

Our sales, profitability, operating resuvlts and cash flows are sensitive to
global economic conditions and cyclicality, and could be adversely
affected during economic downturns.

General economic conditions and business conditions of our customers’ industries affect demand for our products. The
business of most of our customers, particularly our industrial, automotive, construction and electronics customers, can be
cyclical in nature and sensitive fo changes in general economic conditions. Poliical instability may lead to financial and
economic instability, which could lead to deterioration in general global economic condifions. Downtumns in the businesses that
use our products will adversely affect our sales. Historically, downturns in general economic conditions have resulted in
diminished product demand, excess manufacturing capacity and lower average selling prices, and we may experience similar
problems in the future. In addition, downturns in our customers’ industries, even during periods of strong general economic
conditions, could adversely affed our sales, profitability, operating results and cash flows.

Price increases in raw materials and energy costs couvld adversely affect
operating results and financial condition.

We purchase various plastic resins to produce our proprietary plastic compounds. These resins, derived from petroleum or
natural gas, have been subject to periods of rapid and significant movernents in price. These fluctuations in price may be
caused or aggravated by a number of factors, including political instability or hostilities in oil-producing countries and supply
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and demand changes. We may not be able to pass on increases in the prices of raw materials and energy to our customers. As
a result, higher petroleum or natural gas costs could lead to declining margins, operating results and financial conditions.

A major failure of our Information systams could harm our business.

We depend upon integroted information systems fo process orders, respond to customer inquiries, manage inventory,
purchase, sell and ship goods on a timely basis, maintain cost-efficient operations, prepare financial information and reports,
and operate our website. We may experience operating problems with our information systems as a result of system failures,
viruses, computer *hackers” or other causes. Any significant disruption or slowdown of our systems could cause orders to be
lost or delayed and could damage our reputation with cur customers or cause our customers to cancel orders, which could
adversely affect our results of operations.

Our menvfacturing operations are subject to hazards and other risks
associated with polymer production and the reloted storoge and
transportation of row moterials, products and wastes.

Our manufacturing operations are subject to the possible hazards and risks associated with polymer production and the
related storage and transportation of raw materials, products and wastes, including explosions, fires, inclement weather,
natural disasters, mechanical failure, unscheduled downtime, transportation interruptions, remediation, chemical spills,
discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances or gases and other risks. These hazards can cause personal injury
and loss of life, severe damage to, or destruction of, property and equipment and environmental contamination. In addition, the
occurrence of material operating problems at our facilities due to any of these hazards may diminish our ability to meet our
output goals. Accordingly, these hazards, and their consequences could have a material adverse effect on our operations as a
whole, including our results of operations and cash flows, both during and after the period of operational difficutties,

Extensive environmentel, health and safety laws and regulations impact
our opaerations and assets, and compliance, or lock of compliance, with
thase regulations could adversely affect our results of operations,

Cur operations on and ownership of real property are subject fo extensive environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations af the national, state and local governmental levels, The nature of our business exposes us to risks of liability under
these laws and regulations due to the produciion, storage, transportation, recycling or disposal and/or sale of materials that
con cause contfamination or personal injury if they are released into the environment or workplace, Environmental laws may
have a significant effect on the costs of these activities involving raw materials, finished products and wastes, We may incur
substantial costs, induding fines, demages, criminal or civil sanctions, remediation costs, or experience interruplions in our
operations for violations of these laws.

Also, national and stote envirenmental statutes impose strict, and under some circumsiances, joint and several liability for
the cost of invesligations and remedial actions on any company that generaled the waste, arranged for disposal of the waste,
transported the waste to the disposal site or selected the disposal site, as well as on the owners and operators of these sites.
Any or all of the responsible parties may be required to bear all of the costs of clean up, regardless of fault or legality of the
waste disposal or ownership of the site, and may also be subject to liability for natural resource damages. it is possible that we
will be identified as a potentially responsible party af various sites in the future, which could resutlt in being assessed substantial
investigation or clean-up costs.

Accruals for estimated costs, including, among other things, the ranges associated with our accruals for future envi-
ronmental compliance and remediation may be too low or we may not be able fo quantify the potential costs, We may be
subject to additional environmental ligbilities or potentia! liobilities that have not been identified. We expect that we will continue
fo be subject to increasingly stringent environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. We believe that compliance with
these lows and regulations may, but does not currently, require significant capital expenditures and operating costs, which
could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition.

10




We face competition from other polymer companies, which couvid adversely
offect our sales and financial condition,

We operate in a highly compelitive marketplace, competing against a number of domestic and foreign polymer producers.
Competition is based on several key criteriq, including product performance and quality, product price, product availability and
security of supply, responsiveness of product development in cooperation with customers and customer service. Some of our
competitors are larger than we are and moy have greater financial resources. These competitors may also be able to maintain
significantly greater operating and financial flexibility than we do. As a result, these competitors may be better able o withstand
changes in conditions within our industry, changes in the prices of raw materiols and energy and in general economic
conditions. Additionally, competitors’ pricing decisions could compe! us to decrease our prices, which could affect our margins
and profitability adversely. Qur ability to maintain or increase our profitabiiity is, and will confinue to be, dependent upon our
ability to offset decreases in the prices and margins of our products by improving production efficiency and volume, shifting to
higher margin products and improving existing products through innovation and research and development. If we are unable
to do so or to otherwise maintain our competitive position, we could lose market share to our competitors.

We expect that our compefitors will continue to develop and introduce new and enhanced products, which could cause a
decline in the market acceptance of our products. In addition, our competitors could cause a reduction in the selling prices of
some of our products as a result of infensified price competition. Competitive pressures can also result in the loss of major
customers. An inability to compete successfully could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows. We may also experience increased competition from companies that offer products based on alternative
technologies and processes that may be more competitive or better in price or performance, causing us to lose customers and
result in o decline in our sales volume and earnings.

We may incur significant charges in the event we close all or part of a
manutacturing plant or facility.

We periodically assess our manufacturing operations in order to manufacture and distribute our products in the most
efficient manner. Based on our assessments, we may make capital improvements lo modernize cerain units, move
manufacturing or distribution capabilities from one plant or facility to ancther plant or facility, discontinue manufaciuring
or distributing certain products or close all or part of a manufacturing plant or facility. We also have shared services agreements
ot several of our plonts and if such agreements are terminated or revised, we would assess and potentially adjust our
manufacturing operations. The closure of all or pan of o menufacturing plant or facility could result in future charges which
could be significant,

Ovur substantial international opaerations subfject us to risks of doing
business in foreign countries, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We conduct a substantial porfion of our business outside of the United States. We and our joint ventures currently have
12 manufacturing facilities located outside the United States, including facilities and offices located in Mexico, Canada,
Belgium, France, Germany, Poland, Hungary, Indonesia, Italy, Spain, Switzerland, China, Luxembourg, Sweden, Turkey, South
Korea, Czech Republic, Denmark and the United Kingdom, We exped sales from international markets to confinue to represent
a significant portion of our net sales. Accordingly, our business is subject 1o risks related fo the differing legal, political, social
and regulatory requirements and economic conditions of many jurisdictions, Risks inherent in international operations include
the following:

« fluctuations in exchange rates may affect product demand and may adversely offect the profitability in U.S. dollars of
products and services we provide in international markets where payment for our products and services is made in the
locat currency;

» intellectual property rights may be more difficult fo enforce;

« foreign countries may impose additional withholding taxes or otherwise tax our foreign income, or adopt other
restrictions on foreign frade or invesimenl, including currency exchange confrols;

« unexpected adverse changes in foreign laws or regulatory requirements may occur;
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* agreements may be difficult to enforce and receivables difficult to collect:
*» compliance with a variety of foreign lows and regulations may be burdensome;
* unexpected adverse changes in export duties, quotas and tariffs and difficulties in obtaining export licenses;

* general economic condifions in the countries in which we operate could have an adverse effect on cur earnings from
operations in those countries;

« foreign operations may experience staffing difficulties and labor disputes;
+ foreign governments may nationdlize private enterprises;

* our business and profitability in a particular country could be affected by political or economic repercussions on a
domestic, country specific or global level from terrorist activities and the response to such activities; and

= unanticipated events, such as geopolitical changes, could result in a write-down of our investment in the affected joint
venture in Indonesia.

Our success as a global business will depend, in part, upon our ability 1o succeed in differing legal, regulatory, economic,
social and politicat conditions by developing, implementing and maintaining policies and sirategies that are effective in each
location where we and our joint ventures do business.

Other increases in operating costs could affect our profitability.

Scheduled or unscheduled maintenance programs could cause significant production ouwlages, higher costs and/or
reduced production capacity at our equity offiliates and suppliers due o the industry in which they operate. These events could
also affect our future profitability.

The inability to achieve or delays in achieving or achievement of less
thon the anticipated financial benefit from initiotives related to cost
reductions and improving efficiencies.

We have implemented significant restructuring which are expected to reduce costs and improve efficiencies. If these
initiatives are not as successful as planned, the result could negalively impact our results of operations or financial condition.

Qur business depends upon good relations with our employees.

We may experience difficulties in maintaining appropriate relations with unions and employees in certain locations. About
80% of our hourly employees at our operations are represented by labor unions. In addition, problems or changes affecting
employees in cerlain locations may affect relations with our employees at other locations. The risk of labor disputes, work
stoppages or other disruptions in produciion could adversely affect us. If we cannot successiully negotiate or renegotiate
collective bargaining agreements or if the negofiations take an excessive amount of time, there may be a heightened risk of a
prolonged work stoppage. Any work stoppage could have a material adverse effect on the productivity and profitability of a
manufacturing facility or on our operations as a whole.

Our business and financial condition could be odversely aoffected if we
are vnable to protect our material trademarks and other proprietary
information.

We have numerous valuable patents, trade secrets and know-how, domain names, trademarks and trade names,
including certain marks that are material to our business, which are identified under ltem 1 of this Report. Despite our efforts to
protect our frademarks and other proprietary rights from unauthorized use or disclosure, other porfies, including our former
employees or consultants, may attempt to disclose, obiain or use our proprietary information or marks without our autho-
rization. Unauthorized use of our trademarks, or unauthorized use or disclosure of our other intellectual property, could
negatively impact our business and financia! condition.




Although our pension and postretirement plans are currently funded in
accordance with applicable laws, avents could occur that wovld require us
to make significant contribuvtions to tha plans and reduce the cash
available for our business.

We have several defined benefit pension and postretirement plans around the world covering most of our employees. We
are required to make cash confributions 1o our pension plans 1o the extent necessary to comply with minimum funding
requirements imposed by the various countries’ benefit and tax laws. The omount of any such required contributions will be
determined annually based on an actuarial valuation of the plans as performed by the plans’ actuaries and as required by law.
The amount we may elect or be required o contribute to our pension plans in the fulure may increase significantly. Specifically, if
year-end accumulated obligations exceed assets, we may elect to make a voluntary conribution, over and above the minimum
required, in order to avoid charges to our balance sheet and consequent redudtions to shareholders’ equity. These contri-
butions could be substantial and would reduce the cash available for our business.

Increasing cost of employee healthcare may decrease our profitability.

The cost of providing healthcare coverage for our employees is continually increasing. If healthcare costs continue to rise at
a rapid pace, the Company may not be able to or willing to pass on those costs to employees. Therefore, if we are unable fo
offset continued rising healthcare costs through improved operating efficiencies and reduced expenditures, the increased costs
of employee healthcare may result in declining margins and operating results.

Changes in tax laws could have an adverse impact on our earnings.

Changes 1o lax laws, rules and regulations, including changes in the interpretation or implementation of tax fows, rules
and regulations by the Inferal Revenue Service or other domestic or foreign governmentai bodies, could affect usin substantial
and unpredictable ways. Such changes could subject us fo additional compliance costs and tax liabilities which could have an
adverse impacl on our eamings.

Specific acts of terrorism may disrupt oparations and cause increased
costs and liabilities.

The threat of terrorist attacks or actual terrorist events in the United States or abroad couid affect us in unpredictable ways.
Terrorist threats or events could create political or economic instability, affecting our business in general. The increased costs
related to heightened security or insurance coverage could also have a negative impact on our financial condition. Such threats
or events could also result in operafional disruption, including difficulty in obtaining raw materials, difficulty in defivering
products to customers, or general delay and inefficiencies in our supply chain. Additionally, our manutacturing facilities, both
within the United States and those focated abroad, moy become direct targets or indirect casuatties of terrorist aftacks, leading
to severe damage including loss of life and loss of property.

Increased indebtedness could restrict growth and adversely affect ovur
financial health.

As of August 31, 2007, our debt on a consolidated basis was approximately $126.3 million. We are more heavily leveraged
than in the past and an increase in the level of indebtedness could have significant consequences. For example, it could:

« limit our ability to safisfy current debt obligafions;
= increase interest expense due to the change in interest rates and increase in debt levels;

 require us to dedicate a significant portion of cash flow to repay principal and pay interest on the deb, reducing the
amount of funds that would be available to finance operations and other business acfivities;

« impair our ability to obtain financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, research and development,
or acquisitions;
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* make us vulnerable to economic downturns or adverse developments in our business or markets; and
¢ place us al o compelitive disadvantage compared to competitors with less debt.

We exped to pay expenses and to pay principal and interest on current and future debt from cash provided by operating
aclivifies. Therefore, our ability to meet these payment obligations will depend on future financial performance which is subject
in part o numerous economic, business and financial factors beyond our control. if our cash flow and capital resources are
insufficient to fund our increased debt, we may be forced to reduce or delay expansion plans and capital expenditures, limil
payment of dividends, sell material assets or operations, obtain additional capital or restructure our debt,

Litigation from customers, employees or others could adversely offect our
financial condition.

From time to time, we may be subject to claims or legal action from customers, employees and/or others. Whether these
claims and legat actions are founded or unfounded, if these claims and legal actions are not resolved in our fovor, they may
result in significant financial licbility and/or adversely affect market percepfion of the Company and our products. Any financiol
liability or reputation damage could have a material adverse effect on our business. This, in turn, could have a material odverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We are dependaent upon good relationships with our various suppliers,
vendors and distributors.

We rely upon good relationships with a number of different suppliers, vendors and distributors. if our relationships with
these parties were to deleriorate or if a number of these parties should elect 1o discontinue doing business with us, our
business operations could be adversely affecied.

We may experience difficulties in integrating acquired businesses, or the
acquisitions may not perform as expected.

During fiscal 2007, we made an acquisition intended to complement or expand our business, and may continue to do soin
the future. The successful integration of these acquisitions will depend on our ability to integrate the assets and personnel
acquired. We may encounter obstacles when incorporating the acquired operations with our operations and management.
The acquired operations may not perform or provide the results expected when we first enfered into the transaction. If the
acquisitions are not infegrated successfully or they do not perform as well as anticipated, this could adversely affect our results
of operations and financia! condition.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None,
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ITEM 2. PRCPERTIES

The Company operates seven plants in North America, eight in Europe and two in Asia. The following table indicates the

location of each plastics compounding plant, the approximate annual plastics compounding capacity and approximate floor
areq, including warehouse and office space and the geographic segment that is principally supported by such plants:

Approximate Approximate oo Anrl;'e
r
Location Capacity (sq. #.)(3]  Capacily (lbs.{1)  (Square Foet)
{in thousands)

Bellevue, Ohio .. ... ... . ... i B8,000(2) 160
Sharon Center, Ohio, Color Technology Cenfer. . . ... ...... 14,000 13
Sharon Center, Ohio, A. Schulman Invision, Inc. . ......... 15,000(3) 32
Nashville, Tennessee. . . .. ... ......... ..ot 34,000 138
San Luis Potosi, Mexico . . .. .. ... ... L 83,000 187
St. Thomas, Ontario, Canada . . . .................... 74,000 11
Oorange, TeXas . . . ... e _ _ 135,000 182
Total North American Segment . . . . ... ... ... ... ... 15,000 428,000 _ 953
Bommemn, Belgium ... ... ... ... L 147,000 455
Crumlin Gwent, SouthWales . .. .................... 77,000 106
Givel, France . . .. ... .. 222,000 219
NowaBiala,Poland . ............................ 2,000 50
Guangdong Province, China. . . ... .. .. ..o oL 37,000 112
Ketpen, Germany . . . ... ... ... e 154,000 484
Astorp, Sweden . .. ... ... . ... .. 9,000 27
Opglabbeek, Belgivm . ... ... .. ...l 5,000 17
East Java, Indonesia Uoint Venture) . . ... ... ... ... ... .. 29,000 136
Gorla Maggiore, thaly. . ... . ... L 41,000 _ 15
Total EuropeanSegment . . . .. ... ... ... — 723,000 72
Total . ... 15,000 1,151,000 2,674

The Company considers each of the foregoing facilities 1o be in good condifion and suitable for its purposes.

{1} The gpproximate annuat plastics compounding capacity set forth in this table is an estimate and is based upon
several factors, including the daily and shift operating schedules that are customary in the area where each facility is
located. Another factor is the approximate historical mix of specific types of plastic compounds manufactured at each
plant. A plant operating at full capacity will produce o greater or lesser quantity (in pounds} depending upon the specific
plostic compound then being manufaciured. The annual poundage of plastic compounds manufactured does not, initself,
reflect the extent of utilization of the Company’s plants or the profitability of the plastic compounds produced.

{2 Includes capacity of approximately 20 million pounds from two manufacturing lines owned by The Sunprene
Company, a partnership in which the Company has a 70% parinership interest.

{3) Includes the first production line for the new Invision® sheet product which is measured by the square fool. This is
not currently included in the Company’s calculation of capacity utilization as it was completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2007

Public warehouses are used wherever needed 1o store the Company’s products o best service the needs of customers.

The number of public warehouses in use varies from time to time. Currently, usage approximates 49 warehouses for the
Company worldwide. The Company believes an adequate supply of suitable public warehouse fadilities is available to it.

The Company owns its corporate headquarters, which is located in Akron, Ohio and which contains approximately

48,000 square feet of office space. The Company leases sales offices in various locations in its North American and European
segmenls,

The Company also owns a 158,000 square foot facility in Akron, Chio that, until December 31, 2000, was a manutacturing

operation, The facility is now used for warehousing, iogistics, product sompling and product develepment.
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The Company also owns a 145,000 square foot facility in Orange, Texas, that, until August 31, 2003, was a manufacluring
facility. The facility was previously used for warehousing and logistics, but was closed in fiscal 2007 and was placed for sale.
The facility, which has a net book value of approximately $1.5 million at August 31, 2007, is currently designated as an asset
held-for-sale and is included in property, ptant and equipment in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is engaged in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The ultimate outcome of
these proceedings is not expected fo have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations
or cash flows.

During fiscal 2006, a railroad company filed suit against the Company seeking compensaiory damages and reimburse-
ment of environmental costs 1o investigate and remediate property located near its Bellevue, Ohio facility. In fiscal 2007, the
Company and the railroad company agreed to a setilernent that the Company would pay the railread company a seftlement of
approximately $64,000. The Company paid this seflement in fiscal 2007 and was released from liability for current and future
right of way investigations on this property.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended August 31, 2007.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The age [as of October 15, 2007}, business experience during the past five years and offices presently held by each of the
Company's Executive Officers are reported below. The Company’s By-Laws provide that officers shall hold office until their
successors are elected and qualified.

Terry L. Haines:  Age 61, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since January 1991,

Paul £ DeSantis:  Age 43; Chief Financiol Officer and Treasurer of the Company since April 2006; joined the Company as
Vice President of Finance in January 2006; prior o that time, he was with Scott's Miracle-Gro where he held various financial
roles since 1997 before becoming Vice President and Corporale Treasurer of the Company in 2003.

Alain C. Adam: Age 58; Vice President — Global Automotive Market Development of the Company since March 2006;
prior 1o that time Vice President — International Automotive Operations since September 1, 1999,

Barry A. Rhodes:  Age 47; Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of North America since March 2006; prior
to that time Vice President — North American Sales and Markeling since October 2001.

Ronald G. Andres: Age 57; Vice President and General Manager — Engineered Compounds since June 2007, prior to
that time, Vice President — North American Operalions since March 2006; prior to that time, Vice President — North American
Manufacturing since October 20, 1999

Gary J. Elek:  Age 55; Vice President and Controller for North America since March 2006; prior to that Corporate Controller
since February 2004; prior to that time, Executive Vice President, Corporate Development of FirstMerit Corporation from 1997 to
2004,

John M. Myles:  Age 63; refired Vice President — Research and Development since October 28, 2003, prior to that time,
Vice President — North American Purchasing since October 1997, He refired from the Company on August 31, 2007.
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PART 1l

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company’s Commeon Stock is traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC under the symbol "SHLM.” At October 15, 2007,
there were 562 holders of record of the Company's Common Stock. This figure does not include beneficial owners who hold
shares in nominee name. The closing stock price on October 15, 2007 was $20.78.

The quarterly high and low closing stock prices for fiscal 2007 and 2006 are presented in the table below.

Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2006

Common Stock Price Range High - Low High - Low

IstQuarter ... .. $2504-2249 $2095-16.77
nd QUOTET . . o e $23.03-19.90 $25.80 - 20.80
rd Quarer . $24.26 - 20.31  $25.14-22.80
AthQuaner . ... $2595-19.82 $24.46-21.17

The quarterly cash dividends declared for fiscal 2007 and 2006 are presented in the table below.

Cash Dividends Per Share Fiscal 2007  Fiscal 2006
18 QUARET . . . $0.145 $0.145
2N QUGN . . e 0.145 0.145
Ard QUAN ST, . . . e e e 0.145 0.145
dth Quarter. . . ... 0.145 0.145

$0.580 $0.580

The Company paid $0.01 per common share on February 1, 2007, to shareholders of record on January 19, 2007, in
redemption of the special stock purchase rights previously issued to the Company's shareholders pursuant to the Rights
Agreement dated as of January 26, 2006 between the Company and National City Bank as Rights Agent, thereby redeeming in
full and canceling ali such rights and terminating the Rights Agreement. The amount of this redemption was approximately
$0.3 million, which is included in the total amount of dividends paid during fiscal 2007, but is not included in the $0.58 cash
dividends per share.

On April 25, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 6.75 million
shares of its cutstanding common stock (the "Repurchase Program®) representing approximately 23.3% of the Company’s
oulstanding shares at the authorization date. it is anticipated that the Company will complete the Repurchase Program through
open market repurchases from time to time. The number of shares to be repurchased and the timing of repurchases will
depend upon the prevailing market prices and any other considerations that may, in the opinion of the Board of Directors or
managemenl, affect the advisability of repurchasing shares, The Repurchase Program replaced the Company's prior
repurchase authorization, under which approximately 1.7 million shares had remained authonized for repurchase. The
Company’s purchases of its common stock under the Repurchase Program during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 were as
follows:

Totol Number of Maximum Number of
Average Price Poid Shares Purchased as Shares that may yet be
Total Number of per Share {Excluding Part ot a Publicly Purchased under the

Shares Repurchased Commissions) Announced Plan Plan
Beginning shares available 3,979,653
June 1-30, 2007 . . . . ... — $— — 3,979,653
July 1-31, 2007, . ... ... — $— — 3,979,653
August 1-31, 2007 .. ... —_ $— — 3,979,653
Total. . ... ... . ... .. - —

3,979,653

p—
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Year Ended August 31,
2007(1}) 2006(1) 2005(1) 2004 2003
{in thousands, except share and per share data)
Netsales............................... $ 1,787,056 % 1,616,386 $ 1,433,196 % 1,239,097 $ 1,100,457
Costofsales ... ... ... ... ............... 1,574,234 1,396,440 1,240,557 1,055,608 940,152
Other costs, expenses, etc. .. ................ 169,686 163,001 145,697 131,084 124,775
Interest and otherincome. ... . ............... {4,138} (5,202) (2,394} {2,252} 12,067]
1,739,782 1,554,239 1,383,860 1,184,440 1,062,860
Income beforetaxes . ... ...... ... ... ... .... 47,274 62,147 49,336 54,651 37,597
Provision for U.S. and foreign income taxes . . . . . ... 24,655 29,485 17,243 26,745 21,643
Netincome ... ...... .. ... ... ... ... ...... 3 22,619 % 32662 % 32093 § 27,906 § 15,954
Totabassets . . ... ... ... ... $ 874115 % 843245 % 784,362 % 72409 $§ 643,872
longtermdebt. . . ... ... ... L $ 123080 3 120730 % 63,158 5 49679 $ 68,698
Total stockholders’ equity . ... ... .. ... .. .... $ 427,013 % 403492 % 462,103 % 435237 % 382821
Average number of commen shares outstanding, net
of treasury shares:
Basic .. ... .. ... .. 27,032,348 29,961,580 30,619,780 30,128,117 29,496,281
Diluted . ........ ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 27,369,408 30,394,210 31,049,790 30,575,057 29,845,497
Diluted earnings per common share. . . ... .. ... .. $ 082 $% 1.07 % 103 % 09 3 0.53

Cash dividends per common share .. ..., ... ... $ 058 % 058 % 057 % 054 % 0.54

{1) See "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

A. Schulman, Inc. is a leading international supplier of high-perfermance plastic compounds and resins headquartered in
Akron, Ohio. The Company's customers span a wide range of markets including consumer products, industrial, automotive and
packaging. The Company has approximaiely 2,500 employees and 17 plants in countries in North America, Europe and Asia.
The Company operales within two segments, North America and Europe (which includes Asia), Both segments also include
distributors which service some of the largest chemical companies in the world.

The Company offers such products as color and additive concentrates, polyolefins, engineered compounds and polyvinyl
chloride {PVC) used in packaging, durable goods and commodity products. The Company also offers a tolling service to
customers. Recently, the Company introduced its new Invision® sheet product. Invision® is a revolulionary product based on
cutling-edge -technology that is expected to provide high growth opporunities in many markets around the world. This
business had a successful start-up of the inifial production line ot Sharon Center, Ohio in fiscal 2007 and began shipping some
of its first full orders. The Company is constructing a dedicated facility to manufacture the Invision® product.

During fiscal 2007, the Company acquired the Delta Plast Group, a European color masterbatch manufacturer with
operations in Sweden and Belgium. The acquisition will expond the Company’s European segment color masterbaich
capahilities and allow the Company to better meet customers’ needs. The earnings from the acquisition had a minimal
effect on consolidated eamings for fiscal 2007.

During fiscal 2007, the Company announced multiple phases of a restructuring plan to restore its North American segment
to profitability. The initiatives targeted reducing expenses and improving efficiencies at all locations in the North Americon
segment. The Company has already stared fo realize some of the cost savings as a result of the initiatives put in place,
although weakness in the marketplace has masked some of those savings.

Net income for the 2007 fiscal year was $22.6 million, or $0.82 per diluted share, compared to last year's net income of
$32.7 million, or$1.07 per diluted share. The translation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the euro, increased net income by
$3.8 million or $0.14 per diluted share.




The Coempany had record sales performance but declined in its gross margin in fiscal 2007. The following significant ond
unusudl items occurred that impacted net income in fiscal 2007:

» Other income of $1.5 million ibefore and after-tax) relaled to the proceeds from an insurance seftlement for a hurricane
clairm;

* Charges of $0.6 million {$1.0 million before-tax) related to the Company’s evaluation of a possible acquisition target;
« income of $1.4 million {$2.4 million before-tax) for the Company’s change in its estimate for customer claims reserves;
¢ Tax charges of $1.3 million to reduce its German deferred tax asset as a result of a statutory tax rate decline; and
» Charges of $2.1 million (before and after-tax} related to the North American restructuring.

A delailed discussion of the Company's fiscal 2007 performance is included in the Results of Operations section,

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2007

Net consclidated sales for fiscal 2007 were $1.8 billion, an increase of 10.6% over sales of $1.6 billion in fiscal 2006, A
comparison of net consolidated sales by business segments, which are North America and Europe, including Asia ("Europe”), is
as follows:

Increase
{Cecrease)
Sales 2007 2008 Amount %
{In thousands, except for X’s)
BT O . . e e $1,309,975  $1,122,742 $187,233 16.7
NOMR AMIBHCO. . . o oo e 477,081 493,644 116,563 (3.4}

$1,787,056 $1.616,386 3170670 10.6

The components of the percentage change in 2007 net consolidoted sales are as follows:

tnerease
=13 = T = D 4.1%
P PO X . . L L e e 0.7
Translation effect . .. ... 3.8
Percentage inCrease in STIBS . . .. .. L e e 10.6%

Worldwide tonnage was up 4.1% for the year due to the increase in European tonnage of 5.5%. North American fonnage
was flat compared to fiscal 2006 primarily due to a weakness in the marketplace in the first half of the fiscal year. The increasein
European tonnage was a result of the increased sales in higher volume, lower margin products. The transiation effect of foreign
currencies, primarily the euro, increased net consolidated sales by approximately $93.2 million in fiscal 2007,

The two largest markels served by the Company are the packaging and automotive markets. Other markets include
appliances, construction, medical, consumer products, electrical/electronics, office equipment and agriculture. The approx-
imate percentage of net consolidated sales by market for 2007 compared fo 2006 is as follows:

Fiscal  Fiscal

Market 2007 2006
PacKagINg . . . .. e 7% 36%
ALOMIONIVE . L L e e 16 17
OtNEr . . e a7 47

0% 100%
For the North America segment, sales 1o customers in the automotive market accounted for 35% for the years ended
August 31, 2007 and 2006. The U.S. aulomofive market has been under tremendous stress recently with the Company

observing a decline in automotive production of the major Detroit-based automobile manufacturers during this period. For the
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Europe segment, sales to customers in the packaging market accounted for 42% and 44% for the years ended August 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively,

The maijority of the Company’s consolidated sales can be classified into five primary product families. The approximate
amount and percentage of consolidated sales for these produdt families compared to the previous year are as follows:

2007 2006

Product Family Amount % Amount %
{in thousan_ds, except for x'sJ_
Colorand addifive concentrates . . . . ... ... ... ... ... $ 627,268 35 % 579825 36
Palyolefins . . . .. .. .. 543,870 Jo 495,163 31
Engineered compounds ... ... ... 426,382 24 393,312 24
Polyvinyl chloride IPVC] . . ... .. ... 64,658 4 64,174 4
Tolling ... ... . e 21,450 1 16,482 1
OMBT . o et 103,428 6 67430 4
31,787,056 100 $1.616386 100

During the third quarter of fiscal 2007, the Company determined that its anticipated customer claims for products sald in
Europe are expected to be more favorable than originally anticipated. Accordingly, the Company changed its estimate for these
reserves and recorded an adjustment which resulted in an increase in sales and pre-tax income of $2.4 million (51.4 million in
nel incomel for the yeor ended August 31, 2007.

A comparison of gross profit dollars and percentages by business segment for 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

increase
{Oecrease)
Gross Profit $ 2007 2006 $ %
{in thousands, except for %'s]“
BUrODE . $171,066 3163826 $ 7,240 4.4
North AMenca . . . ... .. . e e 41,756 56,120 14,364y  (25.6)

$212,822 3219946 $ (71240 (3.2

Gross Profit % 2007 2006

BUrODE . . . e 13.1% 14.6%
North America . . . . . . .. ... . 8.8% 11.4%
Consolidated . ... ... ... .. .. .. . . . ... 11.9% 13.6%

The gross profit dollars increased for Europe for the year ended August 31, 2007. The foreign currency translation effect
had a positive impact on gross profit of $12.1 million for fiscal 2007. The Company recorded a favorable adjustment related to o
change in the estimate for its European custorner claims reserve, which increased European sales $2.4 million for the year
ended August 31, 2007, without an impacdt on cost of sales. Therefore, excluding the impact of foreign currency translation and
the $2.4 million cloims reserve adjusiment, gross profit was down $7.3 million for the year ended August 31, 2007. The
European gross profit percentage decreased for the year ended August 31, 2007. The decline of gross profil and the gross profit
percentage was due primarily to the following factors:

s Higher raw material costs were not able to be fully passed on through increased selling prices due lo competitive price
pressures, and

» Decrease of production at the Company’s European manufacturing facilities, combined with successiul efforts to reduce
inventory negatively impacted the capacity utilization at these facilities.

Gross profit and gross profit percentages for North America decreased for the year ended August 31, 2007. North America
also experienced a decline in production, combined with successful efforts to reduce inventory, which negatively impacted the
capacity utilization at the North American manufacturing facilities primarily in the first half of the year. The gross profit decreases
were the result of a change in product mix, increased raw materials costs that the Company was not able to fully pass on
through increased selling prices and increased logistics costs on a lower volume of sales. Also contributing 1o the margin
shortfall was additional expense of $2.6 million for the year ended August 31, 2007 related to the Company's investrment in the
new Invision® product line os compared to last year. Finally, the North American gross profit was negatively impacted by
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accelerated depreciation of approximately $1.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2007. This acceleraled depreciation
related to the Company's announced restructuring plan. During fiscal 2007, the North American segment experienced
sequential improvement in gross profit each quarter since the first quarter of fiscal 2007. The Company's restructuring savings
plans have contributed 1o these results.

A comparison of capacity utilization levels is as follows:

2007 2006
BUTOPE © . . et e et e e e e e e 93%  94%
NORh A . . . 84% 83%
Worldwide, . . ... 0 e 90% 0%

Capacity utilization for North America and Europe remained retatively flat as compared to the prior year. Overall, the
weakening markets primarily in the first half of fiscal year 2007 and the Company’s efforts fo reduce its inventory levels forced
utilization levels to remain the same. The Company has plans to remove capacity from its Orange, Texas plant to balance
capacity with demand. In Europe, a change in demand, product mix and an increase in capacity at its France facility, combined
with successful efforts to reduce inventory levels, have negatively effected capacity uiilization. Capacity utilization is calculated
by dividing actual production pounds by practical capacity at each plant.

The changes in selling, general and administrative expenses are summarized as follows:
For the Year Ended
Auvgust 31, 2007
$ Increase % Increase

{tn thousands,
except for %’s)

Tolal change in selling, general and administrative expenses . . ... ................. $10,745 7.2%
Effect of foreign currency franslation. . . . ... ... oL L 6,383 43
Total change in selling, general and administrative expenses, excluding the effect of foreign

currency translation . ... .. L $ 4,362 2.9%

Excluding the effect of foreign currency franslation and $1.0 million of costs related to the Company’s evaluation of a
possible acquisition target, selling, general and administrative expenses increased $3.4 million, or 2.2%, for the year ended
August 31, 2007. The remaining $3.4 million increase is primarily due fo the Company's European segment which had an
increase of $3.8 million in selling, general and administrative expenses. This increase relates to increased services, which
includes legal and professional costs and business process consultants, and increased compensation. The European increase
was partially offset by a decline in North American selling, general and administrative expenses of approximately $0.5 million.
This was primarily a result of the Company’s North American restructuring and efforts 1o control the levels of selling, general and
administrative expenses despite the increase in these expenses from Invision® of $1.0 million,

A large part of the Company’s technical activities relate to the confinuous refinement of compounds for specific
applications of customers. Activities relating to the research and development of new products and the improvement of
existing products are impaortant to the Company. These activities are conducted at the Company’s various technical centers and
laberatories. Research and development expenditures were approximately $7.8 million and $5.5 million in fiscal years 2007
and 2006, respectively. The increase in these activities is primarily related to the new Invision® sheet product and to support new
consumer packaging and automotive applications.

Interest expense increased $1.9 million for the year ended August 31, 2007 as compared to the same period last year. The
increase was a result of the full year effect of higher levels of borrowing due to the share repurchases completed in fiscal 2006
and early fiscal 2007, as well as higher interest rates,

Foreign currency transaction gains or losses represent changes in the value of currencies in major areas where the
Company operates. The Company experienced a $0.2 million foreign currency transaction lass for the year ended August 31,
2007 as compared with a foreign currency transaction loss of $2.1 million for the some period last year. The loss in fiscal 2006
primarily relates to changes in the value of the U.S. dollar compared with the Canadian dollar. The loss in fiscal 2007 primarily
relates to the changes in the value of the U.S, dollar compared with the euro. During fiscal 2007, the Company entered into
forward foreign exchange contracts in North America to reduce the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on the
consolidated statement of income. These contracts reduce exposure to currency movements affecting existing foreign currency
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denominated assets and liabilities resulting primarily from trade receivables and payables. Any gains or losses associated with
these conlracts as well as the offsetting gains or losses from the underlying assets or ligbilities are recognized on the foreign
currency transaction line in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Minority interest represents a 30% equity position of Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Company in a parinership with the
Company and a 35% equity position of P.T. Prima Polycon Indah in an Indonesian joint venture with the Company.

One of the Company’s maijor facilities in Texas was closed for a two-week period in September 2005 because of Hurricane
Rita. In addition, o warehouse in Texas also incurred damage from Hurricane Rita, The claim for this hurricane was fited with the
insurance carriers, but the final recovery amount had not been finalized as of August 31, 2007. The Company received a
$1.5 million payment in partial setlement of the claim during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. This amount was recorded in
other income in the Consolidated Statement of Income. It is anticipated that amounts not covered by insurance will not have a
material impact on future eamings.

Other income in fiscal 2007 was $1.8 million which included $1.5 million of insurance proceeds for a ¢laim related to
hurricane damage as noted above. In fiscal 2006, other income of $1.9 million included income of $0.8 million from the
cancellation by suppliers of cerlain distribution arrangements in Europe and the receipt of a life insurance setflement of
approximately $0.5 million.

During fiscal 2007, the Company announced multiple phases of a restructuring plan to restore its North American segment
fo profitability. In November 2006, in order ta balance capacity with demand, reduce costs and improve efficiencies in the North
American segment, the Company announced a plan 1o close two of its manufacturing lines at its Orange, Texas plant, close a
warehouse also located in Orange, Texas and reduce the workforce at its Bellevue, Ohio plant. The two manufacturing lines at
the Orange, Texas plant are anficipated to continue production into the first quarter of fiscal 2008 while the Orange, Texas
warehouse was closed during the third quarter of fiscal 2007. In connection with this plan, the Company reduced its workforce
by 65 positions.

In February 2007, the Company announced the second phase of its North America restructuring plan which implements
several inifiatives that will improve the Company’s operations and profitability in North America.

These plans are expected to deliver annual savings of approximately $18 million. These estimated savings are coming
from the following initiatives:

« Reduction in the Company’s North American workforce by approximately 30 positions, primarily in the sales and
administrative functions,

» Reduction in the Company’s United States retiree healthcare coverage plan,
= Greater cost sharing of employee and refiree medical plan costs,

» Broad discretionary selling, general and administrative cost reductions,

* Savings from improved purchasing processes, and

» Improved logistics efficiencies.

in connection with this restructuring plan, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $2.1 million for the year ended
August 31, 2007. These charges are summarized below:

Fiscal 2007 Accrual Balance
Charges Paid Fiscal 2007  August 31, 2007

{in thousands)

Employeerelated costs . . ... .. ... ... L. $ 980 $(506} $74
Other Costs . .. . . o 68 __le8) =
ReStUCIURNG . . . oo oot 1,048 $1974) $74
Accelerated depreciation, included in North America cost of
salesin2007 . ... ... 1o
$2.119

22




The employee related costs include severance payments and medical insurance for employees whose positions have
been eliminated in North America. The Company recorded approximately $1.1 million of accelerated depreciafion for the year
ended August 31, 2007 which represents a change in estimate for the reduced life of equipment. At August 31, 2007, the
Company estimated it will incur minimal additional charges for employee related costs which are not expected to impact the
total charge of $2.1 million. The Company anticipates the remaining accrued balance for restructuring charges to be paid over
the first seven months of fiscal 2008.

Income {loss} before interest, restructuring, loss on extinguishment of debt and taxes is not a measure of performance
calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Management of the
Company believes that income {loss) before interest, restructuring, loss on extinguishment of debt and taxes is a useful financial
measure because it provides management and investors with an additional means of evalualing the Company’s operating
performance. The following table reconciles segment income (loss) before interest, restructuring, loss on extinguishment of
debt and taxes to income before toxes:

2007 2006 Ditference
{In thousands)

BUTOPE. . e e e $73,266 579,126 $ (5.860)
NOfh AMETICa . . . ... e {19,132} {9.069) {10,063
Restructuring expense —~North America . . ... .. .. ... Lo L L (1,048} — [1,048)
Interest expense, NeY . . .. .. ... e e 5,812} {2,924) (2,888)
loss on extinguishmentofdebt . .. ......... ... ... ... ... . ... ... ... ... — {4,986) 4,986
Income beforetaxes . ... ... . ... ... $47.274 562,147 $i14,873)

European income before interest, restructuring, loss on extinguishment of debt and taxes decreased for the year ended
August 31, 2007, which includes the positive translation effect of foreign currencies of $5.7 million. Excluding the impact of
translation of foreign currencies and the $2.4 million for the claims reserve, income before interest, restructuring, loss on
extinguishment of debt and taxes declined $14.0 million. This decline was due primarily to the decrease in gross profit of
$7.3 million, which excludes the paositive iranslation effect of foreign currencies of $12.1 million and the adjusiment to the claims
reserve, Excluding the translation effect of foreign currencies, the remaining decrease relates to a decrease in other income and
an increase of approximately $4.8 million in selling, general and administrative expenses. The increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses was due to the increase in services driven primarily by $1.0 million of legal and professional costs
related to the evaluation of a possible acquisifion target.

North American income before interest, restructuring, loss on extinguishment of debt and taxes for the year ended
August 31, 2007 decreased because of a significant decline in gross profit margins, The North American gross profit includes
approximotely $1.1 million of accelerated depreciation related to the North American restructuring. The significant decline in
gross profit was particlly offset by a decline in selling, general and administrative expenses of $0.5 million for the year ended
August 31, 2007 due primarily to the Company's North American restructuring.

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates of 52.2% in 2007 and 47.4% in 2006
is as follows:

2007 2004

% of % of
Pretax Pretax
Amount Income Amount Income

{In thousands, except for ¥%s)

Statutory US.faxrate . ... .. ... $16,546 350% 321,752 35.0%
Amount of foreign income taxes less than US. taxes ot slafutory rate . . .. . . (2,951} (6.2} {4,043) (6.5
losseswithnotaxbenefit ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. ... 8,854 18.7 3,997 9.6
Provision for repatriated eamings . ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... .. — — 2,243 3.6
Loss on extinguishment of debt —notaxbenefit . . .. .. .. ... . ... ... — — 1,745 28
Ongoingtaxaudils . .. ... ... ... ... .. — — 1,152 1.9
Reduction of Germantaxrale . . _ ... . ... .. ... .. ... ... ...... 1,335 28 — —
Other, net _ . . e 871 1.9 639 o
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2006

Net income for the 2006 fiscal year was $32.7 million, or $1.07 per diluted share, compared to fiscal 2005 net income of
$32.1 million, or $1.03 per diluted share. Net income in fiscal 2006 increased slightly as compared tfo the prior year and
earnings per diluted share increased due o the reduced number of commeon shares outstanding as a result of the Company’s
share repurchase program that was implemented in fiscal 2006 and the purchase of the Company’s common shares through a
self-tender offer. The translation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the euro, decreased net income by 51.6 million or $0.05
per diluted share.

The Company improved its gross margin in fiscal 2006; however the following significant and unusual items occurred that
impacted net income by approximately $7.3 million:

* Charge relaled lo the extinguishment of debt of approximately $5.0 million;

» Charges of approximately $1.2 million related to ongoing tax audits;

Income from a life insurance setlement of approximately $0.5 million;

Tax charge of approximately $2.2 million related to the repatriation of dividends from Europe; and

» Income of approximately $0.6 million resulting fram compensation received from the cancellation by suppliers of certain
European distribution agreements.

Net income also included approximately $4.5 miliion of expense related to the Company's adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123R, Share-Based Payment ("SFAS 123R"), in fiscal 2006, There were no charges related
to SFAS 123R in fiscal year 2005.

Net consolidated sales for fiscal 2006 were $1.616 billion, an increase of 12.8% over sales of $1.433 billion in fiscal 2005. A
comparison of nel consolidated sales by business segments, which are North America and Europe, including Asia {"Europe”, is
as follows:

Increase
Sales 2006 2005 Amount %
{In thousands, except for %’'s} T
Noth AMERCA. . . v o § 493,644 3 439,441 $ 54203 123
117 o o= 1,122,742 993,755 128,987 13.0

$1,616,386  $1,433,196  $183,190 128

The components of the percentage change in 2006 net consolidated sales are as follows:

Increase
(Decrease)
TONNQGR - . o o oo s 9.1%
Price/product MIX . . . .o oo e 5.7
Translation effech. . . ... ... 2.0
Percentage inCrease in SQIBS. . . . . . . L e 12.8%

Worldwide tonnage was up 9.1% for the year as European tonnage was up 14.8% offsetiing a North American fonnage
decrease of 2.1%. The increase in European lonnage was aresult of the improved European economic environment while North
American tonnage declined slightly due to competition and weakness in the marketplace. The translation effect of foreign
currencies, primarily the euro, decreased net consolidated sales by approximately $29.2 million or 2.0% in fiscal 2006.
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The twe largest markets served by the Company are the packaging and automotive markets. The approximate percentage
of net consolidated sales by market for 2006 compared to 2005 is as follows:

Market 2006 2005
POCKOGING . . . . e 36% 37%
AUIOMONYE . L e 17 18
L0 =Y a7 45

100%  100%

Other markets include appliances, construction, medical, consumer products, electrical/electronics, office equipment and
agriculture.

The majority of the Company’s consolidated sales can be classified into five primary product families. The approximate
amount and percentage of consolidated sales for these product families compared to the previous year are as follows:

2006 2005
Product Fomily Amount % Amount %
{In fhousn?ﬁ, except for %‘sl_
Color and additive concentrates . . . .. ... .. ... . ... ... $ 579,825 36 & 501,159 35
Polyolefins . . .. . . 495,163 3 424,066 30
Engineered compounds . . .. ... 393,312 24 377,008 26
Polwvinyl chloride IPVC) . . . .. ... . . e 64,174 4 54,952 4
TolliNG « o e 16,482 1 16,117 1
O . . oo 67430 4 59894 4
51616386 100 $1433,196 100
A comparison of gross profit dollars and percentages by business segment for 2006 and 2005 is as follows:
Increase
(Decrease}
Gross Profit § 2006 2005 $ %
(in thousands, except for X's)_
BUTOPE . . . o e e $163,826 $146,357 $17,469 119
North AMerica . . . . . e 56,120 46,282 9838 213

$219.946  $192,639 $27,307 142

GrossProfit %. .. . . ... 2006 2005

BUTOPE . . e 14.6% 14.7%
Noth America . ... .. .. o e e 11.4% 10.5%
Comsolidated . . . . . ., ... ... . .. e 13.6% 13.4%

Gross profit margin increased twenty basis points on @ year to year comparison to 13.6% in fiscal 2006 from 13.4% in
fiscal 2005.

The increase of $17.5 million in gross profit dollars in Europe in fiscal 2006 was primarily driven by the increased tonnage
as the gross profit percentage remained relatively flat as compared to fiscal 2005. North America also showed a significant
increase in gross profitin fiscal 2006 as gross profits were up $9.8 million or 21.3% from fiscal 2005. This improvement in gross
profit was the result of favorable pricing and changes in product mix. Overall, the Company enjoyed an increase in gross profit
per pound in fiscal 2006, most notably in North America.

A comparison of capacity utilization levels is as follows:

2006 2005
BT oD o o oo e e 94% 83%
NORD A . . . . e e e e 83% 87%
Worldwide. . . .. . 90% 85%




Worldwide copacity utilization increased by 5%. The increase in European capacity ulilization was the result of stronger
customer demand and product mix, In order to meet this increased demand, some of Europe’s manufaciuring facilifies
temporarily added additional production shifis above the normal production schedule during the second half of fiscal 2006.
North American capacity ulilization decreased slightly from 2005 as a result of continuing softening demand, the shutdown of
the largest production line ot the Company’s Texas facility due fo a mechanical issue and a two-week shuldown al the some
Texas facility because of Hurricane Rita.

A comparison of operating income {loss) by business segment for the years 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

2004 2005 Difference
{In thousands)

= $79,126  $62,777 $16,349
Narth AMerCO . .. .. e 19,0691 {11,000 1,931
Restructuring expense —North America . .. .. ... ... ..o — {182} 182
INferest eXPENSE, NBY . . . .. . L L {2,924) {2,259 {665}
Loss on extinguishment ofdebt . . .. ... .. ... ... .. ... o (4,986) — {4,986)
Income beforetaxes . .. ... ... ... $62,147  $49336 $12,811

The increase of $16.3 million in European operating income was primarily the result of the higher level of sales driven by
the $17.5 million or 11.9% increase in gross profit and 14,8% increase in tonnage from the prior year. European operating
expenses in fiscal 2006 remained relatively flat with fiscal 2005 although the translation effect of foreign currencies decreased
operating expenses by $2.4 million. Operating income in North America in fiscal 2006 improved $1.9 million from the prior year,
primarily because of favorable pricing and product mix which increased gross profit from the prior year. This increase was offset
by an increase in operating expenses as explained in the next paragraph.

Total Company selling, general and administrative expenses were $148.5 million for fiscal 2006, up $10.7 million or 7.7%
compared with fiscal 2005's 1otal of $137.8 million. The translation effect of foreign currencies had o favorable impact,
decreasing these expenses by $2.1 million in 2006. Increases in these expenses, of which the maiority are in Nerth America,
included stock-based compensation expense related to the Company’s adoption of SFAS 123R in fiscal 2006 of $4.5 million,
costs associated with the Company’s CFO transition, incentive compensation which was driven by the Company's increasing
common stock price, legal and professional fees, medical insurance and various IT related projects. SFAS 123R accounted for
approximately half of the increose in selling, general and administrative expenses.

On September 1, 2005, the Company adopled SFAS 123R, which requires the Company to measure all employee stock-
based compensation awards using a fair value method and record the related expense in the financial statements. The
Company elected to use the modified prospective transition method. The modified prospective iransition method requires that
compensation cost be recognized in the financial statements for all awards granted after the date of adoption as well as for
existing awards for which the requisite service has not been rendered as of the date of adoption and requires that prior periods
not be restated. All periods presented prior to September 1, 2005 were accounted for in accordance with Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued fo Employees, and followed a nominal vesting period approach.

The adoption of SFAS 123R reduced income before taxes for year ended August 31, 2006 by approximately $4.5 million
{$0.15 per basic and diluted share). These expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statement of income. The first quarter of fiscal 2006 included approximately $1.0 million of
charges related to the accelerated vesting of retirement eligible employees under the non-substantive vesting period approach
applied to new grants after adoption. The expense recorded did not impact income tax expense since the Company’s deferred
tax assets are fully reserved by a valugtion allowance. There was no impact to the statement of cash flows related to the
adoption of SFAS 123R. In addition, Unearned Stock Grant Compensation of $3.2 million was reclassified to Other Capital in
Stockholders’ Equity upon adoption of SFAS 123R.

A large part of the Company's technical activities relate to the continuous refinement of compounds for specific
applications of customers. Activities relating to the research and development of new products and the improvement of
exisling products are important to the Company. These activities are conducted af the Company’s various technical centers and
loboratories. Research and development expenditures were approximately $5.5 million in fiscal 2006 and approximately
$4.8 million in fiscal 2005. The increase in these activities is primarily related to the new Invision® sheet product.
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Interest expense was $6.2 million in fiscal 2006 compared to $3.7 million in fiscal 2005. The increase of $2.5 million was the
result of an increased level of borrowings required for the Company's common stock tender offer and open market common
stock repurchase plans which were implemented in fiscal 2006.

Foreign currency transaclion losses represent changes in the value of currencies in major areas where the Company
operates. During fiscal 2006 the Company incurred foreign currency fransaction losses of approximately $2.1 million compared
to approximately $2.8 million in fiscal 2005, The strengthening of the Canadian dollar accounted for $1.3 million of this loss in
fiscal 2006.

Minority interest represents a 30% equity position of Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Company in a parinership with the
Company and a 35% equity position of P.T. Prima Polycon Indah in an Indonesian joint venture with the Company.

Other income in fiscal 2006 was approximately $1.9 million, which included income of $0.8 million from the cancellation by
suppliers of certain distribution arrangements in Europe and the receipt of a life insurance setflement of approximately
$0.5 million. Other income of $0.9 million in 2005 included approximately $0.8 miflion of income related to gain on the sale of an
office in Europe.

In connection with the Company’s new financing arrangements, as discussed hereafter in the “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” section, the Company prepaid its $50.0 million private placement 7.27% senior noles and terminated its
$100.0 million revolving credit arrangement. The Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately
$5.0 million which was comprised of the following:

Amount
{In thousands)

Make-whole provision for prepayment of 7.27% senior notes. . . .. ... ..o $3,335
Interest rate swap ferminationfee . . .. ... 1,456
Write-off of deferred loan fees related to extinguished debt . . ... . ... ... . ... .. ... ... . ... 398
Write-off of deferred inferest from 7.27% seniornotes. . . ... ... ... ... {218}
Revalving credit agreement termination fees . . . ... ... L 15

34,986

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates of 47.4% in 2006 and 35.0% in 2005
is as follows:

2006 2005

% of % of
Pretax Pretax
Amount Income Amount Income

{in thousands, except for ¥s)

Statutory US.taxrate ... .. ... .. $21,752 350% $17,268 35.0%
Amount of foreign income laxes less than U.S. taxes of statutory rate . . . . . . (4,043) {6.5) (2,009 4.0
losses withnotaxbenefit .. ... ... ... . .. ... . . . ... ... ... ... . 5,997 9.6 5,904 120
Mexico valuation allowance on netassettax. ... ... ... ... ... ....... — — {3,270} (6.6)
Setlement of faxclaimin Canada . . ... .. ... . ... ... .. ... — — (1,104} (2.2)
Provigion for repatriatedearnings . . .. .. ... ... ... ... ... ... ...... 2,243 36 - —
Loss on extinguishment of debt —no tax benefit . . . ... ... ... ... . . ... 1,745 28 — —
Ongoingtaxoudits . . ... ... . ... ... .. ... ... ... ... 1,152 1.9 — —
Other, net .. ... 639 _lo 454 09
$29,485 474% 317,243 35.0%

II

in October 2005, the Company reached an agreement with a group of investors led by Barington Capital Group, LP. {the
“Barington Group”} which then had an ownership position of approximately 8.7% of the Compuany's oulstanding stock {the
2005 Agreement”). Under the terms of the agreement, among olher things, the Barington Group withdrew its nofice of intent o
nominate persons for election as directors at the Company’s 2005 Annual Meeting and agreed fo abide by certain standstill
provisions until the Company’s 2007 Annual Meefing {the “Standstill Period™), while the Company, through its Board of Diractors,
expanded the size of the Board from 10to 12 and appointed James A. Mitarotonda, a member of the Barington Group, to serve
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as a director until the 2007 Annual Meeting. The Company also agreed to inifiate and consummate o self-tender offer by
April 30, 2006.

On February 21, 2006 the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a modified Dutch auction self-tender
offer for up to 8.75 million shares of its common stock, at a price between $21.00 and $24.00 per share. The Company
commenced the seli-tender offer on March 1, 2006 and it expired on April 11, 2006, On April 25, 2006 the Company announced
the final results of the self-tender offer where the Company accepted for purchase 2,071,585 shares at g price of $24.00 per
share for a total of approximately $49.7 million. The Company also incurred costs in connection with the self-tender of
$0.5 million in legal and professional fees.

On May 30, 2006, the Barington Group filed Amendment No. 9 fo its Schedule 13-D disclosing cerain changes, among
group members and in the aggregate, of the beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock. The Barington Group
disclosed its positions that completion of the self-tender offer by the Company without repurchasing 8,750,000 shares of
common stock constituled a failure of the Company to fulfill its obligations under the 2005 Agreement and therefore the
Standstill Period terminated after the close of business on April 30, 2006. Among other things, termination of the Standstil
Period would elimingte certain restrictions on the ability of Barington Group members to purchase additional shares of common
stock of the Company and to solicit proxies in connection with the Company's 2006 annual meeting.

In October 2006, the Company reached another agreement with the Barington Group, which as of the dote of the
agreement owned in the aggregate 2,816,536 shares, or approximately 10.5% of the Company’s common stock [the “2006
Agreement”). Under the terms of the 2006 Agreement, the Barington Group withdrew a nofice of ifs infent fo nominate cerlain
persons for election as directors at the 2006 annual meeting, agreed fo dismiss a lawsuit i had filed against the Company in
Delaware seeking to enforce its rights as a stockholder fo inspect and copy cerfain books, records and documents of the
Company, and agreed fo abide by certain standstill provisions until the Company’'s 2007 annual meeting. The Company
agreed, among other things, to nominate James S. Marlen, Ernest J. Novak, Jr. (each current directors of the Company), Howard
R. Curd and Michael A. McManus, Jr. on the Board's slate of nominees for election as Class Il directors of the Company at the
2006 annual meeting. The 2006 Agreement also superseded the 2005 Agreement, except with respect to Sections 5(d), 6{al
and ¢ of the 2005 Agreement.

The foregoing descriptions of certain of the ferms of the 2005 Agreement and the 2006 Agreement are qualified in their
entirety by reference to the full text of the agreements, each of which are attached as Exhibit 99.2 to the Forms 8-K filed by the
Company on October 24, 2005 ond October 26, 2006.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company has identified critical accounting policies that, as a result of the judgments, uncertainties, and the operations
involved, could result in material changes to its financial condition or results of operations under different conditions or using
different assumptions. The Company’s most critical accounting policies relate o the allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory
reserve, restructuring charges, purchase accounting and goodwil, long-lived assels, income taxes, pension and other
postrefirement benefits and stock-based compensation.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Management records an allowance for doubtul accounts receivable based on the current and projected credit quality of
the Company's customers, historical experience, customer payment history, expected trends and other factors that affed
collectibility. Changes in these factors or changes in economic circumstances could result in changes fo the allowance for
doubtful accounts.

INVENTORY RESERVE

Management establishes an inventory reserve based on historical experience and amounts expected lo be realized for
slow-moving and obsolete inventory. The Company monitors its slow-moving and obsolete inventory on a quarterly basis and
makes adjustments as considered necessary. The proceeds from the sale or disposifions of these inventories may differ from
the net recorded amount.
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RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

Restructuring charges are recorded in accordance with SFAS 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities. Liabilities for costs associated with an exit or disposal aclivity are recognized when the ligbility is incurred. Fair value is
the basis for the measurement of any osset write-downs that are recorded in accordance with SFAS 144, Accounting for
Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets ("SFAS 1447), Estimated remaining useful lives are the basis for the measurement of
any adjustments that are reflected as accelerated depreciation in cost of sales in accordance with SFAS 144,

PURCHASE ACCOUNTING AND GOODWILL

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. This method requires the Company lo
record assets and liabilities of the business acquired at their estimated fair market values as of the acquisition date. Any excess
of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The Company uses valuation
specialists to perform appraisals and assist in the determination of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. These valuations require management to make estimales and assumptions that are critical in determining the fair
values of the assels and liabilities. Goodwill is not amortized, The Company conducts a formal impairment test of goodwill at
the reporting unit level on an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Long-lived assets, except goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment when circum-
stances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable, or af least annually. Recoverability of assets to be held
and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to future net cash flows estimated by the Company
to be generated by such assets,

INCOME TAXES

The Company’s provision for income taxes involves o significant amount of judgment by management. This provision is
impacted by the income and tax rates of the countries where the Company operates. A change in the geographical source of
the Company’s income can have a significant effect on the tax rate. No taxes are provided on earnings which are parmanently
reinvested.

Various taxing authorities periodically cudit the Company's tax returns. These audits may include questions regarding the
Company’s tax filing positions, including the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income to various tax
jurisdictions. In evaluating the exposures connected with these various tox filing positions the Company records tax liabilifies for
probable exposures. A significant period of time moy elapse before a particular matter, for which the Company hos recorded a
tax liability, is audited and fully resolved.

The establishment of the Company’s tax liabilifies relies on the judgment of management fo estimate the exposures
associated with its various filing positions. Although management believes those estimates and judgments are reasonable,
actual results could differ, resulting in gains or losses that may be material to the Company's consolidated statement of income.

To the extent that the Company prevails in matters for which tax liabilities have been recorded, or are required to pay
amounts in excess of these tax liabilities, the Company’s effective tax rate in any given financial statement period could be
materially affected. An unfavorable tax setflement could resultin an increase in the Company’s effective tax rate in the financial
staternent period of resolution. A favorable tax seftlement would be recognized as a reduction in the Company’s effective tax
rate in the financial stalement period of resolution.

The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,
all available evidence, both positive and negative, is considered to determine whether a valuation allowance is needed.
Evidence, such os the results of operations for the current and preceding years, is given more weight than projections of future
income, which is inherently uncertain. The Company’siosses in the U.5. in recent periods provide sufficient negative evidence fo
require a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets in the U.S. The Company intends to maintain a valuation
allowance against its net deferred tax assets in the U.S. unil sufficient posilive evidence exists to support realization of such
assets.
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PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans are a significant cost of doing business that represents
obligations that will be ultimately setled far into the future and therefore subject to estimation. Pension and postrefirement
benefit accounting is intended to reflect the recognition of fulure benefit costs over the employee’s approximate period of
employment based on the terms of the plans ond the investment and funding decisions made by the Company. While
management believes the Company’s assumptions are appropriate, significant differences in the Company’s actual expe-
rience or significant changes in the Company’s assumptions, incdluding the discount rate used and the expected long-term rate
of return on plan assets, may materially affect the Company’s pension and poslretirement obligations and future expenses.

The Company has several postretirement benefit plans worldwide. These plans consist primarily of defined benefit and
defined contribution pension plans and other postrefirement benefit plans. For financial stalements prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, many assumptions are required to be made in order
to value the plans’ liabilities on a projecied ond accumuloted basis, as well as to determine the annual expense for the plans.
The assumptions chosen take into account historical experience, the current economic environment and management’s best
judgment regarding future experience. Assumptions include the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return on assets,
future salary increases, health care escalation rates, cost of living increases, turnover, refirement ages and mortality. The
cumulative difference between actual experience and assumed experience is included in accumulated other comprehensive
income. These gains or losses are recognized in expense over the average future working lifetime of employees to the extent
that the cumulative expetience exceeds 10% of the greater of the Projected Benefit Obligation (or Accumulated Postretirernent
Benefit Obligation} and assets. Additionally, the current accounting principles defer the amount of any plan changes. These
amounts are included in accumulated other comprehensive income and then recognized in expense over the average future
working lifetime of the affected group. With the adoption at August 31, 2007 of SFAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Postretirement Plans, the full unfunded liability of all the Company’s defined benefit pension and other
posiretirement benefit plans were included on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at August 31, 2007,

For the majority of the Company's pension plans, the Company consults with various actuaries annually when reviewing
and selecting the discount rates ta be used. The discount rates used by the Company are based on yields of various corporate
and governmental bond indices with varying malurity dates. The discount rates are also reviewed in comparison with current
benchmark indices, economic market conditions and the movement in the benchmark yield since the previous fiscal year. The
ligbility weighted-average discount rate for the defined benefit pension plans is 5.5% for fiscal 2007. For the other postre-
tirement benefit plan, the rate is 6.25% and is obtained from the Ciligroup Pension Liability index and Discount Curve. This rate
represents the higher interest rates generally available in the United States, which is the Company’s only country with other
postretirement benefit liabilities. Another ossumption that offects the Company’s pension expense is the expected long-term
rate of return on assets. Some of the Company’s plans are funded. The weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on
assels assumption is 7.8% for fiscal 2007.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity 1o a change in the assumed discount rate and expeded long-term rate of
return on assets for the Company’s pension plans ond other postretirement plans as of August 31, 2007:

Impact on Impact on
August 31, August 31,
2007 2007
Impact on Projected Benefit Projected Benefit
2007 Obligation for Obligation for
Change in Assumption Benefits Expense Pension Plans Postretirement Plons
{In thousands)
25 basis point decrease indiscountrate . . ... ... .. $373 $3,395 $ 755
25 basis point increase in discountrate . . ... ... ... $1417} $(3,305} $(714)
25 basis point decrease in expected long-term rate of return
OMASSEIS . .. . $ 34 $ — 5 —
25 basis point increase in expected long-term rate of retum
OM GSSEIS . oo v v $ (34} s — 5 —

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock-based compensation requires the use of a valuation model. The Company currently uses a Black-Schales option
pricing model to calculate the fair value of its stock options. The Black-Scholes model requires assumpfions based on
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management’s judgment regarding, among others, the volatility of the Company's stock, the expected forfeiture rate, the
expected life of the stock award and the Company's dividend yield. The Company primarily uses historical data to determine the
assumptions to be used in the Black-Scholes model and has no reason to believe that future data is likely to differ from historical
data. However, changes in the assumplions to reflect future stock price volatility, future dividend payments and future stock
award exercise experience may result in a material change to the fair value calculation of share-based awards. While
management believes the Company’s assumptions used are appropriate, significant differences in the Company's actual
experience or significant changes in the Company’s assumptions, including the volatility of the Company’s stock, the expected
forfeiture rate, the expected life of the stock award and the dividend yield, may materially affect the Company’s future stock-
based compensation expense.

The Compony granits certain types of restricled stock granis which involved market conditions for determining vesfing.
These awards vest based on total shareholder return over a certain period compared to the shareholder return of other peer
companies. The concept of modeling is used with such awards because observable market prices for these types of awards
are not avdilable. The modeling technique that is generally considered to most appropriately value this type of award is the
Monte Carlo simulation. These models are considered 1o be a more refined estimate of fair value for awards with market
conditions than the Black-Scholes model. The Monte Carlo simulation requires assumptions based on management's
judgment regarding, ameng others, the volatility of the Company’s stock, the expected forfeiture rate, the correlation rate
of the Company's stock price compared to peer companies and the Company’s dividend yield. The Company uses histerical
data to determine the assumptfions to be used in the Monte Carlo simulation and has no reason to believe that future data is
likely to differ from historical data. However, changes in the assumptions to refiect future stock price volatility, future dividend
payments, future forfeitures and future correlation experience may result in a material change to the fair value calculation of
share-based awards. While management believes the Company’s assumptions used are appropriate, significant differences in
the Companys actual experience or significant changes in the Company’s assumptions, including the volatility of the
Company's stock, the expected forfeiture rate, the expected life of the stock award, the correlation rale and the dividend
yield, may materially affect the Company’s future stock-based compensation expense.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

August 31,  August 31,

2007 2006 % Change
{In millions, except for %'s)
Cashandcashequivalents. . .. ......... .. ... ... ............... $ 43.0 $ 507 (15.21%
Working capital, excludingcash . ........ ... .. ... .. ... ..., 375.5 353.1 6.3
bongtermdebt. ... ... ... 123.1 120.7 20
Stockholders' equity . . . .. ... ... ... 427.0 403.5 58

As of August 31, 2007, the current ratio was 2.9 to 1 and working capital, excluding cash, was $375.5 million. Net cash
provided from operations was $64.8 million in 2007 compared with $19.0 million in 2006. The improvement from last year was
due primarily to a substantial reduction of inventory driven by efforts to reduce inventory across the Company. Cash used in
investing activities was $38.0 million in 2007 compared with $26.7 million in 2006. The $11.3 million increase was mainly due to
a business acquisition in 2007. Cash used in financing aclivities decreased $8.4 millian due primarily to the decrease in the
Company’s purchases of its common stock. In addition, in fisca) 2006, the Company refinanced its debt which involved
borrowing from a new credit facility to prepay its outslanding senior notes.

The Company's cash and cash equivalents were $43.0 million at August 31, 2007, o decreose of $7.6 million from
August 31, 2006. The decrease is primarily due to an increase in working capital, excluding cash. The increase in working
capital, excluding cash, is due primarily to the increase in European accounts receivable, which is offset by o significant
decrease in inventory.

Accounts receivable increased in 2007 by $44.8 million, or 16.4%. The translation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the
euro, accounted for $14.2 million of the increase in accounts receivable. Excluding the translation effect, the increase in
accounts receivable was $30.6 million, or 11.2%. The increase in accounts receivable, excluding the translation effect, was the
result of higher sales and increased days sales in accounts receivable from 58 days to 62 days, which is driven by the mix of
customers.

3




Inventory decreased in 2007 by $23.0 million or 8.1%. The translation effect of foreign currencies increased inventory by
$11.5 million, therefore, inventory decreased $34.5 million excluding the translation effect. The Company's days sales in
inventory improved from 73 days to 60 days. This change is driven by efforts to reduce inventory across the Company.

On June 21, 2007, the Company acquired the Della Plast Group, a European color masterbatch manufaciurer with
operations in Sweden and Belgium. The acquisition included the purchase of 100% of the common shares of the Belgian
operations of Delta Plast and certain assets and liabilities of the Swedish operations. The Company organized the two
operational locations as two separate wholly owned subsidiaries of A. Schulman Plastics, BVBA in ils European segment,
Deltaplast NV for the Belgium company and Dellaplast AB for the Sweden operations. The acquisition is expedied to expand the
Company’s offerings of color masterbatches in its European segment. In connection with this acquisition, the Company paid
approximately 81.3 million Swedish Krona (approximately $11.8 million at the acquisition date) which was paid primarily in
cash. The purchase price also includes a potential deferred payment that could be paid over a three year period which is based
on certgin ferms in the purchase agreement. The purchase price allocation included in the accompanying consolidated
financial staferments for this acquisifion is subject to normal course warking capital adjustments and may be adjusted as these
adjusiments have not been agreed upon. The fofal cost included direct acquisition costs. Goodwill recognized in connection
with this acquisition amounted to approximately $3.8 million as of August 31, 2007, of which approximately $2.6 millicn is
expected to be fully deduciible for tax purposes. The results of operations and financial position for the acquired companies are
included in the consolidated financial stalements of the Company. The eamings from the acquired companies had a minimal
effect on consolidated earnings for fiscal 2007.

Capifal expenditures for the year ended August 31, 2007 were $29.4 million compared with $29.2 million last year. The
major components of the capital expenditures included machinery and equipment at the Company’s France and Belgium
plants. In addition, approximately $9.0 million of the capital expenditures for the Company were related to the new A. Schulman
Invision, tnc. company, including the first full production line and the start of construction on the first Invision® product dedicaled
plant. The Company anticipates approximately $40 million to $50 million in capital expenditures in fiscal 2008, which includes
some spending related to the construction of a new plant in the North American segment. The new plant is intended 1o release
some capacity in the Company's Mexican facility for additional Mexican and South American sales.

On February 28, 2006 the Company completed a refinancing in which it replaced a $100.0 million credit facility with a new
$260.0 million credit facility {“Credit Facility"). The Credit Facility consists of $260.0 million of revolving credit lines of which the
U.S. dollar equivalent of $160.0 million is available to certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries for borrowings in euros or
other currencies. The Credil Facility, which mafures on February 28, 2011, contains certain covenanis that, among other things,
limit the Company’s ability 1o incur indebtedness and enfer info certain fransactions beyond specified fimits. The Company must
also maintain @ minimum interest coverage ratio and may not exceed a maximum net debt leverage ratio. As of August 31,
2007, there were no covenant violations under the Credit Facility.

Interest rates on the Credit Facility are based on LIBOR or EURIBOR (depending on the borrowing currency) plus a spread
determined by the Company’s total leverage ratio. The Company also pays a facility fee on the commitments whether used or
unused. As of August 31, 2007 there was $23.6 million outstanding under the Credil Facility.

During fiscal 2006, the Company used proceeds from the Credit Facility to prepay its $50.0 million in 7.27% senior notes
which were due in 2009. In conjunction with the prepayment of these notes the Company recorded a loss on exfinguishment of
debt of approximately $5.0 million, which included a make-whole provision of approximately $3.3 million, interest rate swap
termination fee of $1.5 million and the write-off of related deferred debi costs and deferred interest. Deferred interest related to
proceeds deferred in 1999 when the Company completed an interest rate lock effectively reducing the annual interest rate from
7.27% to 7.14% over the life of the notes. In connection with the prepayment of debt and termination of this interest rate lock, the
remaining balance of these defermed proceeds of $0.2 million was written off.

On March 1, 2006, the Company issued senior guaranteed notes [“Senior Notes™) in the private placement market
consisting of the following:

+ $30.0 million of Senior Noles in the United States, maturing on March 1, 2013, with a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus
80 bps

+ €50.3 million of Senior Notes in Germany, maturing on March 1, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 4.485% ("Euro Noles®}.
The Euro Notes approximate $68.6 million at August 31, 2007,
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At August 31, 2007, the fair market value of the Euro Notes is approximately €47.0 million, which approximaies
$64.1 million.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company's wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and contain covenants
substantially identical to those in the $260.0 million revolving credit facility. As of August 31, 2007, there were no covenant
violations under the Senior Notes.

Both the Credit Facility and the Senior Notes are supported by up to 65% of the capital stock of certain of the Company's
directly owned foreign subsidiaries.

The proceeds from the Euro Notes, available cash, and borrowings on the Credit Facility were used to fund the
$143.8 millicn repatriation from Europe completed in March 2006. The Company used these repatriated proceeds to fund
the self-tender offer which cost approximately $50.2 million including $0.5 million in fees diredly related 1o the tender offer.

Charges of $2.6 million related to the issuance of the Senior Notes and the Credit Facility in fiscal 2006 were deferred and
are being amoriized over the contractual lives of the Senior Notes and the Credit Facility, respectively.

The Company had approximately $8.5 million of uncollateralized short-term lines of credit from various domestic banks at
August 31, 2007 and 2006. There were no borrowings at August 31, 2007 and $8.5 million outstanding at August 31, 2006
under these lines of credit.

The Company had approximately $46.9 million and $58.0 million of uncollateralized short-term foreign lines of credit
available to its subsidiaries ot August 31, 2007 and August 31, 2006, respectively. There was $2.8 million and $2.5 million
outstanding under these lines of credit at August 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Company has approximately $1.3 million in capilal lease obligations, of which $0.4 million is current, The current
portion of capital lease obligations was $18,000 In fiscal 2006. The Company's current portion of capital lease obligations is
included in other accrued liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company’s unfunded pension liability is approximately $66.7 million at August 31, 2007. This amounit is primarily due
to an unfunded plan of $50.5 million maintained by the Company's German subsidiary. Under this plan, no separate vehicle is
required to accumulate assets to provide for the payment of benefits. The benefits are paid directly by the Company to the
participants. It is anficipated that the German subsidiary will generate sufficient funds from operations to pay these benefils In
the future,

The Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts o reduce its exposure for amounts due or payable in foreign
currencies. These contracts limit the Company's exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Any gains or
losses associated with these contracts as well as the offsetting gains or losses from the underlying assets or liabilities are
recognized on the foreign currency transaction line in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company estimates that a
10% change in foreign exchange rates at August 31, 2007 would have changed the fair value of the contracts by approximaiely
$1.3 million. Changes in the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts are substantially offset by changes in the fair value
of the hedged positions. The Company does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes or utilize any other
types of derivative instruments.
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A summary of the Company’s future obligations subsequent to August 31, 2007 are presented below:

Less than ) Yeaor 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years Total
{in thousands)
Short Term Debt . ... ......... $ 2,762 5 — 8 — $ — $ 2762
long Termdebt. .. ....... ... — — 23,617 98,572 122,189
Capital Lease Obligations . . .. . .. 41 863 27 — 1.301
QOperating Lease Obligations . . . . . 3,619 4,732 2,779 175 11,305
Purchase Obligationslal .. ...... 79,946 — — — 79,946
Pension Obligations . . . . ... . ... 3,100 — — — 3,100
Postretirement Benefit
Obligations . . .. ........... 733 1,672 1,965 6,489 10,859
Deferred Compensation
Obligafions . . . . ........... 575 5177 2,696 1,785 10,233
Interest Expense . . ... ... .. ... 6,963 13,926 10,757 10,402 42,048
$98,109 $26,370 $41,841 $117.423 $283,743

{a) Purchase obligations include purchase orders for inventory.

Operating lease infermation is provided in the Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in ltem 8 of this
Report. The aggregate future minimum rental commitment for non-cancelable leases, excluding obligations for taxes,
insurance, efc. was $11.3 million ot August 31, 2007.

The Company’s outstanding commercial commitments at August 31, 2007 are not material fo the Company’s financial
position, liquidity or results of operations except as discussed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing
in ITEM 8 of this Report.

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

During the year ended August 31, 2007, the Company paid cash dividends aggregating to $0.58 per share. The fotal
amount of these dividends was $16.1 million. Cash flow has been sufficient to fund the payment of these dividends. The
Cormpany paid $0.01 per common share on February 1, 2007, fo shareholders of record on January 19, 2007, in redemption of
the special stock purchase rights previously issued to the Company’s shareholders pursuant to the Rights Agreement dated as
of January 26, 2006 between the Company and National City Bank as Rights Agent, thereby redeeming in full and canceling all
such rights and terminating the Rights Agreement. The amount of this redemption was $0.3 million, which is included in the
total amount of dividends paid during the year ended August 31, 2007 but is not included in the $0.58 cash dividends per share.

for the year ended August 31, 2007, the Company issued 742,528 common shares upon the exercise of employee stock
options and 228,250 common shares were issued o employees under the restricted stock plon. The lotal amount received
from the exercise of the stock options was $13.9 million.

On April 25, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up 1o .75 million
shares of its outstanding common stock (the “Repurchase Program”) representing approximately 23.3% of the Company's
outstanding shares al the authorization date. It is anficipated that the Company will complete the Repurchase Program through
open market repurchases from lime to time. The number of shares 1o be repurchased and the timing of repurchases will
depend upon the prevailing market prices and any other considerations that may, in the opinion of the Board of Directors or
management, affect the advisability of repurchasing shares. The Repurchase Program replaced the Company's prior
repurchase authorization, under which approximately 1.7 million shares had remained authorized for repurchase. During
fiscal 2007, the Company purchased 770,266 shares of its common stock under the Repurchase Program of an average price
of $23.46 excluding commissicns. Under the Repurchase Program the Company hos approximately 4.0 million shares still
available to be repurchased.

The assels and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using current exchange
rates. Income statement ifems are transtated at average exchange rates prevailing during the period. The resulting translation
adjustments are recorded in the “accumulated other comprehensive income” account in stockholders’ equity. The continued
weakness of the U.5. dollar during the year ended August 31, 2007 increased this account by $16.2 million. Based on past
performance and current expectations, Management believes the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, investments, and
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cash generated from operations will safisfy the Company’s working capital needs, capital expenditures, contractual obligations
and other liquidity requirements associated with operations through at least the next 12 months. Additional common stock
repurchases would generally be funded through incremental borrowing.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB interprelation No. 48, ["FIN 487, Accounting for Uncerlainty in Income Toxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes”. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertain income
tox positions that are recognized in a company’s financial statements. FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive model for how a
company should recognize, measure, present and disclose in its financial statements uncertain tax positions that the company
has taken or expects to fake on a fax return. Under the interpretation, the financial statements will reflect expected future tax
consequences of such positions presuming the taxing authorities’ full knowledge of the position and all relevant facts, but
without considering fime values, The Company adopted FIN 48 on September 1, 2007, Tox positions taken in prior years are
being evaluated under FIN 48 and the Company anficipates it will increase the opening balance of retained eamings as of
September 1, 2007 by up to $2.5 million for tax benefits not previously recognized under historical practice.

On September 15, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staternent No. 157, ("SFAS 1577, Fair Value Measurement. SFAS 157
addresses standardizing the measurement of fair value for companies who are required to use g fair value measure of
recognition for recognition or disclosure purposes. The FASB defines fair value as “the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measure date.” The Company is
required fo adopt SFAS 157 in fiscal year 2009. The Company Is currently evaluating the impact, if any, of SFAS 157 on its
financial position, resulis of operations and cash flows.

On September 29, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 158, ("SFAS 1587), Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. SFAS 158 requires companies fo recognize the funded status of defined benefit
pension and other postretirement plans as a net asset or fiability in its financial statements. In addition, disclosure requirements
related to such plans are affected by SFAS 158. As required by SFAS 158, the Company used a prospective approach in its
adoption of SFAS 158. As of August 31, 2007, the Company recognized the funded status of its defined benefil pension and
postretirement benefit plans. The adopfion of SFAS 158 resulted in a decrease of $5.4 million on a pre-tax basis and a decrease
of $2.8 million on an after-tax basis to the Company's accumulated other comprehensive income. The adoption of SFAS 158 did
not impact the Company's compliance with its debt covenants of its borrowing arrangements, cash position or results of
operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, ("SFAS 1597, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities — Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS 159 permits companies to choose, at
specified election dates, to measure many financial instruments and certain other ilems af fair value that are not currently
measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the foir value option has been elected would be
reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Upfront costs and fees related to items for which the fair value option is
elected shall be recognized in earnings as incurred and not deferred. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 159 in fiscal year
2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, of SFAS 159 on its financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this report may constilute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Federal securities
laws, These statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly 1o historic or current facts. They use such
words as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “exped”, “project”, “intend”, “plan”, “believe”, and other words and terms of similar meaning
in connection with any discussion of future operaling or financial performance. These forward-looking statements are based on
currently availoble information, but are subject to a variety of uncertainties, unknown risks and other factors concerning the
Company’s operations and business environment, which are difficult to predict and are beyond the control of the Company.
Impertant factors that could cause aclual results to differ materially from those suggested by these forward-looking statements,
and that could adversely affect the Company's future financial performance, include, but are not limited to, the following:

+ Worldwide and regional economic, business and polilical conditions, including centinuing economic uncertainties in
some or all of the Company's major product markets;
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* Fluctuations in the value of currencies in major areas where the Company operates, including the U.5. dollar, euro,
U K, pound sterling, Canadian dollar, Mexican peso, Chinese yuan and Indonesian rupiah;

+ Fluctuations in the prices of sources of energy or plastic resins and other raw materials;
¢ Changes in customer demand and requirements;

» Escalation in the cost of providing employee health care;

» The outcome of any legal claims known or unknown; and

+ The performance of the North American automotive market.

Additional risk factors are set forth in ITEM 1A of this Report. The risks and uncertainties identified above are not the only
risks the Company faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that it believes fo be
immaterial also may adversely affect the Company. Should any known or unknown risks or uncertainties develop info actual
events, or underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, these developments could have material adverse effecis on the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company conducts business on a multinational basis in a variety of foreign currencies. The Company’s exposure to
market risk far changes in foreign currency exchange rates arises from anticipated iransactions from international trade and
repatriation of foreign earnings. The Company’s principle foreign currency exposures relate to the euro, U. K. pound sterling,
Canadian dollar, Mexican peso, Chinese yuan, and indonesian rupich.

The Company enters into forward foreign exchange confracts to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in related foreign
currencies. These contracts are with maior financial institutions and the risk of loss is considered remote. The total value of open
contracts and any risk to the Company as a result of these arrangements is not material to the Cormpany’s financial position,
liquidity or results of operations.

The Company’s exposure to market risk from changes in interest rates relates primarily to its debt obligations. Interest on
the Revolving Facility is based on the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) for U.S. doflar borrowings and the Eurs Interbank
OHfered Rate (EURIBOR) for euro borrowings. At August 31, 2007, the Company had $23.6 million borrowed againstits Revolving
Facility. Borrowing costs may fluctuate depending upon the volatility of LIBOR and amounis borrowed.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of A. Schulman, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under tem 15{al(1) present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial posifion of A. Schulman, Inc. and its subsidiaries at August 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 31, 2007 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addifion, in our opinion, the financial statement
schedule listed in the index appearing under lterm 15(al(2) presenis fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth
therein when read in conjunction with the relaled consolidated financial statements. Alse in our opinion, the Company
maintained, In all material respedts, effective internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2007, based on criteria
eslablished in infernal Control — Integrated Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway
Commission {COSO}. The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements and financial stalement
schedute, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporfing and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Conirol Over Financial
Reporting under Item 9A. Qur respensibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement
schedule, and on the Company’s internal conirol over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance wilh the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
materia! missiatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on afest basis, evidence supporting the amounis and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and festing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts
for defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans as of August 31, 2007 (Note 7} and stock-based compensation as of
September 1, 2005 (Note 9).

A company's infernal control over financial reporting is a process designed fo provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepled accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financiol reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the ransactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; fiil provide reasonable assurance that fransactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial stalements in accordance with generally accepled accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only In accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (i} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or fimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Becquse of its inherent limitations, internal conkro! over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatenents. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 1o fulure periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deleriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Cleveland, Ohio
October 30, 2007

38




A. SCHULMAN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended August 31,

2007 2006

2005

{in thousands except share and per
share dota)

Netsales. . . . ... .. $ 1,787,056 % 1,616,386 % 1,433,196
Costof sales . . ... ... e 1,574,234 1,396,440 1,240,557
Selling, general and administrafive expenses. .. .. ... ... . e 159,274 148,529 137,848
INfErest BN . . . .. . e 8118 6,234 3,704
Foreign currency ransaction [0SSes . . . . .. ... ... 219 2,136 2,824
Minority Inberast . .. .. e 1,027 1116 1,139
Interest INCOME . . . . ... e {2,306} {3,310) 11,446)
L0 T T T {1,832 {1,892) (948)
Restructuring expense — North America . . ... . ... ... ... . L 1.048 —_ 182
Loss on extinguishment of debt. . . .. .. ... ... ... L — 4,986 —
1,739,782 1,554,239 1,383,860
Incomebeforetaxes ... ... ... .. . ... .. ... ... 47,274 62,147 49,336
Provision for U.S. and foreignincomefaxes . . .. ..... ... ... ... ... ...... 24,655 29,485 17,243
Netincome . . ... ... ... ... $ 22619 $ 32662 % 32,093
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding:
BOSIC . . e 27,032,348 29,961,580 30,619,780
Ditted . . o e 27,369,408 30,394,210 31,049,790
Earnings per share of common stock:
BasIC . . e $ 083 % 1.09 % 1.05
Diluted . . .. e $ 082 % 1.07 % 1.03

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC,.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
August 31, August 31,
2007 20046

{in thousands except
share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . .. . e $ 43,045 $ 50,662
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $9,056 in 2007 and $9,409 in 2006 . . . . . N4 272,929
Inventories, average cost or market, whicheverislower . ... ... ... . Lo 263,047 286,079
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . .. ... .. L 16,163 17,678
Totalcumment assets. . . . . . . .. . ... 640,029 627,348
Other assets:
Cash surrender value of lifeinsurance, . . ... ... 2,23 1,800
Deferred charges and other assets . . . . . .. .. ... 21,784 20,444
Goodwill . . . .. 2,350 5,392
INtangible GSSeIS . . . . . ... 174 1,382
33,539 29,018
Property, plant and equipment, ot cost:
Land and IMProvements . .. . . .. L 16,768 15,778
Buildings and leasehold improvements ... ... ... 145,952 136,526
Machinery and equipmEnt. . . . . L 352,044 317,499
Furniture and fiXtures . ... . 38,955 35918
Construchion iN Progress . . . . .. . .. o ¥3.035 11,079
566,754 516,800
Accumuloted depreciation and investment grants of $1,322 in 2007 ond $1,119in2006 . . . . .. ... .. 366,207 329,921
200,547 186,879

$874,115 $ 843,245

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHCLDERS® EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Notes payable . . . . .. .. $ 2,762 $ 10,976
Accounts paYabIE. . . . ... e 141,838 135,930
U.S. and foreign income taxes payable . . . ... Lo 11,544 14,708
Accrued payrolls, taxes and related benefits. . ... ... o 32,249 30,866
Other accrued liabilifies . . . . . .. . e 33,112 31,081

Jotal curvent llabilities. . . . . ... . 221,505 223,561
Long-termdebt . . ... 123,080 120,730
Other long-term ligbiliies . .. ... ... ... ... . ... .. ... ... 91,316 82,482
Deferred INCOME TAXES . . . . . . ... .t 3,640 7,196
Minority inferest . . . . .. 5,561 5,784
Commitments and confingencies . .. .. .. ... ... L — —_
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, 5% cumulotive, $100 par value, authorized, issued and outstanding - 10,564 shares in

2007 and 2006, . . ... 1,057 1,057
Special stock, 1,000,000 shares authorized, none outstanding . . .. ... ... ... ... ... . ... — —
Common stock, $1 par value, authorized — 75,000,000 shares, issued — 41,784,640 shares in 2007

and 40,707,018 shares in 2006. . . .. ... .. i 41,785 40,707
Other capital . . . . ... 103,828 86,894
Accumulated other comprehensive income. . .. .. .. L e 50,092 32,893
Retained @AMINGS . . . . ... e 509,415 502,998
Treasury stock, af cost, 14,113,977 shares in 2007 and 13,343,711 shares in 2006. . . . ... .. ...... (279,164} {261,057}
Common stockholders” eqQUIY . . . . . . .. .. 425,956 402,435

Total stockholders equity . .. . ... ... ... ... 427,013 403,492

$874,115 $ 843,245

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Accumulated
Other Unearned Total
Preferred Common ©Other Comprehensive Rotained Treasury Stock Grant Stockholders’
Stock Stock Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Stock Compensation Equity
{In thousands except per share dota)
Balance at Avgust 31,2004 .. .. $1,057 $39,633 % 69,812 $18.643 $473,540 $(164,231) $3,2171 $435,237
Comprehensive income for 2005
Net incamne for 2005 . . . . . .. .. 32,093
Foreign currency translation
gain. ................. 10,260
Minimum pension ligbility
adjustment {ret of tax of
SLOS6}. . ... .. ... {2,351)
Total comprehensive income . . 40,002
Cash dividends paid or accrued:
Preferred stock, $5 per share. . . . 53) {53)
Common stock, $0.57 per share . . 17,582 (17,582)
Purchase of treasury stock. . . . . .. [1,001] {1,001)
Stock options exercised, , . .. .. .. 302 3,7%0 4,092
Issue of restricted stock. . . . ... .. 54 (54 —
Grant of restricted stock .. . _ .. .. 1,981 1,981} —
Forfeiture of restricted stock . . . . . . 8931 893 —
Non-cash stock based
compensation . . ........... 337 337
Amortization of restricted stock . . . . 1,071 1,071
Balance af August 31, 2005 . . .. 1,057 19,989 TAST3 26,552 487,998 (165,232} 13,234} 462,103
Comprehensive income for 2006:
Net income for 2006 . . . . ... .. 32,662
Foreign currency translation
gain. . ... 6,830
Minimum pension liobility
adjustment inet of tox of
214 . ... L {489}
Total comprehensive income . . 39,003
Cash dividends paid or accrued:
Preferred siock, $5 per share. . . . (53) (53]
Common stock, $0.58 per share. . (17,609} {17,609}
Purchase of freasury stock . . . . . .. 195,825) {95,825}
Stock options exercised. . . . ... .. 650 9,150 9,800
Issue of resfricted stock. . . ... ... 68 [68] -
Non-cash stock based
compensation . . . .......... 4,525 4,525
Reclassification due to adoption of
SFAS123R ... ....... ... .. 13,234} 3,234 —
Amartization of restricted stock . . . . 1,548 1,548
Balance at August 31, 2006 . . .. 1,057 40,707 86,894 32,893 502,998 {261,057) — 403,492
Comprehensive income for 2007:
Net income for 2007 . .. ... ... 22,619
Foreign currency translation
gain. . ... 16,195
Minimum pension [iability
adjustment inet of tax of
$263). ... ... ... 3,806
Total comprehensive income . . 42,620
Adjustment to initiglly upfly
5FAS 158 [net of tax of
$2,585). .. ... ... .. ... [2,802) {2.802)
Cash dividends paid or accrued:
Preferred stock, $5 per share. . . . {53 {534
Common stock, $0.58 per share. . (16,149} 116,149)
Purchase of freasury stock . . . . . .. 118,107 18,107
Stock options exercised. . . ... ... 743 13173 13,916
Issue of restricted stock, . ... . ... 335 (335) —
Non-cash stock based
compensafion . . ... ... . ..., 1,851 1,851
Amortization of restricted stock . . L. 2,245 2,245
Balance at August 31, 2007 . . .. 51,057 $41,785 5103,628 $50,092 $509,415 ${279.164) § — $427.013

* Includes approximately $0.3 million related to the redemplion of the special stock purchase rights which were paid at a price
of $0.01 per share for shareholders of record on January 19, 2007. This $0.01 is not included in the $0.58 per share for
common stock dividends.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consclidated financial statements.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Yaar Ended August 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands}

Provided from (used in) operafing activities:
Nl ICOMIE o oot e e e e $22,619 § 32662 % 32,093
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided from {used in) aperating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . . . .. ... ... 25,802 2492 25,082
Deferred tax Provision . . . ... .. .. ... .. {1,865) 1,552 {3,632)
Pension and other deferred compensation. . .. ... .. .. ... .. ... oL 11,347 11,019 11,89
Postretirement benefit obligation . .. .. ... .. (2,837 3,339 2,623
Minority interest in net income of subsidiaries . . .. ... ... L o o, 1,027 1,116 1,139
Restructuring charges, including accelerated depreciation of $1,071 in fiscal 2007 . . . . . .. 2,119 — 182
Proceeds of insurance settlements . .. ... .. L L 750 — —
Proceeds from life insurance benefits . . ... ... ... — 580 —
Non-cash items related fo loss on extinguishment of debt .. . . ... ... ... o L — 180 —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable . . L . L {29,088} (41,193 {17,643)
I OM S . . . . .. . e e 37,942 (45,815) 4,069
Accounts payable . . ... i {3,018l 30,752 5019
Restrucluring payments . . ... ... ... .. 974) — {598]
BNCOME JAXES . . . . . ittt e e e e e - {2,006} (1,433) {4,051}
Accrued payrolls and other accrued figbilities. . .. ... ... .. ... L oL 789 6,154 2,091
Changes in other assets and other long-term liabilities . . ... .............. ... .. 2,222 {4,830} {2,622)
Net cash provided from {used in} operating activities . . .. ............. ... ... .. 64,829 18,995 55,643
Provided from (used in) investing activities:
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment . .. ... ... L oL oL 129,379) {29,239} (26,944)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment . . . ... .. ... Lo 1,352 2,548 631
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired. . . . ... ... ... oo L 111,277 — —
Proceeds of insurance setflements. . . . .. . .. . L 1,295 — —
Net cash used ininvesting activities. . . . .. ... .. ... ... ... ... ... . ... .. ... {38,009} {26,691) (26,263}
Provided from {used in) financing activities:
Cashdividends paid . . .. .. ... . L {16,202 117,662 {17,635}
Increase [decreaselinnotes payable . . . . ... 9,372 9,426 1,479
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities, . ... ... ... L 63,076 131,318 24,000
Repayments on revolving credit facilities . . . ... ... ... oo 66,8711 {118,989] 110,536}
Proceeds from issuance of 4.485% and floating rate seniornotes. .. ... ... ... L. — 91,943 —
Prepayments of 7.27% senior NOIES . . . . . . . . . ... — {50,000) —
Payment of debtissuance costs . . ... ... — {2,640 —
Cash distributions to minority shareholders . . .. ... ... ... ... Lo L 1,2500 (6001 (900)
Exercise of stock optons . . .. . . .. 13916 9,800 4,092
Purchases of treasury $10CK . . . . . . .. . 118,107) {95,825} {1,001)
Net cash provided from (used in financing aciivities. . .. ... ... ... ... ... .. {34,810} 143,229) 1501)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash. .. ... . ... . L 373 (742} 552
Net increase (decrease) In cash and cash equivalents. . .. .. .. ... ... ... . ... .. .. {7,617 151,667 29,431
Cash and cosh equivalents at beginningofyear. . ... ... . ... ... .. ... L 50,662 102,329 72,898
Cash and cash equivalentsatend ofyear . . . . ... ... ... ... ... ... L. $43,045 % 50662 5102329
Cash paid during the year for:
1311 - I $ 7829 $ 4941 § 3818
ICOME TAXES . . . . . oottt $31,230 % 33,175 $ 32524

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidaled financial statements.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consclidated financial statements include the accounts of A. Schulman, Inc. {the "Company”] and its domestic and
foreign subsidiaries in which a confrolling interest is maintained. All significant intercompany fransactions have been
eliminated.

The Company is engaged in the sale of plastic resins in various forms, which are used as row materials by its customers, To
identify reportable segments, the Company considered its operating structure and the types of information subject to regular
review by its President and Chief Executive Officer, who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker. Cn this basis, the Company
operates primarily in two geographic segments, North America and Europe, including Asia {"Europe®).

Minority interest represents a 30% equity position of Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Co. in a parinership with the Company and
a 35% equity posifion of PT. Prima Polycon Indah in an Indonesian joint venture with the Company.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepied in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabiities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting pericd. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

All highly liquid investments purchased with on original maturity of three months or less are considered to be cash
equivalents. Such investments amounted to $11.0 million at August 31, 2007 and $13.7 million at August 31, 2006. Investments
with maturities between three and twelve months are considered to be short-term investments. Investments are placed with
numerous financial institulions which management believes to have acceplable credit ratings. The recorded amount of these
investments approximates fair value.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. Management records an
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based on the current and projected credit quality of the Company's customers,
historical experience, customer payment history, expected trends and other factors that affect collectibility. Changes in these
faciors or changes in economic circumstances could result in changes to the allowance for doubiful accounts. The Company
reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts on a periodic basis. Trade accounts receivables are charged off against the
dllowance for doubtful accounts when the Company determines it is probable the account receivable will not be collected.
Trade accounts receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts, reflect the net reclizable value of receivables, and
approximate fair volue, The Company does not have any off-balance sheet exposure related 1o its customers.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Compony's accounting policy regarding revenue recognition is to recognize revenue when products are shipped to
vnaffiliated customers and both fitle and the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred.

The Company provides tolling services as a fee for processing of material provided and owned by customers. On some
occasions, the Company is required 1o provide certain amounts of its materials, such as additives or packaging. These
materials are charged to the customer as an addition to the tolling fees. The Company recognizes revenues from tolling
services and related materials when such services are performed. The only amounts recorded as revenue related to tolling are
the processing fees and the charges related to materials provided by the Company.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

DEPRECIATION

It is the Company’s policy to depreciale the cost of property, plant and equipment over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, or for leasehold improvements over the applicable lease term, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives
used in the computation of depreciation are as follows:

Buildings and leasehold improvements . . . ... .. .. 7 to 40 years
Machinery and equipment . . . ... L e 510 10 years
Furniture and fiXtUreS . . . . . . . s 5to 10 years

The cost of property sold or otherwise disposed of is eliminated from the property accounts and the related reserve
accounts. Gains or losses are recognized as appropriate when sales of property occur.

Maintenance and repair costs are charged against income. The cost of renewdals and betterments is capitalized in the
property accounts.

INVENTORIES

The Company and its subsidiaries do not distinguish between raw materials and finished goods because numerous
products that con be sold as finished goods are also used as raw materials in the production of other inventory items.
Management establishes an inventory reserve based on historical experience and amounis expected 1o be realized for slow-
moving and obsolete inventary.

GOODWILL

The Company does not amorlize goodwill. However, the Company conducts a formal impairment test of goodwill al the
reporting unit level on an annual basis and between annual tesis if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The Company compleled its annual impairment
test of goodwill as of February 28, 2007 which resulted in no impairment foss recognized. During fiscal 2007, the Company did
not identify any other events that required an impairment test.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Long-lived assels, except goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment when circum-
stances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable, or at least annually. Recoverability of assets to be held
and used is measured by a comparisen of the carrying amount of the asset to future net cash flows estimated by the Company
to be generated by such assets. If such assels are considered to be impaired, the impairment fo be recognized is the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair volue of the assels. Assels to be disposed of are recorded at the lower
of carrying value or estimaled net redlizable value. The Company completed its annual impairment test of long-lived assels
which resulted in no impairment loss recognized. The Company owns a building in Orange, Texas which has a net book value
of approximately $1.5 million at August 31, 2007 and is currently designated as an asset held-for-sale. This building is included
in property, plant and equipment in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are recognized during the period in which transactions enter into the determination of financial statement
income. Accordingly, deferred taxes are provided for temporary differences between the book and tax bases of assets and
liabilities. A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not
be redlized. No faxes are provided on earnings which are permanently reinvested.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continved)

RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company has several defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans covering cerfain employees in the
U.S. and in foreign countries. For certain plans in the U.S., pension funding is based on an amount paid fo frust funds at an
agreed rate for each hour for which employees are paid. Generally, the defined benefit pension plans accrue the current and
prior service costs annually and funding is not required for all plans,

The Company also has retirement plans for its North American salaried employees for which contributions are determined
at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The financial position and results of operations of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are measured using local currency
as the functional currency. Assels and liabilifies of these subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each
reporting period end. Income statement accounts are franslated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the year.

Accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity includes translation adjustments arising from the use of
different exchange rates from period fo period.

RECLASSIFICATION

Certain items previously reported in specific financial staterment caplions have been reclassified to conform to the 2007
presentation.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company accounts for derivatives under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard [SFAS) No. 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activilies {"SFAS 133"} as amended and interpreled. SFAS 133 requires all derivatives,
whether designated in hedging relationships or not, 1o be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. The forward foreign
exchange contracts were adjusted to their fair market value through the income statement. Gains or losses on forward
contracts that hedge specific transactions are recognized in the consolidated statement of income offsetting the underlying
foreign currency gains or losses. Currently, the Company does not designate any of these confracts as hedges. In 2004 the
Company entered info an interest-rate swap agreement which was designated as a fair value hedge in accordance with
SFAS 133. This inferest-rate swap was terminated during 2006 in connection with the prepayment of the senior noles, as
discussed in Note 4.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

On September 1, 2005, the Company adopfed SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004}, ("SFAS 123R’), Share-Based Payment, which
requires the Company o measure all employee stock-based compensation awards using a fair value method and record the
related expense in the consolidated financial statements. The Company efected to use the modified prospediive transition
method. The modified prospective transition method requires that compensation cost be recognized in the consolidaled
financial statements for all awards granted after the date of adoption as well as for existing awards for which the requisite
service has not been rendered as of the date of adoption and requires that prior periods not be restated. All periods presented
prior to Septernber 1, 2005 were accounted for using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and followed a nominal vesting period approach.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB inferpretation No. 48, ("FIN 487), Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interprefation of FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes™. FIN 48 dlarifies the
accounting for unceriatn income tax posifions that are recognized in @ company's financial statements. FIN 48 prescribes a
comprehensive model for how a company should recognize, measure, present and disclose in its financial statements
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

uncertain tax positions that the company has taken or expects to take on a 1ax return. Under the interpretation, the financial
statements will reflect expected future lax consequences of such positions presuming the taxing autherities’ full knowledge of
the position and oY relevont fadis, but without considering fime values. The Company adopied FIN 48 on Seplember 1, 2007.
Tax positions taken in prior years are being evaluated under FIN 48 and the Company anficipates it will increase the opening
balance of retained eamings as of September 1, 2007 by up to $2.5 million for tax benefits not previously recognized under
historical practice.

On September 15, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 157, {"SFAS 1577, Fair Value Measurement. SFAS 157
addresses stondardizing the measurement of fair value for companies who are required to use a fair value measure of
recognition for recognition or disclosure purposes. The FASB defines fair value as “the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to fransfer a liability in an orderly fransaction between market participants at the measure dale.” The Company is
required to adopt SFAS 157 in fiscal year 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impac, if any, of SFAS 157 on its
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

On September 29, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staterment No. 158, [“SFAS 1587, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension ond Other Postrefirement Plans. SFAS 158 requires companies to recognize the funded status of defined benefit
pension and other postrefirement plans as a net asset or liability in its financial stalements. In addition, disclosure requirements
related to such plans are affected by SFAS 158. As required by SFAS 158, the Company used a prospective approach in its
adoption of SFAS 158. As of August 31, 2007, the Company recognized the funded status of its defined benefit pension and
postretirement benefit plans. The adoption of SFAS 158 resulted in a decrease of $5.4 million on a pre-tax basis and a decrease
of $2.8 million on an after-tax basis to the Company's accumulated other comprehensive income, The adoption of SFAS 158 did
not impact the Company’s compliance with its debt covenants of its borrowing arrangements, cash position or results of
operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, {*SFAS 159°), The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilifies — Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS 159 permits companies to choose, ot
specified election dates, to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently
measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on itemns for which the fair value option has been elected would be
reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Upfront costs and fees related to itemns for which the fair value option is
elected shall be recognized in earnings as incurred and not deferred. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 159 in fiscal year
2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impad, if any, of SFAS 159 onits financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

NOTE 2 — ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts during the years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006 are as
follows:

2007 2006

{ln thousm

Beginning balance . . . ... .. $9.409 $8,227
PrOVISION . . . . 2,019 2,453
Write-offs, net of recoveries. . . .. .. L 2,713) (1,458}
Translafion effect . . . . ... 341 187
Ending balance . ... .. $9.056 $9.409

NOTE 3 — GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the Company is required 1o review goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets at least annually for impairment. Goodwill impairment is tested at the reporting unit level on an
annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continved)

fair value of a reporting uni below its carrying value. No impairment was required to be recorded as a result of the annual
impairment review as of February 28, 2007. During fiscal 2007, the Company did not identify any other events that required an
impairment test.

During fiscal 2007, the Company acquired the Delto Plast Group, a European color masterbatch manutacturer with
operations in Sweden and Belgium. In connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded approximately $3.8 million of
goodwill. See Note 17 for further discussion on the business acquisition.

The carrying amount of goodwill for the European segment was $8.4 million al August 31, 2007 and $4.4 million at
August 31, 2006. The carrying amount of goodwill for the North American segment was $1.0 million at August 31, 2007 and
2006.

The changes in the Company’s carrying value of goodwill during the years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006 are as
follows:
Europe North America Total

{in thousands)
Balance as of August 31, 2005, . . .. . . ... $4,324 $964 $5.288
Translation effect . .. .. ... 104 — 104
Balonce as of August 31,2006, .. .. ... e 4,428 964 5,392
Goodwill recognized from business acquisifion . ... .. .. ... ... oL 3,780 —_ 3,780
Translation effect . . . ... e 178 — 178
Balance as of August 31, 2007, . . ... ... e $8,386 $964 $9,350

l|

Infangible assets were $0.2 million and $1.4 million at August 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The decrease in intangible
assets is primarily related to the adoption of SFAS 158 in fiscal 2007.

NOTE 4 — LONG-TERM DEBT AND CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS

August 31,
2007 2006
{In thousands)
Notes payable, duewithinoneyear . ... ... . . i e $ 2762 $ 10,976
Revolving credit loan, LIBOR, due 2011 . . . ... ... .. .. s 23,617 26,218
Euro notes, 4.485%, due 20016 . . . ... L e 68,572 64,490
Senior notes, LIBOR plus 80 bps, due 2013 .. ... . ... ... ... . .. 30,000 30,000
Capital lease obligolions. . . . .. ... .. e 1,301 40

$126,252  $131,724

On February 28, 2006, the Company completed a refinancing in which it replaced a $100.0 million credit facility with a new
$260.0 million credil facility {"Credit Facility). The Credit Facility consists of $260.0 million of revolving credit lines of which the
U.S. dollar equivalent of $160.0 million is available to certain of the Company's foreign subsidiaries for borrowings in euros or
other currencies. The Credit Facility, which matures on February 28, 2011, conlains certain covenants that, among other things,
lirmit the Company’s ability to incur indebtedness and enter info certain transactions beyond specified limits. The Company must
also maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio and may not exceed a0 maximum net debt leverage rafio,

Interest rates on the Credit Facility are based on LIBOR or EURIBOR {depending on the borrowing currency) plus a spread
determined by the Company’s total leverage ratio. The Company also pays a facility fee on the commitments whether used or
unused. As of August 31, 2007 there wos $23.6 million outstanding under the Credit Facility.

During fiscal 2006, the Company used proceeds from the Credit Facility to prepay its $50.0 million in 7.27% senior notes
which were due in 2009. In conjunction with the prepayment of these notes the Company recorded a toss on extinguishment of
debt of approximately $5.0 million, which included a make-whole provision of approximately $3.3 million, interest rate swap
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termination fee of $1.5 million and the write-off of relaled deferred debt cosis and deferred interest. Deferred interest related to
proceeds deferred in 1999 when the Company completed an interest rate lock effectively reducing the annual interest rate from
7.27% 10 7.14% over the life of the notes. In connection wilh the prepayrment of debt and termination of this imerest rate lock, the
remaining balance of these deferred proceeds of $0.2 million was written off.

On March 1, 2006, the Company issued senior guaranteed notes {“Senior Notes™) in the private placement market
consisting of the following:

+ $30.0 million of Senior Notes in the United States, maturing on March 1, 2013, with a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus
80 bps

* €50.3 million of Senior Notes in Germany, maturing on March 1, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 4.485% (*Euro Notes™).
The Euro Notes approximate $68.6 million at August 31, 2007,

At August 31, 2007, the fair market value of the Euro Noles is approximately €47.0 million, which approximates
$64.1 million.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company’s wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and confain covenants
substantially identical fo those in the $260.0 million revolving credit facility.

Both the Credit Facility and the Senior Notes are supported by up fo 65% of the capital stock of certain of the Company's
directly owned foreign subsidiaries.

The proceeds from the Euro Notes, available cash, and borrowings on the Credit Facility were used to fund the
$143.8 million repatriation from Europe completed in March 2006. During fiscal 2006, the Company used these repatriated
proceeds to fund the self-tender offer which cost approximately $50.2 million including $0.5 million in fees directly related to the
tender offer.

Charges of $2.6 million related to the issuance of the Senior Notes and the Credit Facility in fiscal 2006 were deferred and
are being amortized over the contractual lives of the Senior Notes and the Credit Facility, respectively.

The Company had approximately $8.5 million of uncoliateralized short-term lines of credit from various domestic banks at
August 31, 2007 ond 2006. There were no borrowings at August 31, 2007 and $8.5 million outstanding at August 31, 2006
under these lines of credit.

The Company had approximately $46.9 million and $58.0 million of uncollateralized shor-term foreign lines of credit
available to its subsidiaries al August 31, 2007 and August 31, 2006, respectively. There was $2.8 million and $2.5 million
oulstanding under these lines of credit at August 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,

The Company has approximately $1.3 million in capital lease obligations, of which $0.4 million is curreni. The current
portion of capital lease obligations was $18,000 in fiscal 2006. The Company’s current portion of capital lease obligations is
included in cther accrued liabilities on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Aggregate maturities of debt including capital lease obligations subsequent to August 31, 2007 are as follows:

{In thousands}

Fscal 2008 . . . .. $ 3,173
200 677
2010 . 186
20T e e 23,640
L0 2 4
2003 and thereafter . . . .. 98,572
Totl $126,252
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NOTE 5 —FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS

The Company enfers into forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce its exposure for amounts due or payable in foreign
currencles. These contracts limit the Company's exposure 1o flucluations in foreign currency exchange rates. Any gains or
losses assacialed with these contracts as well as the offsetting gains or losses from the underlying assets or liabililies are
recognized on the foreign currency transaction line in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company does not held or
issue forward foreign exchange contracts for trading purposes. The following table presents a surnmary of forward foreign
exchange contracts outstanding as of August 31, 2007 and August 31, 2006:

2007 2006

Contract Fair Contract Fair
Amount Value Amount Yolue

{in thousands)

Buy Currency:
BUID © o ot e e e $5828 55854 35140 35115
us.dollar ... . e 3,060 3,079 171 N
Brifishpound . . . .. .. s 3,267 3,255 1,961 2,001
$12,155 $12,188 $ 7,272 $ 7.287
Sell Currency:
Britishpound . . . ... .. e $1433 %1435 %1608 5 1,632
US. dollar ... .. e —_ —_— 149 149
Hungaran forint . . . ... L. 3,303 3,194 _ —
BUID . o e 10,080 10,067 25,624 25,638
Canadiandollar . . . ... ... ... ... 17.241 17,289 — —
SWISS fIONC . . . e 2,181 2,184 1,075 1,074

$34,238 334,169 528456 528,493

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts was estimated by obtaining quotes from banks. Forward foreign
exchange contracts are entered into with substantial and creditworthy multinational banks. Generally these contracts have
maturities of fess than twelve months and have no hedging designation.

NOTE 6 — INCOME TAXES

Income (loss] before taxes is as follows:
Yecr Ended August 31,
2007 2006 2005
{in thousands)
U S e $25,298) $122,120) $016,868)
FOTRIgN . o e e 72,572 84,267 66,204

$47,274 $62,147 349336
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The provisions for U.S, and foreign income taxes consist of the following:

Current taxes:

WS
Foreign . .. ... ...

Deferred taxes:

US. e
Foreign . ... ... ...

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates of 52.2% in 2007, 47.4% in 2006,

and 35.0% in 2005, is as follows:

Statutory US. taxrate. . . . ... ... ..... ..., ...

Amount of foreign income faxes less than US. taxes
atstalgtory rate. ... L.

losses withno tox benefit. . ... ..............
Mexico valuation allowance on net asset tox . . .. . .
Settlement of tax claiminCanada . .. ... .. ... ..
Provision for repatriated eamnings. . . . .. ... .. ...
Loss on extinguishment of debt — no tax benefit . . .
Ongoingtaxaudits . ......................
Reduction of German taxrate ..., . ... . ... ...
Ohher,net. .............................

Year Ended August 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

........................ $ W07 $ 83 § 419
........................ 26413 27.850 20,456
26,520 27,933 20,875

........................ 31 28 36
........................ [1,894) 1,524 (3,668)
{1,865) 1,552 (3.632)

324,655 $29.485 317243

2007 2006 2005
% of % of % of
Pretax Pretax Pretax
Amount Income Amount Income Amount Income
{In thousands, except for %s)
$16,546 350%  $21,752 350% $17.268 35.0%
(2,951} (6.2 14,043} (6.5) (2,009) 4.1)
8,854 18.7 5,997 9.6 5,904 12.0
— —_ — — (3,270) {6.6)
— — — — {1,104} (2.2}
— — 2,243 36 — —_
—_ — 1,745 28 — —
— _ 1,152 19 — —
1,335 238 — —_ — —
871 19 639 1.0 454 09
$24,655 52.2%  $29,485 47.4% $17,243 35.0%
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Deferred tax assets and {liabilities) consist of the following at August 31, 2007 and August 31, 2006:

2007 2006
{in thousands)

PERSIONS & . v v vt e e e e e e e e e $ 6352 $ 8015
VO FOSEIVES L . . . oot e 802 317
Bad debl reserves . . . .. e e 2,051 1,577
ACCTUTS. . . . e e 2,190 3,018
Postretirement benefits other than pensions. . . . .. ... ... . . L e 9,626 8,115
=T o <= T o 1,970 2,119
Foreign tax credit carrforwards . . .. .. L L 30,227 22,670
Alternative minimum tax camyforwards . . ... ... 6,835 6,834
O T, . o 8,024 7,638
Gross deferred 1ax @588t . . . . . . L 68,077 60,303

Valuation QlloWanNCe. . . . .. e e 51,251}  {44,602)
Total defermred 10X O888YS. . . . ... e 16,826 15,701

DepreCictOn . . . .. s 9.312) {10,557
0= [ (375) (718}
OHRET. . e (328} {799)
Gross deferred tax ligbilities . ... ... ... . {10,015) {12,074}

$ 6811 $ 3627

The valuation allowance covers benefits which are not likely fo be utilized for foreign tax credit carryforwards and other
deferred tax assets in the United States.

The Company has $32 million in foreign tax credit camyforwards that will expire in periods from 2010 to 2017. The
expiration periods reflect the extension of the carryforward pericd granted by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 signed
into law on October 22, 2004.

In recent years, the Company's U.S. operations have generated federal tax net operating losses, before considering
dividend income from foreign subsidiaries. Such nel operating losses are offset against the foreign dividend income, which
would otherwise generate U.S. taxable income. The dividend income from foreign subsidiaries also generates foreign tax
credits, which either offset the iax on any U.S. taxable income remaining after the offset of the net operating losses, or are
carried forward.

The tax effect of femporary differences included in prepaids was $3.9 million and $4.2 million at August 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively. Deferred charges included $8.9 million and $8.2 million from the tax effect of temporary differences ot
August 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The tax effect of temporary differences included in other accrued liabilities was
$0.4 million and $1.6 millicn ot August 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Tax legislation passed in Germany in August 2007 is expected to reduce the German tax rafe by an estimated nine
percentage points, which will benefit the Company starting in fiscal 2008. However, 1he legislation resulted in a one time lax
charge of $1.3 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 in order to reduce the Company’s deferred tax assets in Germany using
the revised tax rate.

In October 2007, significant tax legislation was passed in Mexico, which will generally be effective starting January 1,
2008. Of particular importance is the law’s iniroduction of a flat tax, which will apply to taxpaying entities along with Mexico's
regular income tax. The Company is currently evaluating the recently passed legislation to determine the impact the legislation
will have on its financial condition.

Addifional tax legislation was passed in China and the United Kingdom during the Company’s fiscal year 2007. The China
tax legislation represents a comprehensive overhaul of the Chinese income lax system and goes into effect on January 1, 2008.
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The United Kingdom legislation goes into effect April 1, 2008 and includes a 2% reduction in the corporate income tax rate.
Neither the China nor the United Kingdom tax legislofion is expected to have a material effect on the Company's current
financial condition.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB interpretation No. 48, ("FIN 487}, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertain income
tax positions that are recognized in a company’s financial statements. FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive modei for how a
company should recognize, measure, present and disclese in its financial statements uncertain tax positions that the company
has taken or expects to take on a tax return. Under the interpretation, the financial statements will reflect expected future tax
consequences of such positions presuming the taxing authorities’ full knowledge of the position and all relevant facts, but
without considering time values. The Company adopted FIN 48 on September 1, 2007. Tax positions taken in prior years are
being evaluated under FIN 48 and the Company anticipates it will increase the opening balance of retadined earnings as of
September 1, 2007 by up to $2.5 million for tax benefits not previously recegnized under historical practice.

At August 31, 2007, no taxes have been provided on the undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries amounting
to $269.5 million because the Company intends to permanently reinvest these earnings.

NOTE 7 — PENSIONS

The Company has defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans, primarily health care and Iife
insurance. Benefits for the defined benefit pension plans are based primarily on years of service and qualifying compensation
during the final years of employment. A supplemental non-qualified, nen-funded pension plan for certain officers was adopted
as of January 1, 2004. Charges to earnings are provided to meet the projected benefit obligation. The pension cost for this plan
is based on substantially the same actuarial methods and economic assumptions as those used for the defined benefit
pension plans. In connection with this plan, the Company owns and is the beneficiary of life insurance policies that cover the
estimated fotal cost of this plan. The cash surrender value of this insurance was $1.5 million and $1.1 million at August 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits are provided to certain U.S. employees if they
meet certain age and length of service requirements while working for the Company. Effective January 1, 2004, the Company
amended the plan to require co-payments and participant contribution. Also, effective April 1, 2007, the Company amended
the plan which eliminated retiree health care benefits for certain employees and increased retiree contributions for health care
benefits. The measurement date for all plans is August 31,

As discussed in Note 1, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 158 as of August 31, 2007. The effect of the adopticn
of SFAS 158 has been reflected in the consolidated financial statements as of August 31, 2007. The incremental effect of
adopting SFAS 158 has been disclosed as part of this footnote,

The following table summarizes the incremental effect of adopting SFAS 158 on individual line items in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of August 31, 2007:

Before After
Adoption of Adoption of
SFAS 158 Adjustments SFAS 158
{in thousands)
Deferred chargesand otherassets . ... .................... ... $ 19,199 $ 2,585 $ 21,784
Intangible assets . . ... . ... 1,444 {1,270 174
Total OSSets. . . 872,800 1,315 874,115
Accrued payrolls, taxes and related benefits. .. . ... .. ... L 33,549 {1,300) 32,249
Other long-term ligbilities . . .. .. ... ... . . . 85,831 5,485 91,316
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ... ... ... L 55,397 {5,305) 50,092
Total stockholders’ equity. . . . ... ... ... . ... ... ... 432,318 {5,305) 427,013
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Components of the plan obligations and assets, and the recorded liability at August 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006
{In thousands)

Benefit obligation at beginning ofyear . ... ... ... ... ... ... $79.115) 568,361  $(29.8971 $(32,11Q)
GBIV COST . . . .ot (2,735} (2,558) {1,306} {1,997}
INtarest COSE. . . . o oo {3,758) (3,092) {1,509 {1,666)
Paricipant confributions. . . ... . ... L (275) 276 (70} (52)
Actuarial gain floss) ... . ... 4,861 {3,607) 2,725 5,136
Benefits paid . ... . ... e 3,263 1,953 1,069 792
Planamendments . . ... ... ... — — 3,854 —
Curtailmentgain. . .. ... ... .. . — — 4,841 —
Translation adjustment . ... ... ... 14,666} (3.174) — —

Benefit obligation atendofyear. .. ....... .. ... .. ... ... ... $(82,425) $(79,115) $(20,293]  $(2%.897i

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year. . . ... ....... ... ... ... $14,044 310938 % - % —
Actud] reIUM ON @SSEtS . . . ... e 968 1,442 —_ —
Employer contributions .. ... ... L L 2,815 2,601 999 740
Participant contributions. . . . ... .. L L 275 276 70 52
Benefilspaid . .. ... ... . {3,263} (1,953) {1,069 (792
Translation adjustment .. ... ... 851 740 — —

Farvalue of plan assets atend ofyear. . . ... .. ... ... L., $15690 $14044 & — % —

Underfunded . . ... .. . . e $166,735)  $(65.0711  ${20,293)  $(29,897)

Unamortized:

Net Bability . . . oo 76 10 - —
Netlgainl loss . .. .. ... o e 11,513 16,986 92 7,791
Prior year service cost {oredith . . ... ...l 2,055 2,497 {4,640} {1,079
Net amount recognized .. .. ... . ... $(53,091) $45478) $124,841)  5{23,185)
Amounts included in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:
Infangible @sset . .. ... $ — %1382 % — 5 —
Deferred 10X ASSEt . . .. . ... 3,79 3,525 - —
Accrued payrolls, taxes and related benefits . . ... ... . L {1,800} (2,800) (733} {788)
Other long-term ligbilities . . .. .. .. ... ... ... . L L {64,935  (53,894) (19,5600  {22,3%7)
Accumulated other comprehensive income. ... ... ... s 9,853 6,309 (4,548 —

$(53,091) $145478} ${24,841)  $[23,185)

Amounts recognized in Accumulated Cther Comprehensive Income, net of fax, as of August 31, 2007 include:

Amount
{in thousands)

PHOF SEIVICE CrETil . . . o o ettt e e e $ 2,585
Actuariol Qain ... e {11,604}
Net fransition abligation . . . .. ... . e ____m
GIOSS GMOUNE. .« o o o o o e e e e e {9,096
Less income tax effect . . . . . . ... 3,79

Net MIOUNT . . .. ot e e e e e $ (5,305}
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The components of net periodic benefit cost of the years ended August 31 are as follows:

Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
{In thousands)

Service cost. ... $2,735 $2,558 $2,124 $1,306 $1.997  $1.586
Imerestcost . .. ... ... ... 3,758 3,092 3,229 1,509 1.666 1,520
Expected returnonplanassets . ... ... ..... .. .. .... {1,057 {865) (7191 — — —
Amortization of fransition obligation . . . ... ... ... ... .. 38 32 33 — — —
Amortization of prior service cost . .. .. ... ... L. 497 467 494 (293) (102 (102}
Deferredasset gain . . ... ... .. ... .. ... .. ....... — — — 134 568 379
Recognized net actuarialloss. . . . .................. 585 443 63 — — —

$6.556 35727 $5224  $2,656 $4,129  $3,383

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the pension plan with
accumulated benefit obfigations in excess of plan assets were $82.4 million, $72.5 million and $15.7 million, respectively, as of
August 31, 2007, and $79.1 million, $70.1 million and $14.0 million, respectively, as of August 31, 2006. The under funded
position is primarily related to the Company’s German and United Kingdom pension plans, where funding is not required.

The total pension confributions for multi-employer pension plans was approximately $3,000, $17,000 and $6,000in 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The total expense for defined contribution plans was approximately $3.8 million, $3.8 million and
$3.6 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Actuarial ossumptions used in the calculation of the recorded liobility are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Weighted — average assumptions as of August 31

Discount rate on pension plans. . .. ... ... ... ... 5.5% 47% 4.5%
Discount rate on postrefirement obligation . .. ... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... ... 625% 6.00% 5.25%
Return on pension plan assets . . .. .. ... . 7.8% 77% 7.7%
Rate of compensafionincrease . .. ... .. ... ... 2.5% 2.4% 3.4%
Pre-Age 65

Projected health care costfrendrate. . . ... .. ... . ... ... 9.0% 8.0% 2.0%

Utimate health care rate. . .. . . .. ... 50% 5.0% 5.0%

Year ultimate health care trend rate isachieved . .. .. ... ... ... .. . ... ... ... ..... 2011 2009 2009
Post-Age 65

Projected health care costtrendrate. . ... .. ... .. ... 90% 10.0% 11.0%

Ultimate health carerate. . . ... ... .. .. .. 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Year ultimate health care trend rateisachieved . . .. ... ... L L 201 2011 201

The Company, in consultation with its actuaries, annually reviews and selects the discount rates o be used in connection
with its defined benefit pension plans. The discount rates used by the Company are based on yields of various corporate bond
indices with varying maturity dates. For countries in which there are no deep corporate bond markets, discount rates used by
the Company are based on yields of various government bond indices with varying maturity dates. The discount rates are also
reviewed in comparison with current benchmark indices, economic market conditions and the movement in the benchmark
yield since the previous fiscal year.

The Company, in consultation with its actuaries, annually reviews and selects the discount rate to be used in connection
with its posiretirerent obligation. When selecting the discount rate the Company uses a model that considers the Company's
demographics of the participants and the resulting expected benefit payment stream over the participants’ lifetime.
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Assumed health care cost frend rates have o significant effect on the amounis reported for the health care plan. A one-
percentage point change in ossumed health care cost frend rates would have the following effects at August 31, 2007:

One-Percontage- One-Percentage-

Point Increase Point Decrease
{tn thousands}
Effect on total of service and interest cost components . . . ... ........... $ 663 % (504}
Effect on postrefirement obligation. . .. ... ... . ... . L $2,838 $(2,315)

The Company’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocation at August 31, 2007 and 2006, and target allocation, by
asset category are as follows:

Plan Assets
ot August 31, Target
Asset Category 2007 2006  Allocation
EQUity SBCUNTIES . . . . . . .. e 709% 73.2% 70.0%
Debt SEtUMIES . . . o o e e e 179% 17.3% 15.0%
Guaranteed investment certificates . . . . .. ... ... 7.3% 6.4% 10.0%
Cash . . e e 3.9% 3.1% 5.0%
TOMl . o e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The Company’s principal objective is to ensure that sufficient funds are available to provide benefits as and when required
under the terms of the plans. The Company ulilizes investments that provide benefits and maximizes the long-term investment
performance of the plans without taking on undue risk while complying with various legal funding requirements. The Company,
through its investment advisors, has developed defailed asset and fiability models to aid in implementing optimal asset
allocation strategies. Equity securities are invested in equity indexed funds, which minimizes concentration risk while offering
market returns. The debt securities are invested in a long-term bond indexed fund which provides a stable low risk retum. The
guaranteed investment cenificates allow the Company to closely maich a portion of the liability to the expected payout of
benefit with little risk. The Company, in consultation with ils actuaries, analyzes current market frends, the current plan
performance and expected market performance of both the equity and bond markets 1o arrive at the expected refurn on each
assel category over the long term.

The Company expects to contribute approximately $3.1 million for its pension obligations and approximately $0.7 million
to its other postretirement plan in 2008. The benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, offset by the expected
Medicare Prescription Drug subsidies, are as follows:

Other Postretirement Benefits

Pension Gross Medicare Net
Benefits Benefits Reimbursement Benefits

{In thousands)

2008 .. e $ 2412 $ 821 5 88 $ 733
2009 e 3,418 903 100 803
2000 e 2,858 981 112 869
(0 1 2,962 1,068 120 948
002 4,214 1,147 130 1,017
Years 20013 -2017 ... ... ... 20,452 7.341 852 6,489

The Company has agreements with two individuals that upon refirement, death or disability prior to refirement, it shall
make ten payments of $0.1 million each fo the two employees or their beneficiaries for a ten-year period and are 100% vested.
The liability required for these agreements was fully accrued and is included in other long-term liabilities as of August 31, 2007
and 2006. In connection with these agreements, the Company owns and is the beneficiary of life insurance policies amounting
to $2.0 million.

55




A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continved}

NOTE 8 —ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income are as follows:

Unrecognized Total
Additional Losses and Accumulated
Foreign Minimum Prior Service Other
Currency Pension Liability Costs Comprehensive
Translation Gain Adjustment {Credits), Net Income
{in thousands)

Balance as of August 31,2005 ... ... .. .. ... $32,372 $15,820) $ — $26,552
Current period change. . . .. ... . ... ... ... 6,830 (489) — 6,341
Balance as of August 31,2006 .. ... ... ... ... 39,202 (6,309) — 32,893
Current period change. . . ... . ... ..... ... 16,195 3.806 — 20,001
Adoption of SFAS 158 . .. ... ... ... .. ... — 2,503 15,305 (2,802}
Balance as of August 31,2007 ... ... . ... ... $55,397 $ — $15.305) $50,092

Foreign currency Iranslation gains are not tax effected as such gains are considered permanently reinvested. Minimum
pension liability adjustments are recorded net of tax using the applicable effective tax rate.

NOTE 9 — INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS

Effective in December 2002, the Company adopled the 2002 Equity Incentive Plan which provided for the grant of incentive
slock options, nonqudlified stock options, restricted stock awards and director deferred units for employees and non-employee
directors. The option price of incentive stock options is the fair market value of the common shares on the date of the grant. In
the case of nonqualified options, the Company granis options at 100% of the fair market value of the common shares on the
date of the grant. All options become exercisable af the rate of 33% per year, commencing on the first anniversary date of the
grant. Each option expires ten years from the date of the grant. Restricted slock awards under the 2002 Equily Incenfive Plan
vest ratably over four years following the date of grant. In accordance with the 2006 Incentive Plan, the shares avaitable for
grant under the Company’s 2002 Equity Incentive Pian were ferminated upon adeption of the 2006 incentive Plan,

On December 7, 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Incentive Pian which provides for the grant of incentive stock
options, nonqualified stock oplions, whole shares, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights,
performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, dividend equivalents and perdformance-based awards. The time-
based nonqualified stock options become exercisable at the rate of 33% per year, commencing on the first anniversary date of
the grant. It has been the Company’s practice to issue new common shares upon stock oplion exercise. On August 31, 2007,
there were approximately 3.1 millicn shares available for grant pursuant to the Company’s 2006 Incentive Plan.

On September 1, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financiat Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004),
{"SFAS 123R"), Share-Based Payment, which requires the Company to measure all employee stock-based compensation
awards using a fair value method and record the related expense in the financial siatements. The Company elected to use the
modified prospective transifion method. The modified prospective transition method requires that compensation cost be
recognized in the financial statements for all owards granted after the date of adoption as well as for existing awards for which
the requisite service has not been rendered as of the date of adoption and requires that prior pericds not be restated. All
periods presented prior to September 1, 2005 were accounted for in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and followed a nominol vesting period approach.

The adoption of SFAS 123R reduced income before taxes for years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006 by approximately
$1.9 million and $4.5 million, respectively. These expenses are included in sefling, general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying conselidated statement of income. The first quarter of fiscal 2006 included approximately $1.0 million of
charges related to the accelerated vesting period of refirement eligible employees under the non-substantive vesting period
approach applied to new grants affer adoption. The expense recorded did not impact income tax expense since the Company’s
deferred tax assels are fully reserved by a valuation allowance. There was no impact to the statemeni of cash flows related to
the adoption of SFAS 123R.
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income and eamings per share had the fair value based method been
applied to measure compensation cost for prior periods presented:

2005

{in thousands, except per
share data}

Netincome, asreported. . . ... .. ... . e $32,093
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of

5 1,408
Deduc: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value

method, netof tax where applicable. . . ... ... ... L {5,228)
Pro forma nel INCOMIE . . .. ... . it e s 528,273

Eamings per share:

Basic: OSEPOMEA . . .. e $ 1.05
as adjusted $ 092
Diluted: asreported. . .. .. ... $ 1.03
asadiusted . .. ... e 3 09

The total stock-based employee compensation expense for the year ended August 31, 2005 was calculated using the
nominal vesting period approach.

The weighted-average fair value of stock option awards was $7.94 for the January 2006 grant, $6.20 for the October 2005
grant, and $5.93 for fiscal 2005 grants. The Company did not grant stock options in fiscal 2007. These values were estimated al
the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Fisca! Fiscal

2006 2005
Expected life of award [yearsl. . . . .. ... . 55 4.0
Risk-free INterest FOIE . . . e 4.3% 3.0%
Expected volatility of stock . . . . ... e 400% 43.0%
Expedled dividend vield of stock . . . . ... .. .. 3.0% 3.0%

The expecied lives of the awards are based on historical exercise patierns and the terms of the options. The risk-free
interest rate is based on zero coupon treasury bond rates corresponding to the expected life of the awards. The expected
volatility assumption was derived by referring to changes in the Company’s historicat common stock prices over the same
timeframe as the expected life of the awards. The expected dividend yield of common stock is based on the Company's
historical dividend yield. The Company has no reason to believe that future stock volatility or the expected dividend yield is likely
to differ from historical patterns.
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A summary of stock options is as follows:
Yoar Ended August 31,

2007 2006 2005
Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding
Shares Under Weighted-Average Shares Under Weighted-Average Shares Under Weighted-Average
Option Exercise Price Option Exercise Price Option Exercise Price
Outstanding at
beginning of
year ... _...... 1,568,276 $18.93 1,672,362 $17.09 1,530,392 $15.38
Granted. . .. ... ... — — 572,750 19.78 529,650 19.85
Exercised. . .. ..... {742,528) 18.74 {650,667} 15.06 (301,823} 13.56
Forfeited and
expired . ... .... {12,038) 19.36 (26,169) 15.93 (85,857} 15.98
Outstanding at end of
year .. ... .. ... 813,710 19.10 1,568,276 18.93 1,672,362 17.09
Exercisable af end of
year . ... ...... 394,915 18.23 474,836 17.67 555,733 14.99

The intrinsic value of a stock option is the amount by which the market value of the underlying slock exceeds the exercise
price of the option. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended August 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was
approximately $2.9 million, $4.6 million, and $1.6 million, respectively. The intrinsic value for stock options exercisable at
August 31, 2007 was $1.4 million with a remaining term for options exercisable of 5.7 years. For stock options outstanding at
August 31, 2007, exercise prices range from $11.62 to $24.69. The weighted average remaining contractual life for options
outstanding at August 31, 2007 was 7 years. Stock options vested and expected to vest at August 31, 2007 were 798,893 with a
remaining contractual term of 0.8 years and a weighled-average exercise price of $19.08. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock
options vesled and expected to vest was $2.1 million.

Total unrecognized compensation cost, including forfeitures, related to nonvested share-based compensation arrange-
ments at August 31, 2007 was approximately $6.0 million. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of approximately 1.5 years.

During the year ended August 31, 2007, the Company granted restricted stock awards for 228,250 shares. Included in the
grant are awards for approximately 138,000 shares for which the restrictions will lapse based on market performance criteria.
The weighted-average grant date fair value of the performance owards based on market conditions was $20.55 per share. The
valuation for these awards which vest based on market performance criterio was based upon the Monte Carlo simulation,
which is a binomial medel that appropriately represents the characteristics of these grants. Restrictions on the ultimate number
of shares underlying performance awards that will lapse, if any, will be dependant upon the Company's total shareholder retum
in relation to the total shareholder return of o select group of peer companies over a three year period. These awards were
accounted for as awards with market conditions in accordance with SFAS 123R. Restrictions on the remaining shares underlying
the restricted stock awards will lapse evenly over a three year period and are valued at the fair market value on the date of
grani.

The fair value of the market performance based awards granted during the year ended August 31, 2007 was estimated
using a binomial model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Welighted-Averaga Assumptions

Dividend vield . . . . ... 2.63%
Expected volatilty . . . . . 26.00%
Risk-free inferest rate . . . . . . 4.45%
ComelaliOn . . . 30.00%

The expected volatility assumption was calculated using a historical range to correlate with the award's vesting period. The
Company used the weekly volatility for each company in the peer group to determine a reasonable assumption for the
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valuation. In using the Monte Carlo simulation method with this type of grant, a correlation rate of A. Schulman’s stock price and
each of the peer companies is calculated. The Company determined a correlation percentage based on all correlation rates.
The risk-free interest rate is based on zero coupon treasury bond rates corresponding to the expecied life of the awards. The
expected dividend yield of common stock is based on the Company's historical dividend yield. The Company has no reason fo
believe that future stock volatility, correlation or the expected dividend yield is likely to differ from historical patterns.

Restricted stock awards under the 2002 Equity Incentive Plan vest over four years following the date of grant. Restricted
stock awards under the 2006 Incentive Plan can vest over various periods. The restricted stock grants outstanding under the
2006 Incentive Plan have vesting periods of three years following the dafe of grant. Some of these owards can have vesting
resirictions as set at the grant date. Approximately 138,000 of the outstanding awards as August 31, 2007 are performance
awards with vesting periods based on market conditions The following table summarizes the oulstanding restricted stock
awards and weighted-average fair market value:

OQutstanding Weighted-Average
Restricted Stock  Fair Market Value

Awards {per share)
Outstanding at August 31,2006 . . . . .. ... ... ... ... 362,900 $18.05
Granted . . ... .. 228,250 21.15
Released . .. ... . ... . .. 107,544 15.22
Forfeited . . . ... e {15,306) 19.23
Quistanding at August 31, 2007 . . . . . . ... ... 468,300 2017

Uneamed compensation for grants under the 2002 Equity Incentive Plan representing the fair market value of the shares at
the date of grant is charged to income over the four-year vesting period. Unearned compensation for grants under the 2006
Incentive Plan representing the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant or the associated fair value based on o
binomial valuation is charged to income over the applicable vesting period. Compensation expense for restricted stock was
$2.2 miillion in fiscal 2007, $1.5 miillion in fiscal 2006 and $1.1 million in fiscal 2005.

During fiscal 2007, the Company granted 108,550 restricted stock units. Each restricted stock unit is equivalent to one
share of A. Schulman, Inc. stock on the vesling date. The restricted stock units earn dividends during the vesting period.
Restricted stock units are seftled only in cash ot the vesting date and therefore are treated as a liability award. The Company
records a liability for these restricted stock units in an amount equal to the total of la) the mark to market adjustment of the units
vested lo date, and (bl accrued dividends on the units. The Company has recorded approximately $0.9 million, $0.9 million and
$0.3 million of expense related to restricted stock units for the years ended August 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. At
August 31, 2007, the Company had approximately 245,000 restricted stock units outstanding.

NOTE 10 — EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur
if common stock equivalents were exercised, and the impact of restricted stock and performance based awards expected to
vest, which would then share in the eamings of the Company.
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The difference between basic and diluted weighted-average common shares results from the assumed exercise of
outstanding stock options and grants of restricled stock, calculated using the freasury stock method. The following presents the
number of incremental weighted-average shares used in computing diluted per share amounts:

Year Ended August 31,

2007 2006 2005
Weighted-average shares outstanding:

BaSIC . . 27,032,348 29,961,580 30,619,780
Incremental shares from stock options . .. ... ... .. Lo 149,649 174,674 237,977
Incremental shares from restricted stock . . . . .......... ... .. ... .. 187411 257.956 192,033

Diluted . . ... 27,369,408 30,394,210 31,049,790

For fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, there were approximately 65,000, 1.0 million and 1.1 million, respectively, of
equivalent shares related to stock options that were excluded from diluted weighted-average shares cutsianding because
inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

The following presents the computation of adjusted net income used in computing net income per share:

Year Ended August 31,
2007 2006 2005

{In thousands)
N IO . .t e $22,619 532,662 %32,093
Less: Preferred stock dividends. . . .. .. ... ... ... {53) {53) {53)
Net income applicable to common stock . ... ... ... . $22,566  $32,609 532,040

NOTE 11 — CAPITAL STOCK AND STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

The Board of Directors approved 1,000,000 shares of special stock with special designations, preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other special rights, and qualifications, limitafions or restrictions as determined by the Board of
Directors.

On January 26, 2006, the Board of Direclors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan and, on February 9, 2006, distributed
Rights to each record holder of the Company’s Common Stock on that date. Each Right was attached 1o each share of Common
Stock and entitled the registered holder to purchase from the Company a unit consisting of one one-thousandth of a share of
Series A Junior Parficipating Special Stock, a series of the Special Stock, at a Purchase Price of $85.00 per unit ithe "Purchase
Price”), subject to adjustment.

The Company paid $0.01 per common share on February 1, 2007, to shareholders of record on Jonuary 19, 2007, in
redemption of the special stock purchase rights praviously issued to the Company's shareholders pursuant to the Rights
Agreement dated as of January 26, 2006 between the Company and National City Bank as Rights Agent, thereby redeeming in
full and canceling all such rights and terminating the Rights Agreement. The amount of this redemption was $0.3 million, which
is included in the total amount of dividends paid during fiscal 2007,
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NOTE 12 — LEASES

The Company leases cerlain equipment, buildings, transportation vehicles and computer equipment. Total rental expense
was $6.7 million in 2007, $6.0 million in 2006 and $5.8 million in 2005, The future minimum rental commitments for operating
non-cancelable leases excluding cbligations for taxes, insurance, etc. are as follows:

Minimum Rental
{In thousands)
Year ended August 31,

2008 . o e $ 3,619
204 L O R 2,432
1) 1+ 5 2,300
20T . e e 1,153
11 2 1 1,626
2013 and thereamer . . . . . e 175

$11,305

NOTE 13 — SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company is engaged in the sale of plastic resins in various forms, which are used as raw materials by its customers, To
identify reportable segments, the Company considered its operating structure and fhe fypes of infermation subiject to regular
review by its President and Chief Executive Officer, who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker. On this basis, the Company
operates primarily in two gecgraphic segments, North America and Europe, including Asia {"Europe”).

The North American segment inctudes operations conducted in the United States, Canada, and Mexico. The Company’s
European segment includes operations conducted in Belgium, France, Germany, Poland, Hungary, Indonesia, ltaly, Spain,
Switzerlond, Ching, Luxembourg, Denmark, Sweden, Turkey, South Korea, Czech Republic and the United Kingdom. The
accounting policies of each business segment are consistent with those described in the “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.”

Operating income includes all items excepl for inferest expense, interest income, restructuring expense, loss on
extinguishment of debt and laxes, Corporate expenses have been allocated between the North American and European
segments. Assels of geographic segments represent those assets identified with the operafion of each segment.

North
America Europe Other  Consolidated
{in thousands)

August 31, 2007

Sales to unafflioted customers . ... ... ... ... $477,081  $1,309978 % — $1,787.056
Gross profit® . . .. .. $41,756 3 171066 % — $ 212,822
Operatingincome floss) . . . .. .. o $019,132) % 73266 % — $ 54134
Interest eXpense, Nt . . ... ... e — — {5.812} {5,812
Resfructuring expense —North Amertica . .. .. ... ... .. .. ... — — {1,048} (1,048}
Income (loss) beforetaxes .. ... .. ... $(19132) $ 73266 %6860 $ 47,274
Identifigble @ssets . . . ... . e $287.481 % 586634 % — $ 874,115
Depreciation and amerization expense . . ... ... ... L. $10416 % 1538 § — $ 25802
Capifal expenditures . ... ... ... $17040 % 12239 § — 3 29379
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North
America Europe Othar  Consolidated
{in thousands)

August 31, 2006
Sales to unaffilited customers . .. ... $493,644 51,122,742 § — $1,616,386
Gross profit .. ... $ 56120 % 163826 % — $ 219946
Opergtingincome (lossh . ... . ... ... . .. . $ (90690 $ 79126 5 — $ 70,057
Interest expense, Ret . . . .. L — — {2924 (2.924)
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . .. ... ... .. .. Lo L — —  14,986) {4,986
Income lloss) beforetaxes . ... ........ ... ... ... ... ... ... $ (9,069 % 79,126 $(7.910) $ 62,147
identifiable assefs . . . . . ... ... .. $305,998 $ 537,247 5§ — $ 843,245
Depreciation and omortization expense . ... ...... ... ... ... ... ... $ 10460 % 14452 § — $ 2492
Copital expenditures . .. ... ... . ... ... $18447 3 10798 & — $ 29,239
August 31, 2005
Sales to unaffiligted customers . .. ... ... ... ... ... . ... .. $439.441  $ 993755 § — $1,433,196
Grossprofit . ... $ 46,282 % 146357 3§ — $ 192,639
Operating income floss] . . . .. ... . $(11.,0000 % 62777 3% — $ 51,777
Interest @xpense, NBY . . . ... .. .. — —  12.259) {2,259)
Restructuring expense — North America . .. ... ... .......... ... ... — — (182) {182)
Income flossh beforataxes . ...... ... ... .. ... ... ${11,0000 % 62777 $(2.441) $ 49,336
Wentifiable assets . . . ... ... ... . . $273,746 % 510616 $ — $ 784,362
Depreciation and omortization expense . . .. ... ... ... ... ... $10833 $ 14249 35 — $ 25082
Copital expenditures . ... ......... ... .. $ 13491 $ 13453 % — $ 26944

* Gross profit for North America for the year ended August 31, 2007 includes approximately $1.1 million of accelerated

depreciation related to the North America restructuring as discussed in Note 16.

Below is a summary of sales by point of origin and assets by location:

2007 2006 2005
{In thousands)
Net Sales:
United States . . . ... ... e $ 347232 % 366,836 § 320,698
GEIMANY . . . . e e 608,536 510,100 456,765

831,288 739,450 635,733

$1,787,056 31,616,386 $1,433,196

Long Lived Assels:
United States . . . ... ... e 5

71,593 % 66,491 § 57523
30,350 31,781 32,246
98,604 88,607 91,542

$ 200547 % 186,879 % 181,311
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The maijority of the Company’s sales for the years ended August 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 can be classified inlo five

primary product families. The approximate amount and percentage of consolidated sales for these product families are as
follows:

2007 2006 2005
Product Family Amount X Amount X Amount X
{tn thousands, except for %'s}
Color and addifive concentrates. . . ............... $ 627,268 35 % 579,825 36 % 501,159 35
Polyolefins . .. ......... .. ... . ... ... 543,870 30 495,163 kY| 424,066 30
Engineered compounds . . ... .. L 426,362 24 393,312 24 377.008 26
Palyvinyl chloride (PVCH. . .. ... .. ... L 64,658 4 64,174 4 54,952
Tolling . ... .. 21,450 1 16,482 1 16,117 1
Other .. e 103428 6 67430 4 59,894

$1,787,056 100 $1,616,386 100 $1.433,1%6 100

NOTE 14 — CONTINGENCIES

The Company is engaged in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The ulimate outcorne of
these proceedings is not expected to have a material aciverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, resulis of operations
or cash flows.

During fiscal 2006, a railroad company filed suit against the Company seeking compensatory domages and reimburse-
ment of environmental cests 1o investigate and remediate property located near its Bellevue, Ohio facility. In fiscal 2007, the
Company and the railroad company agreed to a settlement that the Company would pay the railroad company a setilermnent of
approximately $64,000. The Company paid this settlement in fiscal 2007 and was released from liability for current and future
right of way investigations on this property.

NOTE 15 — TENDER OFFER AND SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM

On February 21, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a modified Dutch auction self-tender offer
for up to 8.75 million shares of its commen stock, af a price between $21.00 and $24.00 per share. The Company commenced the
self-tender offer on March 1, 2006 and it expired on April 11, 2006. On April 25, 2006 the Company announced the fing resulis of the
self-tender offer where the Company accepted for purchase 2,071,585 shares at a price of $24.00 per share for a tofal of
approximately $49.7 million. The Company also incurred costs in connection with the seff-tender of $0.5 million in legal and
professional fees.

On April 25, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 6.75 millicn
shares of its outstanding common stock {the “Repurchase Program®} representing opproximately 23.3% of the Company’s
ouistanding shares at the authorization date. it is anticipated that the Company will complete the Repurchase Program through
open market repurchases from time to time. The number of shares to be repurchased and the timing of repurchases will
depend upon the prevailing market prices and any other considerations that may, in the opinion of the Board of Direclors or
management, affect the advisability of repurchasing shares. The Repurchase Program replaced the Company's prior
repurchase authorization, under which approximately 1.7 million shares had remained authorized for repurchase. During
fiscal 20086, the Company purchased 2.0 million common shares under the Repurchase Program at an average cost of $22.76
per share, excluding commissions. During fiscal 2006, the Company purchased approximately 4.1 million shares of ifs
commoen stock at an average price of $23.39, excluding transaciion fees, through the Repurchase Program and self-tender
offer. During fiscal 2007, the Company purchased 0.8 million shares of its common stock under the Repurchase Program at an
average price of $23.46 excluding commissions. Under the Repurchase Program the Company has approximately 4.0 million
shares still available to be repurchased.
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NOTE 16 — NORTH AMERICAN RESTRUCTURING

During fiscal 2007, the Company announced multiple phases of a restructuring plan to restore its North American segment
to profitability. In November 2606, in order to balance copacity with demand, reduce costs and improve efficiencies in the North
Americon segment, the Company announced a plan to close two of its manufaciuring lines at its Orange, Texas plant, close a
warehouse also located in Crange, Texas and reduce the workforce at its Bellevue, Ohio plant. The two manufacturing lines ot
the Orange, Texas plant are anticipated to continue production into the first quarter of fiscal 2008 while the Orange, Texas
warehouse was closed during the third quarter of fiscal 2007. In connection with this plan, the Company reduced its workforce
by 65 positions.

In February 2007, the Company announced the second phase of its North America restructuring plan which implements
several initiatives that will improve the Company’s operations and profitability in North America.

This restructuring plan includes savings from the following initiatives:

« Reduction in the Company’s North American workforce by approximately 30 positions, primarily in the sales and
administralive functions,

Reduction in the Company's United States retiree healthcare coverage plan,
« Greater cost sharing of employee and retiree medical plan costs,

¢ Broad discrefionary selling, general and administrative cost reductions,

¢ Savings from improved purchasing processes, and

+ Improved logistics efficiencies,

In cennection with this restructuring plan, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $2.1 million for the year ended
August 31, 2007. These charges are summarized below:

Fiscal 2007 Accrual 8alance
Charges Paid Fiscal 2007  August 31, 2007

{ln thousands}

Employeerelated costs . . .. ... .. ... ... ... $ 980 $(906} $74
Cthercosts . .. ... ... . ... . . ... ... ... 68 __168) -
Restructuring . . . . ... ... ... .. . ... .. ... 1,048 319741 $74
Accelerated depreciation, included in North America cost of
salesin 2007 . .. . ... 1L.on
$2,119

The employee related costs include severance payments and medical insurance for employees whose positions hove
been eliminated in North America. The Company recorded approximately $1.1 million of accelerated depreciation for the year
ended August 31, 2007 which represents a change in estimate for the reduced life of equipment. At August 31, 2007, the
Company estimated it will incur minimal additional charges for employee related costs which are not expected to impact the
total charge of $2.1 million. The Company anticipates the remaining accrued balance for restruciuring charges to be paid over
the first seven months of fiscal 2008.

During fiscat 2004, in order to balance capacity with demand, the Company closed two manufacturing lines at its
Nashville, Tennessee plant. As a result, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $0.2 million and $1.8 million for the years
ended Augusi 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. There were no charges related fo this plan during the years ended August 31,
2006 and 2007.
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The charges were primarily non-cash and are summarized below:

Accryal Balance Accrual Balance
Original  Paid Fiscal August 31, 2005 Paid Fiscal August 31,
Charge 2004 2004 Charges 2005 2005
{in thousands)
Employee related costs . .. .. ... . ... 5 350 — $350 $134) $(316) —
Othercosts . ................... 66 o 66 216 (282) =
Restructuring. . ................. 416 — 416 $182 $(598) $—

Accelerated depreciation, included in
North America cost of sales in
200 ... L 1,353

$1.769

Restructuring charges for 2005 represent additional equipment removal costs pertaining to the 2004 Nashville restruc-
turing. The employee related costs included severance payments and medical insurance for 30 employees at the Nashville
facility. The other costs included equipment removal and other exit costs that were incurred as of August 31, 2005. The
accelerated depreciation represents a change in estimate for the reduced life on equipment tctaling $1.4 million. At August 31,
2005, the restructuring was complete, therefore no further cash out-flows were required by the Company.

NOTE 17 — BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

On June 21, 2007, the Company acquired the Delta Plast Group, a European color masterbatch manutacturer with
operations in Sweden and Belgium. The acquisition included the purchase of 100% of the common shares of the Belgian
operations of Delte Plast and certain assels and lichilities of the Swedish operations. The Company organized the two
operational locations as two separate wholly owned subsidiaries of A. Schulman Plastics, BVBA in its European segment,
Deltaplast NV for the Belgium company and Deltaplast AB for the Sweden operations. The acquisition is expecied to expand the
Company’s offerings of color masterbatches in its European segment. In connection with this acquisition, the Company paid
approximately 81.3 million Swedish Krona {approximately $11.8 million at the acquisition date) which was paid primarily in
cash. The purchase price also includes a potential deferred payment that could be paid over athree year period which is based
on certain terms in the purchase cgreement. The purchase price allocation included in the accompanying consolidated
financiat statements for this acquisifion is subject to normal course working capital adjustments and may be adjusted as these
adjustments have not been agreed upon. The total cost included direct acquisition costs. Goodwill recognized in connection
with this acquisition amounted to approximately $3.8 million as of August 31, 2007, of which approximately $2.6 million is
expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes, The results of operations and financial position for the acquired companies are
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The eamings from the acquired companies had a minimal
effect on consolidated eamings for fiscal 2007.

NOTE 18 — RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

A large part of the Company’s technical activities relate to the confinuous refinement of compounds for specific
applications of customers. Activities relafing to the research and development of new produds and the improvement of
existing products are important to the Company. These activilies are conducled at the Company’s various technical centers and
laboratories. Research and development expenditures were approximately $7.8 million, $5.5 million and $4.8 million in fiscal
years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase in these activities is primarily related to the new invision® sheet product
and to support new consumer packaging and automotive applications.

65




A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

NOTE 19 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (UNAUDITED)

Quarter Ended Year Ended
Nov. 30, Feb, 28, May 31, Avug. 31, Aug. 31,
2006 2007 2007(b) 2007(c) 2007
{In thousands, except per share data)
NetSales. . ... ... . ... . .. $442,728  $412,767  $466,955  $464,606 $1,787,056
Gross Profit . .. .. .. ... 49,540 48,159 59,379 55,744 212,822
Netincomelal. . ......... .. .. .. ... 2,371 1,640 10,121 8,487 22,619
Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:
BOSIC. .. ... $ 009 & 006 $ 037 3% 03 3 0.83
Diluted. .. ... . $ 009 S 006 % 037 3% 030 $ 0.82
Quarter Ended Year Ended
Nov. 30, Feb. 28, May 31, Aug. 31, Aug. 31,
2005 2006(e) 200461f) 2006 2006
NetSales. . . ... ... .. . ... . . . . $396,525 3371.,219 3427313 $421,329 $1.616,386
Gross Profit . ... ... ... .. ... 60,036 50,574 57,422 51,914 219,945
Netincomeld). . ........... ... ... ... .. ... ........ 12,309 3,940 8,920 7,493 32,662
Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:
Basic . ... .. e $ 040 3 072 3% 030 % 027 % 1.09
Diluted . . . ... $ 040 S 012 % 029 $ 026 % 1.07

{al Nefincome for the quarters ended November 30, 2006, February 28, 2007, May 31, 2007 and August 31, 2007 included
charges of 5371, $1,506, $165 and $77, respectively, for costs and accelerated depreciation related to the North America
restruciuring.

(bl Netincome for the quarter ended May 31, 2007 included income of $1,440 [$2,400 before-tox} from a change in estimate
relating to customer claims in Europe.

{c) Netincome for the quarter ended August 31, 2007 included a benefit of 31,500 [before and after-taxl in insurance proceeds
received from claims made os a result of Hurricane Rita, and a tax charge of $1,335 1o reduce the Company's German
deferred tax asset as a result of g statutory rate decline.

(d} Net income tor the quarter ended Novermber 30, 2005 included o tax charge of $3,070 in anticipation of the estimated

dividend repatriation from Europe. Net income for the quarter ended February 28, 2006 increased as a resull of a reduction
in that estimate of $827.

(e} Netincome for the quarter ended February 28, 2006 included charges related 10 the extinguishment of debt in the amount
of $4,986, and income from the cancellation of certain distribulion agreements in Europe of 5600, net of tax.

(ft Net income for the quarter ended May 31, 2006 included a charge of $760 for tax contingencies and income from life
insurance proceeds of $494,
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None,

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required fo be
disclosed in the Company's reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission's rules and forms and that such information
is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasenable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to
apply its judgment in evaluafing the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

The Company carries out o variety of on-going procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to evaluate the
effectiveness of the design and operafion of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing,
the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and
procedures were effecfive al a reasonable assurance level as of the end cof the period covered by this report.

There has been no change in the Company's intermnal controls over financial reporting during the Company’s mos! recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate interna! control over financial reporting, as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15{f). The Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financia! statements for external
purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal contro! over financial reporting may not prevent or defect misstalements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject 1o the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on the framework in “Infernal Control — integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of August 31, 2007,

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control aver financial reporting as of August 31,
2007 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independeni registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report included herein.

{TEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART IH

ITEM 10. ODIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required in response fo this Item in respect of Directors is set forth in the Company’s proxy statement for its
2007 Annual Meeting {the “Proxy Statement”} under the captions “Election of Directors® and "Section 14(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement. The information required by this tem in respect of Executive Officers is set forh
in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Executive Officers of the Corporation” and “Section 16{a} Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance.” The information required by this ltem in respect to the Corporation’s Code of Conduct is set forth in the
Proxy Statement under the caption “Corporate Governance — Code of Conduct.” The information required in response to this
ltern in respect to changes to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to the Boord of Directors is
set forth under the capfion "Corporate Governance — Board Committees — Nominating and Corporation Governance
Committee” in the Proxy Statement. The information required in response to this llem in respect to the Audit Committee
and the Audit Committee financial expert is set under the caption “Corporate Governance — Board Committees — Audit
Committee” in the Proxy Statement. The referenced information appearing in the indicated captions in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information in response to this ttem in is set forth under the captions “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Compensation
Tables,” “Compensation Committee Report” and “Compensation Commitiee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the Proxy
Staternent for which information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

information in response to this ltem in respect to the ownership of securities is sel forth under the caption “Security
Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficiol Owners™ in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information in respense fo this ftem in respect o certain relationships and related transactions is set forth in the Proxy
Statement under the caption “Certain Relationship and Related Transactions™ for which information is incorporated herein by
reference. Information in response to this ltem in resped to director independence is set forth in the Proxy Statement under the
caption “Corporate Governance — Director Independence” for which information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information for this lter is included under the caption “Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public
Accountants” in the Proxy Statement for which information is incorporated herein by reference,

PART v

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
{a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
{1} Financial Statements

The consolidated financial stalements filed as part of this Form 10-K are located as set torth in the index on page 37 of this
report.

{2) Financial Statement Schedules:
Valuation and Qualifying ACCOUNIS . . . . . . L. F-1

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial
statements or notes thereto.
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(3) Exhibits:

Exhibit
Number

3(a}
3ib}

4{a)

10ta}*

10b)*
10(c)*
10(d)*
10(e)
10(f*
10(g)*
10fhy*
10(i
10()*
10k
10M*
10(m}*
10(n)*
10l0)*
10(p)*
10{q*
10(1*
10is)*
104)*
10{w*

10iv*

Amended and Restated Artficles of Incorporation of the Company tfor purposes of Commission reperling compliance only)
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2007).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company {for purposes of Commission reporting compliance only} lincorporated by
reference ta Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2007).

Rights Agreement dated as of January 26, 2006, between the Company and National City Bark, as Rights Agent, which includes
as Exhibil B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit ¥ 1o the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form 8-A, dated January 26, 2006}.

A. Schulman, Inc. 1992 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan {incorporaled by reference fo Exhibit A to the Company's
Proxy Stotement dated November 12, 1992 filed as Exhibit 28 fo the Company's Form 10-K for fiscal year ended August 31,
1992).

Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc. 1992 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 1o
the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscol quarter ended February 29, 1996).

Second Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc. 1992 Non-Employee Direciors’ Stock Option Plan [incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(e} to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 1998).

Third Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc. 1992 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan fincorporated by reference to Exhibit
4lp} to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, dated December 20, 1999, Registrafion No. 333-93093).

Fourth Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc. 1992 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to the Company's Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended November 39, 2000).

A.Schulman, inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4{l) to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-8, dated January 24, 2003, Registration No. 333-102718),

Non-Qualified Profit Sharing Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10id) 1o the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 1995},

Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc. Nonqualified Profit Sharing Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s
Ferm 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended February 29, 1996}

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan of the Company, effective January 1, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10n) to
the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004},

Employment Agreement between the Company and Terry L. Haines dated January 31, 1996 {incorporated by reference 1o
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended February 29, 1996).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Ronald G. Andres dated as of October 20, 1999 lincorporated by reference
te Exhibit 10(o) to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 1999,

Agreement between the Company and Terry L. Maines dated as of March 21, 1991 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(m) fo
the Company's Form 10-K for fiscal year ended August 31, 1992},

Form of Amendment to Deferred Compensation Agreements between the Company and Terry L. Haines {incorporated by
reference o Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended February 29, 1996),

Employment Agreement between the Company and Barry A, Rhodes dated January 10, 2002 {incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2002).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Paul F. DeSantis, dated January 4, 2006 {incarporated by reference to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated January 4, 2006).

Transition Agreement between the Company and Robert A. Stefanko lincorparated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated April 17, 2006).

A. Schulman, Inc. 2006 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended November 30, 2006].

A. Schulman, Inc. 2006 Incentive Plan Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Employee Time-Based) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2007).

A. Schulman, Inc. 2006 Incentive Plan Form of Resfricled Stock Agreement (Employee Performance-Based) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2007).

A Schulmar, Inc, 2006 Incentive Plan Form of Restricled Unit Agreement {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 fo the
Company's Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2007).

A. Schulman, Inc. 2006 Incentive Plan Form of Restricted Stock Agreement {Non-employee Directors) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Form 10-G for the fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2007).

A. Schulman, In¢. 2006 Incentive Plan Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement [Non-employee Directors) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2007).
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Exhibit
Number

10wl

10[x)

10yl

1012}
10faa)
10bby
10({cc)*
10(dd)
10feel*
10(ff}*
10(ggt

M
21
23
24
3
32

Credit Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2006, among A. Schulman, Inc., A. Schulman Europe GmbH, A. Schulman Plastics,
S.A., and A. Schulman International Services NV, with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, J.P. Morgan Europe
Limited, as European agent, J.P. Morgan Securifies Inc., as Sole Bookrunner and Scle Lead Amranger and the lenders party to the
Credit Agreement {incorporated by reference to Exhibit $9.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 28,
20046).

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2006, by and between A, Schulman Europe GmbH, A. Schulman, Inc. and the
Purchasers and Guarantors named therein {incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s current Report on Form
8-K doted February 28, 2006).

ISDA [Infernafional Swap Dealers Association, Inc } Master Agreement by and between KeyBank National Association and the
Company dated Jonuary 13, 2004 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(ff} to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 20041

Agreement dated October 21, 2005 among the Company, Barington Capital Group, L.P. and others (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 99.2 ta the Company’s Current Repoart on Form 8-K dated Octeber 21, 2005}

Agreement dated October 25, 2006 among the Company, Barington Capital Group, L.P. and others {incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 25, 2008).

Non-Employee Directors Compensation tincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10{gg) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended August 31, 2006).

The Company's Directors Deferred Units Plan, as amended and restated effective October 17, 2006 (incorporated by reference
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K daled October 16, 2006).

Form of Inclemnification Agreement for all Executive Officers and Directors of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 16, 2006).

The Company’s 2007 Bonus Plan {incorporated by reference 1o the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 16,
2006}.

The Company's 2008 Bonus Plan {incorporated by reference 1o the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 17,
2007).

Agreement dated October 21, 2005 among the Company, Barington Capital Group, LP. and others {incorporated by reference
to Exhibil 99.2 to the Company’s Repori on Form 8-K dated Octaber 24, 2005)

Computation of Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Commaon Share (filed herewith).

subsidiaries of the Company (filed herewithl.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting firm (filed herewithl.

Powers of Atomey (filed herewithi.

Certifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers pursuant 1o Rule 13a-14{al/15d-14(c) (filed herewithi.
Certifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers pursuant to 18 U.5.C. 1350 (filed herewith).

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required fo be filed as an Exhibit hereto.

{b} Exhibits.

See subparagraph (al3) above

lc} Finonciol Stotement Schedules.

See subparagraph (a}(2Z} above
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

By: /s/ Poul F. DeSantis

Paul F. DeSantis
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: Octaber 31, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  Terry L. Hoines Director and Principal Executive Officer October 31, 2007
Terry L. Haines
/s/ Paul F. DeSanlis Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting October 31, 2007
Paul F, DeSantis Officer
Director
David G. Birney*
Director
Howard R. Curd*
Director
Joseph M. Gingo*
Director
Willard R. Holland*
Director
James A, Karman*
Director
James S. Marlen*
Directar

Michael A, McManus, Jr.=

Director

Peggy Miller

Director

James A. Mitarotonda*

i




Signature Title Daote

Director

Ernest J. Novak, Jr.*

Director

John B. Yasinsky*

*By: /s/ Terry L. Haines

Terry L. Haines
Attorney-in-Fact

October 31, 2007

*Powers of attorney authorizing Terry L. Haines 1o sign this Annual Report on Form 10-K on behalf of certain Directors of the
Company are being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission herewith.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

SCHEDULE F-1
Balance at Beginning Charges to Cost and Translation Balance ot Close of

of Period Expenses Net Write-offs Adjustment Period
{in thousonds)

Reserve for doubtful accounts

Year ended August 31, 2007 . . $ 9,409 $2,019 $2.713) $341 $ 9,056
Year ended August 31, 2006 . . $ 8,227 $2,453 ${1,458) $187 $ 9,409
Year ended August 31, 2005 . . $ 9,268 $1,363 $12.599) $195 $ 8227
Inventtory Reserve

Year ended August 31, 2007 . . $ 8,538 $ 385 $ (948) $262 $ 8,237
Year ended August 31, 2006 . . $11,235 $1,801 ${4,659) $161 $ 8,538
Year ended August 31, 2005 . . $10,522 $5.803 ${5,246) $156 $11,235
Valuation allowance — deferred tax ossets

Year ended August 31, 2007 . . $44,602 $6,649 $ - $ — $51,251
Year ended August 31, 2006 . . $42,445 52,157 8 — $— 544,602
Year ended August 31, 2005 . . $39,789 52,656 5 — 5 — $42,445
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THIS PAGE IS NOT A PART OF A. SCHULMAN'S FORM 10-K FILING

A. Schulman, inc. Performance Graph

The following graph compares total stockholder returns with respect to shares of Common Stock over the
last five fiscal years (i.e., the cumulative changes over the past five-year period of $100 invested af August 31, 2002}
to the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index ["S&P 500%) and the Standard & Poor's 500 Specialty Chemicals Index
("S&P Specialty Chemicals). Total return vatues for shares of Common Stock, S&P 500 and S&P Specialty Chemicals
were calculated based upon market weighting af the beginning of the period and include reinvestment of
dividends on a quarterly basis. The stockholder returns shown on the graph below are not necessarily indicafive
of future performance.

—(O0— A Schubman, inc. —— S&P 500 —(O— S&P Specialty Chemicals

$200
5150 /
$100 w
$ 50
§ 0—t 1 ! ! ! !
8/30/02 8/29/03 8731704 8/31/05 B/31/08 B8/31/07
8/30/02 8/29/03 8/31/04 8/31/05 8/3/06 8/31/07
A. Schulman, Inc. $100.00 $78.4 $100.97 $ 94.56 $125.67 SN7.76
S&P 500 $100.00 $12.06 $124.88 $140.56 $153.03 $176.18
S&P 500 Specialty Chemicals $100.00 $104.74 $120.75 $132.06 $156.02 $181.80
Corporate Information
Corporate Heodquarters Annual Meeting Contact information

A. Schulman, Inc,

3550 West Market Strest
Akron, OH 44333

[330) 666-3751
www.aschulman.com

The Annua! Meeting of Stockholders

will be held on Thursday, January 10, 2068
at 10 AM EST, at the:

Hilton Inn West

3180 West Market Street

Akron, Ohio 44333

Any questions regording shareholder
records should be directed fo:
MNational City Bank

800-622-6757

e-mail address:

Domestic Office
International Automotive
Marketing Center

2100 £ast Maple Road
Birmingham, MI 48009-6524
1248) 643-6100

Technology Centers

A. Schutman, Inc.

Product Technology Center
1183 Home Averue

Akron, Ohio 44310

{330 630-3315

A. Schutman, Inc.

Color Technology Center
1475 Wolf Creek Trail
Sharon Center, Ohio 44274
(330] 239-0100

Independent Accountants
PricewaterhcuseCoopers LLP
200 Public Square, 18th Floor
Cleveland, Ohic 44114-2301

Stock Listing

The common stock of A. Schulman, Inc.
is fraded and quoted through the
MNASDAQ Global Select Market.

Symbol: SHLM

Transfer Agent

National City Bank
Corporate Trust Operations
PO. Box 92301

Cleveland, OH 44193-0900

shareholder.inquiries@nationalcity.com

The annual report to the

Securities and Exchange Commission,
Form 10-K, will be made available upon
request without charge.

Write:

Paul DeSantis

Chief Financial Officer

A, Schulman, Inc.

3550 West Market Street
Akron, Ohio 44333




board of Directors

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Terry L. Haines
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

David G. Bimey
Former CEQ, Solvay Americq, Inc.

Howard R. Curd
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer,

Uniroyal Engineered Products

Joseph M. Gingo

Executive Vice President Quality Systems
and Chief Technical Officer,

The Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company

Willard R. Holland
Former Chairman, FirstEnergy Corp.

James A. Kgrmon
Former Vice Chairman, RPM, Inc.

James 3. Marlen
Chairman, President and Chief Executive

Officer, Ameron International Corporation

Michael A. McManus, Jr.
President, Chief Executive Officer

ond Director,AMisonix, inc.

Dr. Peggy Gordon Miller
President,
South Dakola State University

James A. Mitarotonda
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer,
Barington Capital Group, LP.

and Management Team

Ernest J. Novak, Jr.
Refired Managing Partner,
Ernst & Young -

Clevetand, Ohio office

John B. Yasinsky
Former Chairman,
OMNOVA Solutions, Inc.

MANAGEMENT TEAM

Terry L. Haines*
President and Chief Executive Officer

Paul DeSantis*
Chief financial Officer and Treasurer

Barry A. Rhodes*
Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer

for North America

Alain C, Adam*

Vice President -

Global Automotive Market
Development

Gory J. Elek*
Vice President -
Controller for North America

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENY

Ronald G. Andres*

Vice President and

General Manager -
Engineered Compounds N.A.

Gustavo Perez
General Manager -
Mexico/Polybaich N.A,

Jeffrey A, Martin
General Manager -
Resin Distribufion N.A,

Dennis C. Smith
General Mcndger -

A. Schulman Invision, Inc.

Jack B. Taylor
General Manager - Europe

Bernard Rzepka
Associate General Manager - Europe

* Executive Officers
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This annual report may contain “forward-looking statements™ under the Private Securities Lifigation Reform
Act of 1995, Forward-locking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause octual results
to differ materially from those expressed in or implied in this report. Further information conceming issues
that coutd materially offect finandial performance related to forward-looking statements can be found in
A, Schulman’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2007, a copy of which is included

in this report, and the Company’s periadic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commissicn.
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